
     Ffôn/Tel: 01656 643643                                                   Facs/Fax: 01656 668126          Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk                                                                                 
     Negeseuon SMS/ SMS Messaging: 07581 157014           Twitter@bridgendCBC              Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun
Text relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate 
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Mercher, 3 Mawrth 2021

Annwyl Cynghorydd, 

CABINET

Cynhelir Cyfarfod  Cabinet o bell trwy Microsoft Teams ar Dydd Mawrth, 9 Mawrth 2021 am 14:30.

AGENDA

1. Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb  
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau.

2. Datganiadau o fuddiant  
Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008. 

3. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion  3 - 12
I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 09/02/2021

4. Rhaglen Effeithlonrwydd Ynni Domestig, Ward Caerau 2012 a 2013 13 - 18

5. Cam 1 Prosiect Rhwydwaith Gwres Tref Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 19 - 40

6. Cyllid Cyrchfan Deniadol Twristiaeth Cornel Clyd 41 - 46

7. Penodi Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol 47 - 50

8. Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion 2022-2023 51 - 102

9. Gwasanaethau Cartrefi Gofal - Cyllid a Threfniadau Cytundebol 103 - 110

10. Cytundeb Partneriaeth Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol 111 - 116

11. Trefniant Partneriaeth ar gyfer Hyfforddiant Dementia 117 - 122

12. Drws Blaen Rhanbarthol ar gyfer Maethu Recriwtio - Gofal Cymdeithasol Plant 123 - 136

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


13. Gofal a Chefnogaeth ym Mharc Sefydliad Troseddwyr Carchar a Phobl Ifanc 
EM 

137 - 142

14. Cyfraddau Annomestig: Rhyddhad Dewisol: Cynllun Lleddfu Ardrethi 
Lletygarwch a Hamdden Gwell 2020-21 

143 - 148

15. Rhaglen Genedlaethol Taliadau Tir Lleol 149 - 152

16. Materion Brys  
I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn 
y dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â pharagraff 2.4 (e) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cabinet yn y Cyfansoddiad.

17. Gwahardd y Cyhoedd  

Nid oedd yr eitem canlynol yn cael eu cyhoeddi, gan fod eu bod yn cynnwys gwybodaeth 
eithriedig fel y'i diffinnir ym Pharagraff 14  a Pharagraff 21 o Ran 5, Atodlen 12A, Deddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972, fel y'i newidiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Cymru) 2007 
(Mynediad at Wybodaeth) (Amrywio).

Os, yn dilyn cymhwyso'r prawf budd y cyhoedd yn y Cabinet yn penderfynu yn unol â'r 
Ddeddf i ystyried yr eitem hyn yn breifat, bydd y cyhoedd yn cael eu gwahardd o'r cyfarfod 
yn ystod ystyriaeth o'r fath.

18. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion wedi’u Eithrio  153 - 154
I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion gwahardd cyfarfod y 09/02/2021

Nodyn: Sylwch: Yn sgil yr angen i gadw pellter cymdeithasol, ni fydd y cyfarfod hwn yn cael ei 
gynnal yn ei leoliad arferol. Yn hytrach, bydd hwn yn gyfarfod rhithwir a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion 
yn mynychu o bell. Bydd y cyfarfod yn cael ei recordio i’w ddarlledu ar wefan y Cyngor cyn gynted 
ag sy'n ymarferol ar ôl y cyfarfod. Os oes gennych unrhyw gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â 
cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643147 / 643148.

Yn ddiffuant
K Watson
Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio

Dosbarthiad:

Cynghowrwyr Cynghorwyr Cynghorwyr
HJ David
CE Smith

HM Williams
D Patel

RE Young
NA Burnett



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

COFNODION CYFARFOD Y CABINET A GYNHALIWYD O BELL TRWY MICROSOFT 
TEAMS, DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021, AM 14:30

Presennol

Y Cynghorydd HJ David – Cadeirydd 

CE Smith HM Williams D Patel RE Young
NA Burnett

Swyddogion:

Claire Marchant Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Lles
Gill Lewis Pennaeth Cyllid a Swyddog 151 Dros Dro
Kelly Watson Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio
Mark Shephard Prif Weithredwr
Deborah Exton Dirprwy Bennaeth Cyllid dros dro
Mark Galvin Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Pwyllgorau
Lindsay Harvey Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd
Nicola Echanis Pennaeth Addysg a Chymorth Cynnar
Michael Pitman Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd – Pwyllgorau
Justin Kingdon Rheolwr Rheoli Asedau a Buddsoddi Strategol
Gaynor Thomas Rheolwr Rhaglen Ysgolion

611. DATGAN BUDDIANT

Dim.

612. STRATEGAETH ARIANNOL TYMOR CANOLIG 2021-22 HYD 2024-25 A'R BROSES 
AR GYFER YMGYNGHORI AR DDRAFFT Y GYLLIDEB

Cyflwynodd Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Corfforaethol adroddiad er mwyn 
cyflwyno sylwadau, canfyddiadau ac argymhellion y Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu 
Corfforaethol (PTChC) ynghylch cynigion Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig y Cyngor 
gerbron y Cabinet. 

Er rhwyddineb, dywedodd fod y PTChC wedi rhannu'r argymhellion i wahanol atodiadau, 
fel a ganlyn:

Roedd canfyddiadau ac argymhellion Panel Ymchwil a Gwerthuso'r Gyllideb (PYGG) 
ynghylch Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig 2021-2022 hyd 2024-2025 wedi'u 
cynnwys yn Atodiad A ac Atodiad B yr adroddiad. 

Roedd y sylwadau a'r argymhellion o gyd-gyfarfod yr holl Bwyllgorau Craffu ar 
Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig 2021-22 hyd 2024-25 yn Atodiad C yr adroddiad.

           Roedd y PTChC wedi derbyn argymhellion a sylwadau PYGG a chyd-gyfarfod yr holl 
Bwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu ynghylch cynigion y SATC, ac felly wedi cytuno i'w 
cyflwyno gerbron y Cabinet. 

Mynegodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd ddiolch i Aelodau'r Pwyllgorau Craffu, gan gynnwys y 
PTChC a PYGG, am eu gwaith caled a'u diwydrwydd dyladwy wrth gyfrannu eu 
sylwadau ar gynigion y SATC i'w hystyried gan y Cabinet. Ychwanegodd y byddai'r 
sylwadau a'r argymhellion a wnaed drwy hyn yn cael eu hystyried yn ofalus ac yn derbyn 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

ymateb gan y Weithrediaeth. Ategwyd hyn gan yr Aelod Cabinet - Llesiant a 
Chenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a'r Aelod Cabinet - Addysg ac Adfywio, yn eu tro. 

Teimlai Cadeirydd y Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Corfforaethol y gallai hefyd fod yn 
adeg dda i ailystyried rôl a chylch gwaith PYGG, er mwyn gweld a ellid cyflwyno unrhyw 
welliannau i'w ddull gweithredu, gan gadw mewn cof fod y panel wedi cael ei gyflwyno 3 
blynedd yn ôl bellach, hy, ychydig ar ôl yr etholiadau llywodraeth leol ar drothwy'r 
weinyddiaeth newydd. 

Teimlai'r Arweinydd y byddai hyn yn fuddiol, yn enwedig ochr yn ochr â'r 
gwahanol ffyrdd yr oedd y Cyngor bellach yn cynnal ei fusnes, hy, drwy gynnal 
cyfarfodydd o bell ac ati. Cyfeiriodd at Argymhelliad 12 yng ngwybodaeth ategol 
yr adroddiad, sef y dylid sefydlu gweithgor i fynd ati'n weithredol i ddynodi 
buddsoddiadau untro cymharol fach ar lwybrau diogel i'r ysgol, a allai gael eu 
gosod yn erbyn costau parhaus trafnidiaeth o'r Cartref i'r Ysgol. Dywedodd yr 
Arweinydd ei fod yn croesawu'r argymhelliad hwn.

Diolchodd hefyd i'r Pwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu a PYGG am eu mewnbwn i 
gynigion y Gyllideb ar gyfer y flwyddyn i ddod.

PENDERFYNWYD:             Cytunodd y Cabinet hwnnw i ystyried argymhellion y 
Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Craffu Corfforaethol, mewn ymateb 
i Strategaeth Ariannol Tymor Canolig 2021-22 hyd 
2024-25 a'r Broses ar gyfer Ymgynghori ar Ddrafft y 
Gyllideb, ac y byddai'r sylwadau ar y rhain yn adroddiad 
y SATC yn cael eu hystyried yng nghyfarfod y Cyngor ar 
y Gyllideb yn ddiweddarach y mis hwn. 

613. POLISI ATAL EFADU TRETHI

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid, adroddiad er mwyn 
cyflwyno'r Polisi Atal Efadu Trethi newydd i'w gymeradwyo gan y Cabinet.

Roedd yr adroddiad yn rhoi rhywfaint o wybodaeth gefndir, ac ar ôl hynny cadarnhawyd 
bod y Cyngor wedi ymrwymo i sefydlu a chynnal trefniadau effeithiol i ganfod achosion o 
lwgrwobrwyo, llygredd ac efadu trethi mewn perthynas â'i wasanaethau Cyngor. Mae'n 
ei gwneud hi'n ofynnol i bob Aelod Etholedig a chyflogai arddangos y safonau uchaf o 
onestrwydd ac uniondeb, gan gynnwys cydymffurfio â'r ddeddfwriaeth berthnasol.

Esboniodd fod gan y Cyngor eisoes bolisïau Atal Twyll a Llwgrwobrwyo, ac Atal 
Gwyngalchu Arian mewn grym i gefnogi trefniadau effeithiol i atal a chanfod achosion o 
lwgrwobrwyo a llygredd. Roedd y rheiny'n cael eu monitro a'u hadolygu gan y Pwyllgor 
Llywodraethu ac Archwilio.

Erbyn hyn, ychwanegodd fod polisi wedi cael ei ddatblygu'n benodol er mwyn ymdrin â'r 
angen i atal efadu trethi, a byddai'r polisi hwn yn cynnig ymagwedd gydlynol a chyson i 
bob cyflogai ac unrhyw un sy'n cyflenwi gwasanaethau i Gyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr, ac ar ei ran. Roedd y Polisi Atal Efadu Trethi wedi'i atodi yn Atodiad A yr 
adroddiad.

Roedd y datganiad polisi hwn yn atodol i Strategaeth Atal Twyll a Llwgrwobrwyo 
ehangach y Cyngor, a nodai'r prif gyfrifoldebau o ran atal twyll, a'r hyn i wneud pe  ceir 
amheuaeth o dwyll neu afreoleidd-dra ariannol, a'r camau a gymerir gan reolwyr o 
ganlyniad i hynny.

Page 4



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

Diolchodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid i'r Rheolwr Cyllid - 
Llywodraethu a'r Trysorlys am ei gwaith caled er mwyn datblygu'r Polisi.

Cymeradwyodd y Dirprwy Arweinydd yr adroddiad a fyddai'n diogelu'r Awdurdod ac yn 
sicrhau bod pawb a ddylai dalu treth yn gwneud hynny go iawn. Gofynnodd a oedd 
darpariaethau'r Polisi'n berthnasol hefyd i aelodau lleol. 

Dywedodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid eu bod yn berthnasol.

Gofynnodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Llesiant a Chenedlaethau'r Dyfodol a fyddai staff yn 
derbyn hyfforddiant ar y Polisi. Mewn ymateb i hyn, dywedodd y Rheolwr Cyllid - 
Llywodraethu a'r Trysorlys y byddai modiwl hyfforddi e-ddysgu yn cael ei roi ar waith ar 
gyfer hyn, fel y gwnaed â'r Polisi Atal Twyll a gyflwynwyd yn flaenorol.
 
Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar yn dymuno 
gwneud pwynt ynghylch Taliadau Uniongyrchol a'r ymgyrch i gwsmeriaid bregus o fewn 
y Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol dderbyn a newid i hyn. Dywedodd ei bod am gael 
sicrwydd y byddai digon o wybodaeth yn cael ei rhannu a hyfforddiant ar gael i'r rhai sy'n 
derbyn Taliadau Uniongyrchol er mwyn sicrhau na fyddai'r math hwnnw o gwsmer, yn 
benodol, yn gweithredu'n groes i'r gyfraith ar ddamwain. Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet - 
Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar fod angen cyfleu'n glir wrth yr 
unigolion hyn beth oedd eu cyfrifoldebau fel cyflogeion, a sicrhau bod ganddynt fynediad 
at yr wybodaeth gywir. 

Cadarnhaodd y Prif Swyddog Dros Dro - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid fod y Cyfarwyddwr 
Corfforaethol - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Llesiant yn ymchwilio i'r trefniadau ar 
gyfer rheoli Taliadau Uniongyrchol a'r cyfrifon ar eu cyfer, er mwyn helpu i atal 
problemau tebyg i'r hyn y cyfeiriwyd ato uchod. 

Daeth yr Arweinydd â'r drafodaeth ar yr adroddiad i ben drwy ddweud fod CaThEM ar 
hyn o bryd yn ymdrin ag 13 achos troseddol corfforaethol byw o dwyll trethi ar hyn o 
bryd, a bod 18 achos arall yn cael eu hadolygu. Roedd angen felly i'r holl gyflogeion yn y 
sefydliad gydnabod pwysigrwydd efadu trethi, hyd yn oed os oeddent yn gwneud hynny 
ar ddamwain yn hytrach nag yn fwriadol. Roedd hi'n ddyletswydd hefyd i'r Awdurdod, 
drwy ei Bolisi a'i weithdrefnau a'i brotocolau cysylltiedig, ymdrechu i sicrhau nad oes 
unrhyw gyflogai'n gweithredu'n groes i ddarpariaethau'r Polisi newydd, lle bynnag y bo 
modd. 

PENDERFYNWYD:                              Bod y Cabinet:-

• Yn cymeradwyo'r Polisi Atal Efadu Trethi a geir yn Atodiad A yr adroddiad;

• Yn nodi'r diwygiadau a gynigir i'r Cylch Gorchwyl a'r Cyfansoddiad a geir yn 
Atodiad B i'w cyflwyno i'w cymeradwyo gan y Cyngor.

614. Y FLAENRAGLEN WAITH

Cyflwynodd y Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, AD a Rheoleiddio adroddiad a 
ofynnai am gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i gynnwys eitemau ynn ei Flaenraglen Waith ar 
gyfer y cyfnod 1 Mawrth 2021 hyd 30 Mehefin 2021.

Yn unol â Chyfansoddiad y Cyngor, caiff y Flaenraglen Waith ei pharatoi gan y Swyddog 
Monitro i gynnwys cyfnod o bedwar mis, ac eithrio pan fydd etholiadau arferol y 

Page 5



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

cynghorwyr yn cael eu cynnal. Bryd hynny bydd y Flaenraglen Waith yn trafod y cyfnod 
hyd at ddyddiad yr etholiadau. 

Esboniodd y bydd y Flaenraglen Waith yn cynnwys eitemau ar ffurf adroddiadau, y 
byddai'r Cabinet, y Pwyllgorau Trosolwg a Chraffu a'r Cyngor llawn yn debygol o'u 
hystyried.

Ynghlwm wrth yr adroddiad yr oedd Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet (Atodiad 1), 
Blaenraglen Waith y Cyngor (Atodiad 2) a'r Flaenraglen Waith Trosolwg a Chraffu 
(Atodiad 3) i'w nodi. 

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Llesiant a Chenedlaethau'r Dyfodol ei bod hi'n bwysig i'r 
cyhoedd weld eitemau amserol a oedd ar ddod wedi'u clustnodi ar gyfer agendâu'r 
Cabinet, y Cyngor a Chraffu, er tryloywder ac er mwyn helpu i alluogi sianelau 
ymgysylltu ag etholwyr y Fwrdeistref Sirol. Pwrpas hyn oedd rhannu manylion 
adroddiadau a oedd ar ddod i'w trafod gan Aelodau/Swyddogion ar feysydd gwasanaeth 
allweddol y Cyngor ayyb y gallai fod ganddynt ddiddordeb ynddynt, ac er mwyn ceisio 
cynyddu eu diddordeb ym mhrosesau penderfynu'r awdurdod lleol, y mae rhai ohonynt 
yn effeithio ar y Fwrdeistref Sirol gyfan. 

PENDERFYNWYD:                          Bod y Cabinet:

 Yn cymeradwyo Blaenraglen Waith y Cabinet ar gyfer y cyfnod 1 Mawrth 
2021 hyd 30 Mehefin 2021 yn Atodiad 1 yr adroddiad;

 Yn nodi Blaenraglenni Gwaith y Cyngor a Chraffu ar gyfer yr un cyfnod â'r 
uchod, y naill yn Atodiad 2 a'r llall yn Atodiad 3 yr adroddiad. 

615. DYFARNU CYLLID MEWN PERTHYNAS Â THRAWSNEWID TREFI: GRANT 
SEILWAITH GWYRDD A BIOAMRYWIAETH: PENTREF LLES SUNNYSIDE 2020-2021

Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau adroddiad er mwyn gofyn am 
gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i dderbyn cynnig cyllid diwygiedig gan Lywodraeth Cymru ac 
ymrwymo i gytundeb a phridiant tir cysylltiedig â Linc Cymru (Linc) i gefnogi darparu 
elfennau Trawsnewid Trefi - Seilwaith Gwyrdd a Bioamrywiaeth ym Mhentref Lles 
Sunnyside. 

Esboniodd fod y grant Trawsnewid Trefi - Seilwaith Gwyrdd a Bioamrywiaeth yn rhan o 
raglen Trawsnewid Trefi (TT) Llywodraeth Cymru. Bwriedir i'r rhaglen TT adeiladu ar 
gyflawniadau rhaglen Lleoedd Llewyrchus Llawn Addewid 2014-2017, ond ei fod yn 
mabwysiadu ymagwedd ehangach at adfywio drwy gynnwys uchelgeisiau Deddf Llesiant 
Cenedlaethau'r Dyfodol (Cymru) 2015, a'r blaenoriaethau a nodwyd mewn Cynlluniau 
Llesiant Lleol a chynlluniau eraill lleol a rhanbarthol, er mwyn gwella adfywio 
economaidd a llesiant cymunedol. 

Bwriadwyd i'r rhaglen TT barhau hyd fis Mawrth 2022, a byddai'n ystyried buddsoddi 
mewn prosiectau a all greu canlyniadau realistig o safbwynt economaidd a chymunedol. 
Bydd Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr (CBSPO) yn ceisio sicrhau'r 
canlyniadau hyn dros flynyddoedd ariannol 2020-2021 a 2021-2022. Roedd yn rhaid i 
awdurdodau lleol wneud ceisiadau am gyllid iddynt hwy eu hunain neu ar ran sefydliad 
cyhoeddus, preifat neu drydydd sector arall.

Dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau fod Linc Cymru wedi cysylltu â 
CBSPO i ofyn am gael cyflwyno cais i Lywodraeth Cymru am gyllid Seilwaith Gwyrdd i 
gefnogi'r elfennau seilwaith gwyrdd yn natblygiad Pentref Lles Sunnyside. 

Page 6



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

Prosiect arfaethedig sy'n cyfuno tai cymdeithasol, iechyd a mannau agored gwyrdd yw 
Pentref Llesiant Sunnyside. Mae'r prosiect yn cael ei ddatblygu gan Linc Cymru a 
bwriedir ei leoli wrth ymyl canol tref Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Mae'r datblygiad ehangach yn 
cynnwys Cyfleuster Gofal Iechyd newydd a 59 o dai fforddiadwy newydd. Mae seilwaith 
gwyrdd yn rhan annatod o gysyniad y Pentref Llesiant, gyda'r nodweddion allweddol yn 
cynnwys ardal dyfu gymunol, ardal chwarae naturiol, plannu coed peirianegol, gwarchod 
a meithrin y coedlun presennol. 

Roedd £315,268 wedi'i gymeradwyo ar gyfer elfennau seilwaith gwyrdd datblygiad 
Sunnyside, ac un o'r amodau yn llythyr dyfarnu cyllid Llywodraeth Cymru oedd bod yn 
rhaid i CBSPO sefydlu telerau ac amodau priodol ar gyfer y grant yn unol â'u hamodau 
cyllid wrth drosglwyddo cyllid y Seilwaith Gwyrdd i unrhyw dderbynnydd trydydd parti.   

Daeth y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau a'i hadroddiad i ben drwy hysbysu y 
byddai Linc Cymru fel datblygwyr datblygiad Sunnyside yn gweithredu fel derbynwyr 
trydydd parti'r cyllid, a chan hynny, ei bod hi'n ofynnol i CBSPO ymrwymo i gytundeb 
cyllido â Linc Cymru.

Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet - Cymunedau yn croesawu'r adroddiad.

Dywedodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Addysg ac Adfywio fod elfen seilwaith gwyrdd y cynigion 
yn ddymunol iawn, ac ystyriodd a ellid defnyddio mwy o gyllid o'r math hwn i ddarparu 
gwaith tebyg ar y cyd â'r hyn sydd wedi'i gynllunio ar Bromenâd y Dwyrain, Porthcawl, 
yn rhan o waith Tir y Cyhoedd yn y dref. Pe bai hyn yn bosibl, teimlai hefyd y byddai'n 
syniad da cynnwys pobl leol yn y gwaith hwnnw.

Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar yn ystyried 
Pentref Llesiant Sunnyside fel cyfle cyffrous, gan fod angen dybryd am y mannau glas 
ychwanegol y byddai'r datblygiad yn eu creu ger canol y dref. Teimlai fod y prosiect yn 
creu potensial enfawr am weithgarwch presgripsiynau cymdeithasol i unigolion, a hefyd 
yn cyfrannu at ddatgarboneiddio ardal a oedd wedi bod yn broblematig iawn yn hynny o 
beth.

Cytunodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Llesiant a Chenedlaethau'r Dyfodol y byddai'r prosiect o 
gymorth i liniaru problemau rheoli ansawdd yr aer am ei fod yn agos at Stryd y Parc, lle 
cafwyd problemau'n gysylltiedig ag allyriadau o gerbydau yn yr ychydig flynyddoedd 
diwethaf. Roedd hi hefyd yn falch o weld bod tai cymdeithasol wedi'u cynnwys fel elfen 
yn y cynigion datblygu. Gofynnodd a fyddai datblygiad Sunnyside yn cael ei gysylltu â 
themâu Uwchgynllun Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. Mewn ymateb i hynny dywedodd y 
Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol y byddai hynny'n digwydd a rhoddodd rai enghreifftiau o'r 
modd y byddai'r naill a'r llall yn cydblethu â'i gilydd.

Roedd cynigion y seilwaith gwyrdd ar safle Sunnyside hefyd yn galondid i'r Arweinydd, 
ac y byddai modd drwy'r bartneriaeth rhwng Cyngor Tref Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr ac CBSPO 
wrth ailddatblygu Tŷ Ardd, i'r bobl a fyddai'n preswylio yno fanteisio ar y cynigion, a 
fyddai o fudd iddynt hwy a'u llesiant. 

PENDERFYNWYD:                               Bod y Cabinet: 

 (1) Yn derbyn y llythyr cyllid diwygiedig dyddiedig 13 Ionawr 2021 mewn perthynas 
â Trawsnewid Trefi: Grant Seilwaith Gwyrdd a Bioamrywiaeth gan LlC ar gyfer 
2020-21.

(2) Yn rhoi awdurdod dirprwyol i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau, mewn 
ymgynghoriad â'r Swyddog Adran 151 a Phennaeth y Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol 

Page 7



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

a Rheoleiddio, negodi ac ymrwymo i gytundeb cyllido er mwyn darparu'r uchod, 
ac ymrwymo i bridiant cyfreithiol â Linc Cymru ar y datblygiad. 

616. GRANT ANGHENION DYSGU YCHWANEGOL

Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth adroddiad er mwyn 
gofyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cabinet i ymrwymo i gytundeb â Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Rhondda Cynon Taf (CBSRhCT), Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd, Cyngor Bwrdeistref 
Sirol Merthyr Tudful a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Bro Morgannwg ar gyfer Grant 
Trawsnewid Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 2020-21.

Esboniodd mai cynllun gan Lywodraeth Cymru a ariennir drwy grant i gefnogi 
darpariaeth y rhaglen trawsnewid anghenion dysgu ychwanegol yw Grant Trawsnewid 
Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 2020-21 (Grant ADY). Roedd hyn yn cynnwys paratoi am 
Ddeddf Tribiwnlys Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol ac Addysg (Cymru) 2018 (Deddf 
TADYA) a rheoli gweithrediad y Ddeddf honno. 

Roedd CBSRhCT, gan weithredu fel yr awdurdod lleol arweiniol, wedi cyflwyno cais i 
Lywodraeth Cymru am y Grant ADY ar ran Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr 
(CBSPO), Cyngor Dinas a Sir Caerdydd, Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful a 
Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Bro Morgannwg a darparwyr trydydd parti (sydd o'r sector 
addysg bellach ac yn fyrddau iechyd lleol yn rhanbarthau'r cynghorau).

Aeth y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd yn ei flaen i 
ddweud bod y Cabinet, ym mis Rhagfyr 2019, wedi cymeradwyo ymrwymo i gytundeb 
tebyg, ar delerau tebyg, ar gyfer Grant Trawsnewid Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 
2019-2020.

Bu'r cais am y Grant ADY yn llwyddiannus, a dyfarnwyd hyd at £934,562 o gyllid i 
CBSRhCT (fel awdurdod lleol arweiniol), a gaiff ei ddyrannu i bob cyngor yn unol â'r 
Cynllun Gweithredu ADY. 

Fel yr awdurdod lleol arweiniol, mae'n ofynnol i CBSRhCT dderbyn telerau ac amodau'r 
Grant ADY, fel y'u nodir yn y llythyr cynnig gan Lywodraeth Cymru. Er mwyn cyflawni'r 
prosiect a sicrhau cydymffurfiaeth a'r telerau a'r amodau yn llythyr y cynnig, mae 
CBSRhCT yn gofyn i'r Cyngor, ynghyd â'r 3 awdurdod lleol arall a restrir ym mharagraff 
3.2 yr adroddiad, ymrwymo i gytundeb yn gysylltiedig â'r Grant ADY. Bydd y cytundeb yn 
nodi rolau a chyfrifoldebau'r cynghorau, a'r dull o ddyrannu'r cyllid.

O ran goblygiadau ariannol yr adroddiad, cyfanswm gwerth y grant ar gyfer 2020-21 
oedd £934,562. Fodd bynnag, £809,562 yw'r swm sydd ar gael i awdurdodau lleol gan 
fod £125,000 yn cael ei gadw'n ôl i gyflogi Arweinydd Trawsnewid ADY rhanbarthol a 
chostau cysylltiedig, a chymorth gweinyddol ac ariannol. Dyraniad y grant sydd i'w wario 
gan Awdurdodau Lleol yw £248,487, ac o'r swm hwnnw mae CBSPO yn disgwyl derbyn 
£60,885.  Gorffennodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd 
drwy ddweud bod gweddill y grant yn cael ei ddyrannu i Ysgolion, Addysg Bellach ac 
Iechyd.

Roedd yr Aelod Cabinet - Addysg ac Adfywio yn croesawu argymhellion yr adroddiad a 
fyddai o fudd i'r holl awdurdodau lleol a oedd yn rhan o Gonsortiwm Canolbarth y De.

Ychwanegodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar y 
byddai'r cyllid grant o fudd i'n plant ag ADY yr oedd arnynt angen mwy o fuddsoddiad i 
dderbyn addysg gydradd â phobl ifanc eraill.

Page 8



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

Roedd yr Arweinydd yn falch o nodi bod LlC wedi gwrando ac yn parhau i ymgysylltu â'r 
sector, er bod angen buddsoddiad ar gyfer y tymor byr, y tymor canolig a'r tymor hwy i 
helpu gyda'r cynigion trawsnewid, a'r trefniadau ar gyfer rheoli'r rheiny. Fodd bynnag, 
gwerthfawrogai'r ffaith na fyddai'r costau wedi'u gwireddu'n llawn nes bo'r prosiect, nid 
yn unig yn weithredol, ond wedi esblygu. 

Teimlai fod darpariaethau'r adroddiad hefyd yn enghraifft dda o waith partneriaeth, 
gyda'r awdurdodau lleol cyfagos yn ymwneud â'r Cytundeb.

PENDERFYNWYD:                              Bod y Cabinet:-

 Yn cymeradwyo y dylai'r cyngor ymrwymo i'r cytundeb â CBSRhCT, Cyngor 
Dinas a Sir , Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Merthyr Tudful a Chyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol 
Bro Morgannwg ynghylch y Grant Trawsnewid Anghenion Dysgu Ychwanegol 
2020-2021; a 

 Yn rhoi awdurdod dirprwyol i'r Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i 
Deuluoedd negodi a chytuno ar delerau terfynol y cytundeb â'r Cynghorau eraill 
ac ymrwymo i'r cytundeb hwnnw a threfnu i'w weithredu, ar yr amod bod yr 
awdurdod dirprwyol hwnnw'n cael ei arfer mewn ymgynghoriad â'r Swyddog 
Adran 151 a'r Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, AD a Rheoleiddio. 

617. MODERNEIDDIO YSGOLION - GOGLEDD DDWYRAIN PEN-Y-BONT AR OGWR - 
CANLYNIAD YR ASTUDIAETH DDICHONOLDEB YM MRYN BRACLA

Cyflwynodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd  adroddiad 
er mwyn:

• hysbysu'r Cabinet ynghylch canlyniad yr astudiaeth ddichonoldeb o'r bwriad i 
adleoli Ysgol Gymraeg (YG) Bro Ogwr i safle Bryn Bracla, ac ehangu'r ysgol 
honno; 

• gofyn am gymeradwyaeth i hepgor safle Bryn Bracla o unrhyw ystyriaethau 
pellach ynghylch cynnig Band B Ysgol Bro Ogwr; a

• gofyn am gymeradwyaeth i archwilio opsiynau amgen ar gyfer yr ysgol newydd.

Esboniodd fod Rhaglen Amlinellol Strategol (RhAS) Band B wedi'i chyflwyno i 
Lywodraeth Cymru (LlC) ym mis Gorffennaf 2017. Ym mis Hydref 2017, cyflwynwyd 
adroddiad i'r Cabinet yn manylu ar ganlyniad adolygiad Band B, a rhoddodd y Cabinet 
gymeradwyaeth i derfynu'r cynlluniau Band B gwreiddiol a nodwyd yn adroddiad 
Tachwedd 2010 i'r Cabinet, a chymeradwyo'r Rhaglen Amlinellol Strategol (RhAS) a'r 
prosiectau a restrwyd ym mharagraff 3.1 yr adroddiad.

Ar 6 Rhagfyr 2017, rhoddodd Adran Addysg LlC 'gymeradwyaeth mewn egwyddor' ar 
gyfer ail don fuddsoddi Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, a oedd yn costio cyfanswm o £68.2m yn ôl 
yr amcangyfrif ar y pryd. Roedd costau pellach i'w pennu, a byddai'r rheiny'n gysylltiedig 
â chapasiti seilwaith ychwanegol.

Yn ddiweddarach, ym mis Ionawr 2020, cyflwynwyd canlyniad yr arfarniad cynhwysfawr 
o opsiynau yn gysylltiedig â phob un o'r prosiectau cymeradwy. 

Ychwanegodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd fod 
cymeradwyaeth y Cabinet wedi'i sicrhau i fwrw ymlaen ag astudiaeth ddichonoldeb o 
fryn Bracla yn gysylltiedig â'r opsiwn addysg a ffafrir ar gyfer cynllun Gogledd-ddwyrain 
Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr, hy YG Bro Ogwr â mynediad 2.5 dosbarth ar safle Bryn Bracla.

Page 9



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

Wrth fwrw ymlaen â'r astudiaeth ddichonoldeb, dywedodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - 
Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd fod tîm y prosiect wedi comisiynu'r holl arolygon 
perthnasol, sydd wedi cael eu dadansoddi gan y disgyblaethau unigol. Mae pob 
disgyblaeth wedi cyfrannu at yr 'Adroddiad Dichonoldeb - Bryn Bracla' terfynol.

Roedd adrannau canlynol yr adroddiad yn cynnwys crynodeb o brif agweddau'r 
canfyddiadau o'r astudiaeth ddichonoldeb honno (paragraffau 4.2 - 4.12, gan gynnwys y 
paragraffau hynny) 

Gorffennodd y Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd drwy 
ddweud, ac ystyried yr holl ffactorau hyn, mai argymhelliad y tîm prosiect oedd na ddylid 
bwrw ymlaen i ddatblygu'r ysgol newydd ar safle Bryn Bracla. Ychwanegodd y dylid felly 
archwilio opsiynau eraill am safleoedd.

Mynegodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Addysg ac Adfywio ddiolch i'r Swyddogion am yr 
adroddiad. Mynegodd ddiolch hefyd i Aelod Llafur Ward Bracla a chynrychiolwyr grŵp 
'Save Our Fields' Bracla am drafod cynigion a chanlyniadau'r Astudiaeth Ddichonoldeb 
mewn modd cadarnhaol, ac am eu hystyriaeth a'u hymgysylltiad cyffredinol â'r Cabinet 
ynghylch lleoli YG arfaethedig Bro Ogwr. Mynegodd ddiolch hefyd i Carwyn Jones AC 
am gyfrannu at archwilio'r posibiliadau am gyllid ar gyfer yr ysgol (cyfrwng Cymraeg a 
Saesneg) ar safle(oedd) eraill addas ger Bracla, lle byddai'r ysgolion yn cael eu 
hailddatblygu. Teimlai fod angen ymgysylltu â Chyngor Cymuned Bracla, gyda golwg ar 
warchod y man glas a gynigiwyd yn wreiddiol i leoli'r ysgol(ion) rhag datblygwyr, o bosib 
drwy fynd ar drywydd cytundeb Trosglwyddo Ased Cymunedol ryw bryd yn y dyfodol.

Adleisiodd yr Arweinydd fod yr ymarfer ymgysylltu a gynhaliwyd rhwng yr Awdurdod a 
grŵp 'Save Our Fields' Bracla yn gysylltiedig â'r Astudiaeth Ddichonoldeb wedi bod yn 
gadarnhaol, a bod hynny wedi bod yn amhrisiadwy. Roedd yn rhaid i'r Cyngor ofalu am 
ei fannau gwyrdd/agored, gan ddatblygu capasiti ar yr un pryd ar gyfer cyfleoedd addysg 
cyfrwng Cymraeg yn ardal Gogledd-ddwyreiniol Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr.  

Ychwanegodd yr Aelod Cabinet - Gwasanaethau Cymdeithasol a Chymorth Cynnar ei 
bod yn falch o weld Bryn Bracla yn cael ei gadw fel ardal o dir glas agored, yn enwedig 
gan nad oedd llawer o ardaloedd felly yn ardal canol tref gyfagos Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr. 

PENDERFYNWYD:                           Bod y Cabinet:

 Nodwyd canlyniad yr astudiaeth ddichonoldeb ar-safle yn gysylltiedig â'r 
bwriad i adleoli Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Ogwr i safle Bryn Bracla, ac ehangu'r 
ysgol honno;

 Yn cymeradwyo hepgor safle Bryn Bracla o unrhyw ystyriaethau pellach 
yn gysylltiedig ag YG Bro Ogwr; ac 

 Yn cymeradwyo i archwilio opsiynau amgen ar gyfer yr ysgol newydd.

618. EITEMAU BRYS

Dim.

619. GWAHARDD Y CYHOEDD

PENDERFYNWYD:  O dan Adran 100A (4) o Ddeddf Llywodraeth Leol 1972, fel y'i 
diwygiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at 
Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007, y dylid gwahardd y 
cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod wrth ystyried yr eitem ganlynol gan ei bod 

Page 10



CABINET - DYDD MAWRTH, 9 CHWEFROR 2021

yn cynnwys gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y'i diffinnir ym Mharagraff 14 
o Ran 4 a/neu Baragraff 21 o Ran 5 o Atodlen 12A o'r Ddeddf.

Ar ôl cymhwyso prawf budd y cyhoedd, penderfynwyd rhoi 
ystyriaeth breifat i'r eitem ganlynol, yn unol â'r Ddeddf y cyfeirir ati 
uchod, gan wahardd y cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod, oherwydd yn yr holl 
amgylchiadau a oedd yn gysylltiedig â'r eitem, ystyriwyd bod budd 
y cyhoedd o gynnal yr esemptiad yn gwrthbwyso budd y cyhoedd 
o ddatgelu'r wybodaeth. 

620. MODERNEIDDIO YSGOLION - GOGLEDD DDWYRAIN PEN-Y-BONT AR OGWR

Daeth y cyfarfod i ben am 16:15

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

 REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

DOMESTIC ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME, CAERAU WARD 2012 AND 2013

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the engagement that has taken 
place with relevant stakeholders involved in external wall insulation / internal wall 
insulation work, as part of domestic energy efficiency programmes in Caerau in 2012 
and 2013.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 A report to Cabinet in November 2020 set out the detail of historical domestic energy 
efficiency programmes that were promoted in the Caerau ward of the county borough 
in 2012 and 2013.  Specifically, Cabinet were advised that following an independent 
survey commissioned by the Council, and carried out by NuVision Energy (Wales) 
Ltd, that all of the 32 properties in Caerau ward that were surveyed by Nuvision, had 
some evidence of defective work, some of it significant.  In the main this related to 
homes that had external (EWI) or internal (IWI) insulation work carried out.  In view 
of that, the report concluded that it was fair to assume that poor workmanship and 

Page 13

Agenda Item 4



damage would also be found in those properties where similar work had been carried 
out but had not been part of the survey. 

3.2 However, the Cabinet report also made clear that the funding mechanisms and 
implementation of domestic energy efficiency programmes in Caerau in 2012 and 
2013 were complex and that the Council only had  involvement in administering the 
funding for a relatively small percentage of the total number of homes where work 
was implemented.  There was evidence of 104 properties having external or internal 
wall insulation in Caerau during that period.  Only 25 of those properties had the work 
paid for by funding through the Arbed scheme administered by the Council.  For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Council had no involvement at all in the work on the other 79 
properties where EWI and/or IWI was carried out.   

3.3 In view of this, Cabinet approved a recommendation to delegate authority to the Chief 
Executive to engage with other relevant stakeholders involved in the wider 
programme in Caerau and to explore options, with a view to bringing a further report 
to Cabinet for consideration. 

3.4 In particular, Cabinet were keen that ideally an holistic solution would be developed 
for all properties where poor work had been carried out. This was deemed important, 
as the same contractor and sub contractors carried out the work regardless of where 
the funding for the work was administered from.  Some  funds were administered 
through the Council as part of the Welsh Government funded Arbed scheme; other 
work was promoted and carried out independently by the contractor, Green 
Renewable Wales Ltd and sub contractors, and paid for by the energy companies as 
part of the Community Energy Saving Programme (CESP) and Carbon Emission 
Reduction Target (CERT) national schemes.  These schemes were established by 
the UK Government, which required the main energy companies to pay for ‘carbon 
savings’ in areas of the country identified as the most at risk of fuel poverty. 

3.5 Cabinet were informed that, based on the evidence of the NuVision survey,  often the 
householders were unaware of how and by which scheme their work had been 
funded. This is further evidenced by the fact that since the report to Cabinet in 
November 2020 the vast majority of correspondence to the Council with regard to this 
matter  has come from householders where the work on their homes was not carried 
out using funding administered by the Council.  In addition, Cabinet were also  
informed in the November Cabinet report that all of the contractors and sub 
contractors that had carried out the work had now gone out of business and that 
seemingly there was no valid warranty or insurance in place for any of the work.  
Therefore, whereas ordinarily the householders would have been able to approach 
the contractor to repair and put right any poor workmanship, that was not an option 
now open to them.  This matter is however being explored further as while there does 
not seem to be any evidence of any insurance on the Arbed funded schemes 
administered by the Council, more recenty some evidence has emerged of 
certificates issued to homes where the work was funded through the CERT and CESP 
schemes. It is not clear however whether they are still valid and would offer any 
recourse at this stage. 

3.6 It is clear that the Council had no involvement in any of the work on the majority of 
homes, so if the Council chose to approve remedial measures for only the homes 
where the Council had administered the Arbed funding, other homes very close by 
and potentially even next door, would not fall within the scope of the remedial 

Page 14



measures as they were not funded via the Council administered fund.  It was therefore 
deemed appropriate to engage with the Welsh Government, UK Government, the 
relevant Energy Companies (N Power, Scottish Power and EDF Energy) and OFGEM 
the energy regulator, as relevant stakeholders, with the aim of developing a solution 
for all home owners affected. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 Following the Cabinet report in November 2020 letters were sent to energy 
companies where, based on evidence from its investigations,  the  Council was aware 
they had been involved in CERT and CESP funded work in Caerau.  A response has 
now been received from each of the companies.  In view of the historical nature of 
the schemes a variable amount of detail and knowledge of the specific schemes in 
Caerau seems to exist within each company.  However,  the responses received from 
all of the companies consistently advised that they had no direct involvement in 
promoting or procuring work in Caerau and that the nature of the UK Government 
sponsored schemes at the time (CESP and CERT) required them to ‘buy back’ 
carbon savings by paying for work on energy efficiency schemes in some of the 
poorest areas of the country, where the potential for fuel poverty was at its most 
acute.  As such they are all clear that they believe they have no liability for any poor 
workmanship. It has also been confirmed that these schemes were concluded and 
signed off many years ago by UK Government and the regulator. 

4.2   In addition to the above engagement, two meetings have been held with senior Welsh 
Government officials to seek to secure their support for a solution that would address 
all of the EWI / IWI issues in homes in Caerau as a result of the various energy 
efficiency schemes.  Welsh Government’s position is that the Arbed scheme in 
Caerau was  administered by the local authority and it was the local authority who 
commissioned the contractor to carry out the work. 

4.3     The Council has confirmed to Welsh Government officials that only a small 
percentage of homes in Caerau  had EWI / IWI  work funded through the Council 
administered scheme.  The majority of the affected properties had the work carried 
out by the same contractor under  the UK Government’s CERT and CESP schemes.   
It was therefore suggested that a further meeting should be arranged together with 
OFGEM the energy regulator to explore whether they may have the means to 
intervene in this matter. 

4.4    That further meeting between officials representing the Council, Welsh Government 
and OFGEM has also now taken place.  The key points that emerged were; the CESP 
and CERT schemes were closed and signed off many years ago and so it would be 
difficult to now pursue the energy companies for any redress, particulary as OFGEM 
confirmed the indirect role they had played in the work.  Subsequent UK Government 
schemes had adopted the learning from these early schemes and now far greater 
checks and balances are in place to ensure the quality of work and relevant 
insurances were in place.  OFGEM were the administrator, but not the regulator of 
the CESP and CERT schemes and therefore believed they had no power of further 
intervention with regard to this matter.  There was a possibility, to be explored further, 
that current UK Government energy schemes such as ‘Eco’ could be bid for, but could 
only be used to implement new energy efficiency measures and not to put right 
previous poor workmanship. 

Page 15



4.5   In view of the above,  a number of actions were agreed; firstly for Welsh Government 
to approach the UK Government so that there was  full understanding of the current 
issues, in particular with regard to historical CERT and CESP schemes, and to 
request their intervention to address the issues. Secondly, Welsh Government 
officials would formally raise the matter with Welsh Government Ministers by means 
of policy advice to determine the appetite of the Welsh Government to intervene, 
particularly with regard to those homes funded through the Arbed scheme.  Finally 
for OFGEM to explore more fully the potential for current schemes such as ‘ECO’ to 
be focused on offering energy efficiency measures in areas such as Caerau.

4.6  In conclusion, there is clearly more work to carry out before a final position and 
options can be presented to Cabinet with regard to this matter.  While all 
organisations have expressed their sympathy and concern for those households 
affected, the nature of the various schemes and funding methods by which the EWI 
and IWI work in Caerau was carried out means it is inevitably proving difficult and 
complex to establish an agreed and comprehensive way forward. 

4.7  While it is acknowledged that the ongoing delays in resolving this matter will be both 
frustrating and potentially distressing to those affected homeowners in Caerau, the 
Council are continuing to work towards an holistic solution for all properties, 
regardless of how their work was funded.  With continued representations to both UK 
Government and Welsh Government it is hoped that a further report can be presented 
to Cabinet with the goal of an agreed comprehensive solution.  However, if that fails 
to materialise the Council will consider available options specifically for the 25 
properties where the Council were involved in administering the funding.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the policy framework and procedure rules.  The current 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and procurement processes, as they relate to 
external funding, have been considered by internal audit and their findings have been 
reported to the Governance and Audit Committee in January 2021. 

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 As reported to Cabinet in November 2020, an initial Equality Impact Assessment has 
been carried out.  The purpose of the Equality Impact Assessment is to ensure that 
the Council has understood the potential impacts of the proposal in terms of equality, 
so that it can ensure that it is making proportionate and rational decisions having due 
regard to its public sector equality duty. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people.  The Council ‘must act 
in a manner which seeks to ensure that the needs of the present are met without 
compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’.  Accordingly, 

Page 16



before making any decision, Cabinet must take account of the following five ways of 
working:

- Involvement
- Long Term
- Prevention
- Integration
- Collaboration

Should Cabinet approve the recommendations in this report, the five ways of working 
will continue to be taken into consideration when the Chief Executive engages with 
relevant stakeholders and further explores available options.  Cabinet will have 
further opportunity to consider their duties under the Act, when they receive further 
reports.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications at this stage but, following further engagement 
with the relevant stakeholders involved in the wider EWI and IWI domestic energy 
efficiency schemes and exploration of available options, the financial implications of 
each to the Council will need to be considered further and additional reports 
presented to Cabinet and / or Council as necessary. 

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 Cabinet is recommended:
i) To note the engagement that has taken place with Welsh Government, OFGEM 

and the energy suppliers since the previous Cabinet report in November 2020.
  ii)   To approve further ongoing liaison with relevant stakeholders involved in the wider     

external wall insulation/ internal wall insulation works in Caerau.
iii)  To note that a further report will be presented to Cabinet outlining the outcome of 

the continued engagement and outlining any solutions that have been agreed. 

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive
March 2021

Contact officer: Mark Shephard
Chief Executive

Telephone: (01656) 643380

Email: mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents: Report to Cabinet 17 November 2020, Arbed Programme in 
Caerau

Page 17

mailto:mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



53587086v4

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9th MARCH 2021

JOINT REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES AND INTERIM 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE

BRIDGEND TOWN HEAT NETWORK PROJECT PHASE 1

1 Purpose of report

1.1 The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is being created with the primary purpose 
of delivering the decarbonisation of Bridgend and contributing to the creation of a Net 
Zero Bridgend County Borough by 2030, as mandated by Welsh Government.  The 
purpose of this report is: 

 to seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council seeking approval 
to include a capital budget of £3.4m in the capital programme for the Bridgend 
Town Heat Network Project (Phase 1), 

 to establish a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) for the development of the Bridgend 
Town Heat Network Project based on recommendations within the report on the 
form and structure of the SPV and how it will be governed and managed,

 to seek Council approval to provide a loan of £1.821m to the Special Purpose 
Vehicle to enable the project to progress.  The £1.821m forms part of the £3.4m 
capital budget for the project, with the remaining balance of the funding being 
provided by a Heat Network Investment Programme (HNIP) grant (£1m), BCBC 
contribution from its Capital Programme (£0.5m), connection charges and share 
capital (£0.068m) .

1.2 The delivery of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is ultimately predicated on 
the capital cost for the project being affordable.  This will be determined by the 
outcome of the current procurement exercise for a contractor to construct the 
scheme.

2 Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, 
and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions of all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

3 Background

3.1 The Bridgend Town Heat Network project is being taken forward to contribute to the 
Council's decarbonisation targets and assist in the creation of a Net Zero Bridgend.  
A capital grant application was made to UK Government via its Heat Network 
Investment Programme (HNIP) in April 2019. This was approved in December 2019 
for: (i) £1,000,000 capital investment towards the construction of the heat network; 
and (ii) £241,000 revenue funding for pre-construction activities.

3.2 The HNIP guidance states that “local authority controlled" projects with a capital 
expenditure (capex) greater than £2.4m, must be delivered through a separate 
vehicle.  Therefore, to access the HNIP capital funding, an SPV must be set up by 
the Council to deliver the project.  The project is to be 100% owned by the Council.  

4 Current situation/proposal

4.1 To establish an SPV each of the following factors must be considered:
 The benefits and risks of establishing an SPV, notwithstanding the HNIP 

requirement.
 The form of entity to be established.
 The constitution of the SPV.
 The practical arrangements for governance, management and administration 

of the SPV.
 The contracts required between the Council and the SPV.

SPV Name

4.2 It is proposed that the SPV be called Bridgend Heat & Power Ltd.

Power to establish an SPV

4.3 The Council has the power to generate, buy and sell heat per s11 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.  It also includes express powers 
to lay pipes and carry out associated works for the purpose of conveying the heat.  
The Council can then rely upon the supplementary / ancillary power in s111 of the 
Local Government Act 1972 which gives a local authority power to do anything which 
is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or incidental to, the discharge of any of its 
functions.  This is relevant only for the means by which the Council may adopt to take 
forward the scheme (such as the establishment of, or participation in, a company).  
In addition, councils in Wales have the power to establish Local Authority Trading 
Companies under s95 of the Local Government Act 2003 by virtue of the Local 
Government (Best Value Authorities) (Power to Trade) (Wales) Order 2006.  It is a 
general power subject to meeting the conditions of the Order around preparation of 
an appropriate business case for the trading activity.  However, for the purposes of 
establishing the SPV, the power in s111 of the Local Government Act 1972 is 
sufficient.  

Page 20



The rationale for establishing an SPV

4.4 The use of an SPV is often a matter of choice for a project after considering funding, 
project risk, management and governance.   The SPV model has also been utilised 
by other councils to deliver similar projects with successful outcomes.

4.5 This project requires an SPV to comply with HNIP requirements.  Despite the SPV 
not being a matter of choice, as part of the decision making process, it is a matter of 
good governance to document the benefits and risks associated with an SPV.  

4.6 Benefits of an SPV:

4.6.1 An SPV can procure and retain the necessary skills to deliver this type of 
specialist project which may not be available within the Council.

4.6.2 Establishing an SPV can enable project benefits to be retained in the SPV 
to further the wider strategic objectives to be delivered from the project in 
the future and facilitate the primary aim of the SPV which is to assist in the 
delivery of decarbonisation and a Net Zero Bridgend by 2030.

4.6.3 An SPV is an independent company, separate from the Council and so it 
can be independent i.e. it can make the best decisions in the interests of 
the project without having to manage competing Council constraints. The 
Council can get on with the business of the Council, and the SPV can get 
on with running the project.  On some projects this is a driver for choosing 
to establish an SPV.  This of course must be subject to robust governance.

4.6.4 Project management, operations, maintenance functions and other risks 
can ultimately be transferred out of the public sector, while the public sector 
retains a high degree of influence / direction.

4.6.5 Using an SPV helps to package the project more easily to facilitate a 
Council exit in future.

4.6.6 Using an SPV helps to package the project more easily to facilitate multiple 
investors.  This will be relevant if private sector investment is required for 
future expansion of the network.

4.7 Risks and Barriers:

4.7.1 There is a cost to set up an SPV and ongoing costs associated with 
administering and managing the vehicle for example, audit, accounts, 
governance.  An allowance for these costs has been included in the 
financial model for this project.  It is accepted that these costs will need to 
be reviewed, and possibly amended, once the SPV is operational and the 
real costs are known and understood.  

4.7.2 The Council does not have experience of setting up and running a company 
and so resource will have to be dedicated to establishing the necessary 
governance, policies and procedures to make the company work.  

Page 21



4.7.3 Costs of the SPV will be funded by Council contributions and HNIP grant as 
part of the overall scheme budget until the SPV is operational and it 
generates its own revenues. It may be possible to have voluntary board 
members but the SPV will have to be resourced.  An allowance for these 
costs has been included in the financial model for this project.

 
4.7.4 An SPV can introduce procurement risk on the energy supply where the 

SPV is providing the energy services to the public sector.  However, for 
now, that risk is mitigated as the Council is the SPV's only customer (energy 
is being supplied to Halo via the Council) and therefore the SPV can be 
'Teckal' compliant.  A Teckal compliant structure means that the SPV 
complies with regulation 12 of the Public Contract Regulations 2015, which 
means that (i) the Council exercises control over the SPV as if it were a 
Council department, (ii) more than 80% of the activities of the SPV are 
carried out in the performance of tasks given to it by the Council i.e. it 
provides 80% of its services for the Council; and (iii) there is no private 
sector ownership of the SPV. The situation will need to be reviewed for 
future phases when the building connection makeup of those phases is 
known.  However, breaking the Teckal compliant structure in Phase 2 does 
not invalidate the energy supply contracts created between BCBC and the 
SPV in Phase 1. 

4.7.5 Currently Halo are able to procure their own energy however, in order for 
the Council to provide the energy to Bridgend Life Centre, the leisure 
services contract with Halo will need to be varied in relation to this venue 
only. 

4.7.6 The creation of the heat network potentially opens up operational risk but 
the proposal is to use a gas Combined Heat and Power Unit which is a 
highly mature technology which has been operating for many decades 
within the UK and therefore is well understood.  Operational risks within the 
project will be passed and managed by the appointed specialist contractor 
procured by the Council to deliver the project.  

4.8 The SPV will have an independent board of directors, which can include 
representatives from the Council and those with relevant expertise from the private 
sector.  Having sector and technical experts on the board can give the SPV additional 
credibility and support commercial decision making.  An independent board requires 
strong governance arrangements to be in place so that there is clarity on matters 
where the board is free to make decisions and matters that require owner (i.e. 
Council) approval.  A certain level of separation and board freedom may be important 
to achieve the long-term objectives of the Council for the project but this needs to be 
balanced against a continued requirement for Council oversight of the SPV’s 
activities.

Legal Form of the SPV

4.9 Various different types of legal entities (e.g. company, charity, partnership, trust) were 
assessed against the following factors:

Page 22



4.9.1 the suitability in terms of the potential for liability to attach to members or 
officers of the SPV; 

4.9.2 the purpose of the SPV;

4.9.3 whether the SPV would be charitable or would be capable of distributing 
profit to the Council as a member.

4.10 The recommendation from the Council's advisers is that the SPV should be 
established under the Companies Act 2006 as a company limited by shares with the 
Council as sole shareholder. 

4.11 The reasons for this recommendation are set out below:

4.11.1 A company limited by shares is a straightforward and well understood 
structure and is the most commonly used form for SPVs on projects of this 
type.  This may also provide greater flexibility should the Council wish to 
exit the project in future.

4.11.2 A company has a separate legal personality such that its members (i.e. in 
this case, the Council) are not liable for the company's debts and 
obligations, nor are its directors (except in particular circumstances such as 
the commission of offences by the company or wrongful and fraudulent 
trading).   A limited Liability Company can raise debt in its own name and 
the funder has no recourse to the owners of the company.  In this case, the 
company rather than the Council is responsible for the debt of the SPV. The 
risk to the Council is if the SPV becomes unable to repay the loan from the 
Council.  If the SPV defaults on its debt to the Council, the Council would 
seek to step in to operate the contracts of the SPV directly, and the Council 
as owner of the SPV will benefit from the value of the network’s contracts 
and assets.   

4.11.3 A company has the necessary flexibility to fulfil the SPV's objects and 
purposes which are to support and facilitate decarbonisation.  While the 
core purpose of the SPV is the delivery of the project initially, the SPV will 
be able to develop to achieve broader strategic aims of the Council on 
energy in line with the Council's 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy.

4.11.4 A company limited by shares provides the flexibility to enable future 
distribution of any profit to its members (i.e. the Council or any future owner 
of the SPV).  While the primary purpose of the project is to support 
decarbonisation, the Council (and HNIP) requires that the SPV is 
economically viable which means that the SPV is expected to generate 
some profit over its lifetime.  That profit may be reinvested in the activities 
of the SPV or, if appropriate, distributed to the Council by way of dividend.  

4.12 Various other legal forms were considered, but discounted as follows:

4.12.1 Limited Liability Partnership (LLP) – whilst this is an option for the Council, 
it is not considered suitable because the primary purpose of such a 
partnership is the pursuit of profit which is not the primary purpose of this 

Page 23



project.  An LLP also requires at least two members, therefore for the 
Council to create an LLP would require it to set up another company, in 
order for that company to be the other partner.  The management structure 
for the LLP would also require more development as there are fewer tested 
templates for the constitution of an LLP for this type of project.  

4.12.2 General Partnership – this is considered unsuitable because it requires at 
least two partners (the Council could not be the sole owner) and those 
partners would be liable themselves for the partnership debts and liabilities.

4.12.3 Community Interest Company / Community Benefit Society – the main 
purpose of the project and therefore the SPV is not to carry out activities for 
the benefit of the community and therefore it would be difficult to meet the 
required tests to establish these types of vehicles.  These models also 
require an "asset lock" which restricts the distribution of profit to members.  
An asset lock means that assets must stay in the company and cannot be 
transferred back to the Council, they can only be used for the future 
activities of the company.

4.12.4 Charity / Company Limited by Guarantee – given that the SPV will be 
carrying out a primarily commercial activity i.e. the development of a heat 
and power project (albeit for the purpose of achieving its Net Zero 
decarbonisation objects for Bridgend and not for pure commercial gain) that 
will generate revenue, this ruled out a charitable structure.  A company 
limited by guarantee is usually asset locked and used for charities and 
social enterprises.  

4.12.5 Unincorporated Association / Trust – both are unsuitable for finance 
arrangements as they are not separate legal persons and do not have 
limited liability for members. They also cannot raise finance in their own 
right.

Objects/aims of the SPV 

4.13 The objects of the SPV can be set out in the Articles of Association.  It is not 
necessary to do this, but for governance and clarity, it is appropriate for an SPV of 
this type to have a statement of what its objects are.  

4.14 The objects attempt to strike a balance between being broad enough (and not unduly 
restrictive) to take account of activities that the SPV may undertake over time, but 
narrow enough to constrain those activities appropriately. This means that the 
Council can use the SPV not only for the initial project, but for further energy projects 
to achieve the Council's long-term Net Zero Decarbonisation Strategy should it wish 
to do so.  This may provide long term cost efficiencies as the Council may not need 
to set up other SPVs to deliver other energy projects, if the creation of an SPV was 
considered necessary for those projects.

4.15 Objects for the SPV are proposed to be:

The company is established for the benefit of the citizens of the Bridgend County 
Borough, to facility the delivery of decarbonisation, provide lower cost energy, capture 

Page 24



economic opportunities and promote the improved wellbeing of its citizens.  Subject 
to that qualification and to the proviso that the company is not precluded from carrying 
on activities outside the Bridgend County Borough so long as there is reasonably 
considered to be benefit, whether financial or non-financial, to the citizens of the 
Bridgend County Borough from so doing, the objects for which the company is 
established are:

To carry on in any manner the company thinks fit the businesses of generating 
and supplying electricity and space and water heating, exporting surplus 
electricity and heat, purchasing and supplying electricity and heat and 
generally operating in the wholesale and retail markets in commodities, fuels 
and others of all kinds;

To consider, develop and implement, and revise and update from time to time, 
a strategy or strategies for delivering energy and resource efficiency, energy 
savings, reductions in carbon and other emissions, the production of 
renewable or sustainable energy, district heating, and/or sustainable transport 
("Energy Services"), from Energy Services;

To carry on in any manner the company thinks fit the businesses of delivering 
Energy Services, and/or the promotion of community benefits from Energy 
Services;

To provide in any manner the Company thinks fit affordable energy to persons 
who by reason of age, ill health, disability, financial hardship or other 
disadvantage would benefit from the supply of affordable energy, and in doing 
so to seek to reduce levels of fuel poverty;

To provide professional and advisory services relating to Energy Services and 
to provide training programmes and dissemination of information and advice 
relating to Energy Services;

To design, engineer, manufacture, construct, extend, demolish, execute, carry 
out, equip, improve, purchase or otherwise acquire, lease, develop, 
administer, manage or control buildings, facilities, works and conveniences of 
all kinds in the furtherance of any of the above objects; and

To carry on in any manner the company thinks fit the business of implementing 
projects which are desirable for the furtherance of any of the above objects.

4.16 These objects cover the activities required initially for the delivery of this project.  They 
also reflect the wider strategic decarbonisation aims of the Council.  It is 
recommended that 'catch all' objects are also included to allow flexibility.  However, 
the Articles of Association can be amended at any time by passing a special 
resolution of shareholders holding at least 75% of the share capital of the SPV.

SPV Constitution

4.17 The constitution of a company limited by shares is contained in its Articles of 
Association.  In addition to the objects of the SPV the Articles will contain terms for 
the management and governance of the SPV as follows:

Page 25



4.17.1 Board of the SPV – the SPV will be managed by its board of directors.  The 
Council as sole shareholder of the SPV has the right to appoint and remove 
any director.  

4.17.2 Number / identity of directors - a minimum and a maximum number of 
directors should be specified, and an odd number can help the board when 
making majority decisions. For a single project two or three directors would 
be sufficient although there should be flexibility to appoint more in future by 
setting a higher maximum e.g. seven.  Having three directors from the 
Council may be easiest initially and the recommendation is that most are 
Council officers rather than Councillors due to concerns around conflict of 
interest.  Directors should be appointed that understand the project, have 
sufficient time to devote to the management of the SPV and recognise that 
being a Director on the SPV requires a commercial approach to their role.  
Ideally the SPV would appoint external (non-executive) directors, who could 
bring significant energy market experience to the SPV. The Council should 
retain a majority of Council directors to ensure that the Council controls the 
SPV in the same way it controls other Council departments for the purposes 
of "Teckal" compliance.  It is recommended that the directors of the SPV 
should be: 

 Corporate Director Communities
 Head of Operations Community Services
 Head of Partnership Services

4.17.3 Number of board meetings - there should be a specified minimum number 
of board meetings taking place during the year e.g. once every quarter or 
every two months. More frequent board meetings may be required during 
construction of the project.  

4.17.4 Board meeting quorum – with a smaller board, a quorum of two directors is 
recommended of which at least one has to be a director appointed by the 
Council. (A proportion of the board such as one third or one half of the 
directors are present could also be specified). If there are external directors, 
the Council director could have a casting vote. We recommend that the 
chairman has no casting vote, which means the board has generally to 
reach a majority decision.

4.17.5 Board director term – No term needs to be specified and if the only directors 
are Council officers this is less relevant.  However, if the board may be 
expanded in future you may want to specify a term of e.g. three years, 
renewable once, with any extension beyond that only with the approval 
either of the entire Board and/or the Council. 

4.17.6 Directors' remuneration – directors will only be entitled to travel and other 
expenses for attending meetings and conducting company business, which 
will be paid upon proper vouching being produced.

  
4.17.7 Directors' conflict - for external directors, the conflict provisions can be in 

standard form but Council directors should be subject to the same conflict 
provisions as would apply if Council business was being conducted (which 

Page 26



is a separate question from declaring interests).  Council directors are likely 
always to have an interest to declare as they are Council employees or 
Councillors.  That does not preclude them from voting on a particular matter 
unless they have a particular interest in the matter in question e.g. a 
Councillor as director voting on a project which affects the constituency that 
they represent.  Conflicts of interest need careful consideration if any 
director was to be a Council officer that performs a key oversight role e.g. 
audit responsibilities or contract approvals (see also SPV Governance and 
Oversight).  

4.18 The SPV's constitution should include a list of reserved matters.  These are matters 
which the Board cannot decide without the approval of shareholders (i.e. the Council).  
These provisions could be added to the Articles of Association but are more 
commonly included in a shareholder agreement between the SPV and its 
shareholders.  The Articles of Association are a public document whereas a 
shareholder agreement can be confidential.  A shareholder agreement is also easier 
to amend.  The following activities should require prior Council consent:

4.18.1 establishing companies, partnerships, or joint ventures of any kind;

4.18.2 borrowing or lending money or entering into loan etc. transactions;

4.18.3 granting or taking security over any item of property of whatever type;

4.18.4 purchasing, selling, leasing etc. land or other property; 

4.18.5 other key stage aspects of project implementation (once approved by the 
Council) such as shortlisting of contractors, appointment of a preferred 
contractor and contract signature;

4.18.6 entering into contracts of employment;

4.18.7 expenditure on specialist or other services in excess of thresholds 
established for delegated authority for Corporate Director Communities.

The above list is not exhaustive but is intended to cover the main "control" items.

4.19 The Articles of Association should also have express provisions that prohibit the key 
provisions described above from being amended without the Council's consent.  This 
will not be an issue while the Council is the sole member as only its consent is 
required for the change but the SPV may not always have a single member. 

SPV Governance and Oversight.

4.20 Beyond those reserved matters listed in section 4.16 there are additional internal 
governance measures that will need to be put in place to ensure the Council 
exercises proper oversight of the activities of the SPV:

4.20.1 SPV Oversight - the SPV's financial and service performance will need to 
be embedded into the Council's own audit and scrutiny processes, as well 
as a mechanism for dealing with additional investment / financial difficulties. 

Page 27



The Council should have oversight on any strategic decisions to avoid any 
question of delegation of statutory function.

4.20.2 SPV Reporting – the Council should identify the appropriate Council board/ 
committee for the SPV Board to report to and should specify which matters 
will need to be reported to Cabinet or Council as appropriate.    

4.20.3 Policies and Procedures – the SPV will be able to adopt and comply with 
the vast majority of the Council's existing policies and procedures (e.g. 
procurement, supply chain management, freedom of information, data 
protection, anti-bribery and others).  Some updating of policies may be 
required to ensure that references to the SPV are included where relevant.

4.20.4 Business Planning – the SPV should develop a business plan.  The process 
for developing, reviewing, approving and updating that plan will need to be 
developed further.  As a minimum the ongoing business plan should be 
prepared by the SPV management and then approved by the SPV board.  
However, updates to the business plan may require Council approval if they 
involve elements that require Council decision (e.g. entering into 
partnership) as part of its oversight of the SPV and the approval of any 
business plan should be a reserved matter in the SPV's constitution.

Administrative and Management Services

4.21 The SPV is a small business that needs to be run on a day-to-day operational basis 
as well as having the appropriate governance and strategy.  It is not necessary for 
the SPV at the outset of the project to have a management team. For day-to-day 
operational matters, it is proposed that an SPV manager will be seconded from the 
Council on a part-time basis.  The SPV manager could also be a director of the SPV.  
Whilst there is a budget within the scheme of £40,000 to support the running of the 
SPV, costs will need to be monitored and reviewed to ensure that sufficient budget is 
provided within the SPV’s operating budget to meet such costs fully.

4.22 The SPV will not employ its own staff and is not anticipated to have access to its own 
resources (e.g. IT systems or office space), however this position will be monitored 
in case the situation changes (e.g. the SPV requires separate accounting software).  
The day-to-day management and administration of the SPV will therefore need to be 
provided in part, by the Council initially (e.g. contract management, IT services).  This 
may include the secondment of an SPV manager.  

4.23 The Council will recharge the cost of performing these services to the SPV under a 
management services agreement. This document will describe the services to be 
provided from the Council to the SPV and how the Council will be paid for those 
services.

4.24 The services to be covered can include the following:

4.24.1 day to day project and contract management including co-ordination with 
contractors, health and safety duties and contract enforcement.

Page 28



4.24.2 sales activities and interface with customers e.g. billing and payment;

4.24.3 company secretarial including arranging board meetings, taking board 
minutes, arranging companies house filing etc;

4.24.4 arranging SPV insurances;

4.24.5 provision of an SPV manager and SPV administrator;

4.24.6 business planning and community engagement; and

4.24.7 procurement of additional services for the SPV as required e.g. technical, 
financial including preparing management and financial accounts, legal and 
banking services.

4.25 With the exception of a specific time commitment from an SPV manager (8 days per 
month) and an SPV administrator (3 days per month), the provision of these 
management / administrative services is not expected to require a significant amount 
of time from Council employees while the SPV is solely delivering the initial heat 
network project.  

4.26 It is recommended that the Council charges the SPV a fixed monthly / annual fee.  A 
sum of £40,000 per annum has been allocated in the model for the cost of running 
the SPV, which could be translated into a fixed annual fee, commensurate with the 
services provided by the Council, to the SPV.  It is recognised that these costs would 
need to be reviewed after 12 months of operation to ensure that they represent the 
real costs of operation.  Should the actual costs be in excess of this amount, the 
Council would need to consider whether to meet these or seek to increase the charge 
to the SPV. The Council should also consider the extent to which the SPV will have 
cash available to pay for the management services from time to time to avoid 
triggering technical insolvency (particularly before the SPV is fully funded).  In the 
instance of there being insufficient funds available to pay the management fee, the 
Council could consider delaying the payment of the management fee for a period until 
the SPV is able to meet its obligations (with regard to the payment of the management 
fee) or it could suspend or delay payment of dividends from the SPV to the Council 
to cover the management fee costs.  

Contracts with the SPV

4.27 To deliver the heat network project the Council will need to enter into a number of 
contracts with its SPV.  These are described below.  

4.27.1 Shareholder Agreement – as described above this is a private contract 
between the Council (in its capacity as shareholder) and the SPV.  It can 
set out more of the detailed governance arrangements that wouldn't usually 
sit in standard Articles of Association.  

4.27.2 Funding Agreement – this will be a simple agreement to document the 
terms of the grant and loan to be provided from the Council to the SPV.    

Page 29



4.27.3 Energy Services Agreement – this will set out the SPV's responsibility and 
right to deliver the heat network project on behalf of the Council but can also 
include the provision of wider strategic energy services.

4.27.4 Energy Centre Lease – this will be a standard lease over an area within the 
Bridgend Life Centre in which the heat and power generation equipment for 
the project will be located.

4.27.5 Energy Supply Agreements – these will be contracts for the supply of heat 
and electricity to the Council buildings (including the Bridgend Life Centre).  
The SPV will initially only supply heat and power to the Council so that the 
SPV can comply with "Teckal" principles; and

4.27.6 Management Services Agreement – this will set out the management and 
administrative services to be provided by the Council to the SPV and the 
management fee payable to the Council.

5 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules.
 
5.1 There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6 Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics and 
an EIA status of low priority is considered appropriate at this stage. It is considered 
that there will be no negative impacts from this report.

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is a positive step in regard to the Council’s 
role in complying with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The 
project demonstrates BCBC taking a positive proactive role within the 
decarbonisation agenda in Wales which will ensure that the significant environmental, 
social and economic opportunities created through the decarbonisation transition of 
the energy market will be captured for Bridgend as well as the area being able to 
demonstrate its compliance with national carbon reduction targets.

7.2 In terms of meeting the 5 ways of working within the Act:

1. Long Term: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide the 
foundation for Bridgend Town to develop a decarbonised heat system that 
meets the UK 2030 decarbonisation targets in line with BCBC’s Local Area 
Energy Strategy and Smart Energy Plan.

2. Prevention: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide an 
opportunity for all to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure 
that solutions are designed and available for everyone within Bridgend Town.

3. Integration: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project offers an opportunity 
to develop a heat network that could serve Bridgend Town and that could 
ultimately offer carbon reductions, reduced fuel bills and create economic 
opportunities through a clearly identified value chain for the area.

Page 30



4. Collaboration: BCBC is working in partnership with both UK Government and 
private sector partners to deliver the project.

5. Involvement: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project involves working with 
a variety of stakeholders to deliver a sustainable solution for the 
decarbonisation of heat within Bridgend Town.   

8 Financial Implications.

The Capital Year 1 outlay for the project is £3.389m and the funding of this is broken 
down in Table 1. 

Table 1 Project Funding

BCBC Capital Programme £500,000 Already included within capital 
programme

BCBC Loan to SPV £1,821,367 BCBC to fund from prudential 
borrowing

HNIP Grant £1,000,000 Approved
Connection Charges £67,366 Halo*
BCBC shares £1,000 Economy, Natural Resources & 

Sustainability 2021-22 Budget
TOTAL £3,389,733

*This forms part of the Halo negotiations.  However, if this contribution is not possible 
the Bridgend Town DHN project contingency budgets will be used and the cost 
recovered through the heat price payable by Halo. 

8.2 Further capital funding will be required through the life of the project for asset 
replacement and that is built into the business case.  In terms of the loan, Council 
approved an amendment to its Treasury Management Strategy at its meeting on 24 
February 2021, which enables the Council to lend up to £2 million to a third party.  It 
is proposed that the Council approves a loan of £1,821,627, funded from prudential 
borrowing, to the Special Purpose Vehicle.  The terms of the loan are outlined in 
Table 2 below.

Table 2 Loan Terms

Loan Amount £1,821,267
Repayment Loan Period 40 Compared to scheme 

financial evaluation period 
of 50 years

Interest Payable by BCBC 
(charged by PWLB to BCBC)

2.6% To be determined at the 
date the loan is taken out by 
BCBC

Interest Rate charged to SPV 2.6% To be determined at the 
date the loan is taken out by 
BCBC

The capital grant from HNIP has been secured and the proposed loan to be made 
available to the SPV is being taken to Council on 10 March 2021 for approval.  

Page 31



8.3 A sum of £40,000 has been allocated in the financial model to pay for administrative 
and management services that the SPV will require, as previously stated this figure 
will be reviewed once operational to ensure that it reflects the real costs of operation.  
Appendix 1 to this report shows a breakdown of task and costs for SPV activities.  
Table 3 below shows the anticipated annualised cost for the operation

  
Table 3 Annualised Cost of SPV Operation

Activity Role SPV Resource

(days per month)

£21,500 of budget 
is allocated to 

cover these 
activities in the 
Financial Model

External Resource

Budget is specifically 
allocated for these 

activities in the Financial 
Model

Supporting new 

connections

Promotion 1

Contract Performance Governance 4

Annual Accounts Governance 0 External Audit - £5,392

Minor Asset Replacement Ownership 2

Major Asset Replacement Ownership 0

Insurances Ownership 0 Insurances - £6,779

Supporting gaps in contract Supplier of Last Resort 0

Undertaking emergency 

operation

Supplier of Last Resort 0

TOTAL 7.5 £12,171

9 Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1.1 approves a report being presented to Council on 10th March 2021 to amend the 
Capital Programme 2021-2022 for the inclusion of this scheme in the Capital 
Programme, noting that there is already £500,000 included within the Capital 
Programme towards the scheme;

Page 32



9.1.2 Subject to Council approval of the inclusion of this scheme in the Capital 
Programme and borrowing for the Bridgend Town DHN Project it is 
recommended that Cabinet:

9.1.2.1 recommends that Council provides a loan to the SPV on the terms set out in this 
report for the purposes of the Bridgend Town DHN Project and delegates 
authority to the Chief Executive to agree and approve the final terms of the Loan 
Agreement and arrange execution of the Loan Agreement on behalf of the 
Council subject to such powers being exercised in consultation with the Chief 
Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory Services and the Interim Chief Officer Finance, 
Performance and Change.

9.1.2.2 approves the formation of a Special Purpose Vehicle as a Company Limited by 
shares as set out in this report (“the Company”);

9.1.2.3 approves the use of ‘Bridgend Heat & Power Ltd’ as the name of the Company;

9.1.2.4 approves the appointment of the Corporate Director Communities, Head of 
Operations Community Services and Head of Partnership Services as Directors of 
the Company for the purpose of representing the interests of the Council;

9.1.2.5 delegates authority to the Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory Services to enter 
into the following and any other related agreements to enable the Company to 
be established:

- Articles of Association
- Shareholder Agreement
- Management Services Agreement

9.1.2.6 approves the implementation of the governance and oversight measures set 
out in this report; 

 
9.1.2.1 approves entering into a Management  Services Agreement with the Company 

at a fixed annual / monthly fee, which is funded by the Company and 
delegates authority to the Chief Executive and the Interim Chief Officer –  
Finance, Performance and Change to finalise the management fee and agree 
the terms of the Management Services Agreement in consultation with the 
Chief Officer - Legal, HR & Regulatory Services.

 

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities 
9th March 2021

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change

Page 33



9th March 2021

Contact Officer: Michael Jenkins
Team Leader Sustainable Development 

Telephone: (01656) 643179
E-mail: Michael.jenkins@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents

None

Page 34



 

1

Technical Note

To
Michael Jenkins

Transmittal No
x

Project number
x

Client
Bridgend

Subject
SPV Annualised Costs

Date
22 February 2021

Issued by
Rob Boyer

Reason for issue
For Information

Prepared by
Rob Boyer

Location
London

SPV Annualised Costs
In order to operate the Bridgend District Energy Network (BDEN), a number of annual activities are required to be 
undertaken as summarised in the following table;

Role SPV Contractor Other1 Not 
Applicable2 Responsibilities

Promotion 

 Defining physical nature of the project 
 Commissioning studies to establish the viability 

of the network. 
 Identifying funding options 
 Defining the scale and timing of demand for 

services 
 Publicising the opportunity and communicating 

the benefits to key stakeholders 
 Attracting develop

Customer  

 Agreeing terms of heat purchase agreement 
(e.g. price formula, service levels, carbon 
intensity) 

 Paying an agreed price for the heat service
 Operating a secondary and/or tertiary network 

in accordance with the terms of the supply 
agreement (e.g. maximum return temperature) 

Governance 

 Assigning roles and responsibilities 
 Setting overall direction and objectives for the 

elements of the network within the remit of the 
governing body. 

 Overseeing commercial behaviour and high 
level performance 

 Taking high level commercial decisions
 Monitoring performance standards 

Regulation 

 Monitoring performance standards 
 Resolving disputes between operators and 

customers 
 Enforcing fair pricing 

Funder 

 Providing funding or arranging sources of 
finance, if satisfied that the scheme represents 
an acceptable risk 

 Signing funding agreements, depending on the 
type of funds being provided (e.g. debt or 
equity) 

 Obtaining appropriate security from the 
beneficiaries of funding. 

Ownership 
 Securing an income stream to match its 

responsibilities and to cover its risks 

1 Other Roles are external to the SPV and Contractor. These could have a future impact to the operation of the DEN but are currently 
unknown
2 Not Applicable Roles have been defined as such as they will not impact the operation of the BDEN once operation has commenced on 
the currently proposed network. Future works may yet be impacted by these activities. 

Page 35



Transmittal
Technical Note

 

AECOM
2

Role SPV Contractor Other1 Not 
Applicable2 Responsibilities

 Insuring or procuring insurance for the assets 
 Ensuring the assets are maintained and 

components replaced when life expired 
 Contracting with installers, maintenance 

providers, and service companies (where the 
Asset Owner does not undertake such activities 
itself)

Developer 

 Delivering the completed site, including 
secondary and tertiary heat networks  

 In some projects, making financial or in kind 
contributions to the heat network delivery body 

 Demonstrating to purchasers or tenants of units 
on the Development that the network has 
suitable governance structures, acceptable 
contract terms and continuity of heat supply.

Land Ownership 

 Granting leases for energy centres or 
substations 

 Granting easements for routing of buried pipes 
 Providing rights of access for installation, 

operation maintenance and replacement of 
plant and equipment 

Landlords 

 Ensuring building occupiers are connected to 
the heat network. 

 Controlling access to maintain the secondary 
and tertiary networks, including ensuring that 
tenant leases reserve the necessary rights of 
access. 

 May include insuring some (e.g.. secondary 
and possibly tertiary) network assets. 

 May include maintaining and replacing the 
tertiary network assets for rental tenants 

 Where applicable, undertaking relevant Tenant 
Consultations

Installation 

 Installing a network which complies with the 
specification. 

 In some projects, commissioning networks and 
connecting new customers

 Installing network extensions

Operation 

 Ensuring that heat of suitable quantity and 
quality (e.g. temperature) is delivered to 
customers 

 Where relevant, complying with the 
requirements of any electricity export licences 
or power purchase agreements. 

 Ensuring performance standards are met 
 Undertaking maintenance, repair and (in some 

cases) replacement works 
 Reporting to customers, landlords and the 

Governance body

Metering and Billing 

 Procuring heat (and sometimes power and 
cooling) delivery 

 Metering 
 Billing 
 Undertaking price reviews 
 Attracting and securing new customers 
 Collection of revenues 
 Managing customer debt and default 
 Communicating with customers

Supplier of Last Resort 

 Taking over Operation and Sale of Heat 
responsibilities where required (including

 in some cases taking on Asset Ownership) 
 Arranging for replacement of Operator and/or 

Sale of Heat roles.

Page 36



Transmittal
Technical Note

 

AECOM
3

These terms have been taken from the BEIS Detailed Project Development Guidance and have been assigned based on 
the proposed procurement strategy being used for Bridgend DEN.

For BDEN, it is envisaged the SPV will outsource the functions of the Operation and Metering and Billing. The roles of 
Customer and Regulation will impact the SPV but should not incur standardised annualised costs. A number of roles 
should not incur annualised costs and have been marked as Not Applicable. 

The remaining roles of Promotion, Governance, Ownership and Supplier of Last Resort will require resource to be 
assigned in order for the SPV to function successfully. These roles have been defined below.

Promotion

In the context of the BDEN, the Promoter role is required to successfully develop and extend BDEN to new customers 

Support for the champion at the leadership level will be needed to secure the necessary approvals. 

As part of the role of promotion, the party:  

 Defines the scale, nature and phasing of demand for services and the physical nature of the project to meet it 

 Arranges studies to establish the viability of the network 

 Identifies funding options 

 Attracts developers, investors, and operators 

 Is accountable for the progression of the scheme to delivery and operation 

 Has a time limited interest in the scheme which maps to the project stages 

 Intervenes when project stalls to solve problems 

 Responsible for stakeholder engagement and is often the first point of contact for external queries, communication 
and advocacy for the scheme 

The first tasks are the scoping of an extension project and the commissioning of studies to determine viability of a 
project. 

Governance

The Governance role includes setting objectives, prescribing policies and rules of conduct and overseeing performance.   

These objectives, rules and policies will need to be prescribed by the contract(s) under which the network is operated.  
They may be promoted through wider stakeholder engagement in project direction.   

Ideally, the Governing Body should ultimately be accountable to a wider set of stakeholders. 

Often the governing body is specifically set up to oversee the operation of the heat network with representatives from key 
stakeholders, including but not limited to, the operator and the customers. 

The role of governance should include: 

 Assigning roles and responsibilities to parties.  This function is initially undertaken by the Promoter, but once the 
heat network is set up it falls to the governing body to maintain and develop the heat network as conditions change 
and contracts come up for renewal.  This would include, for example, the appointment of an operator when an 
existing operator’s contract expires. 

 Setting overall direction and objectives (for the elements of the network within the remit of the governing body).  
This might include objectives for network growth or the strategy for decarbonising the heat supply. 

 Overseeing commercial behaviour of participating parties.  This may take the form of agreeing to proposed tariff 
changes for example. 

 Monitoring overall performance of the network, escalating and facilitating resolution of issues with relevant parties 
to rectify poor performance.  This could include the receipt and review of network performance monitoring reports. 

 Taking high level commercial decisions, such as the procurement of alternative operators and agreeing 
maintenance schedules. 

Page 37



Transmittal
Technical Note

 

AECOM
4

The main CSF for the Governance role is a clear and effective organisational structure which is adequately resourced, 
has the necessary powers of direction and is representative of the parties and key interests on which the success of the 
network depends.   

Ownership

The Asset Owner owns the physical assets of the network. Ownership could be split between different classes of assets. 

The role of asset ownership should include:  

 Securing an income stream to match its responsibilities associated with ownership of its assets 

 Insuring, maintaining and replacing and enhancing its assets 

 Contracting with installers, maintainers, and service companies (where the Asset Owner does not undertake such 
activities itself)  

The main CSFs for the Asset Owner are access to funding streams which will cover the cost of owning, maintaining and 
replacing the assets and provide a return on investment which meets the organisation’s financial performance (i.e. hurdle 
rate) requirements. 

With BDEN, major capital assets have been planned for replacement at end of Economic Life. The Asset Owner shall 
ensure that adequate technical and financial previous is available to facilitate planned replacement. 

Supplier of Last Resort

Since heat is not regulated like gas or electricity, it is best practice to make intentional provision for a “Supplier of Last 
Resort” (SoLR).   The Supplier of Last Resort role involves providing heat to the customers if the scheme’s provider is 
unable or no longer required to do so. 

The SoLR’s responsibility is triggered, almost by definition, by an unplanned event that requires a rapid adoption or re-
procurement of the supplier role from the appointed Supplier. Also almost by definition, the SoLR is likely to inherent a 
network in some distress, which might be technical, organizational, financial or a combination of all three.   

A well-prepared SoLR would have in place an ability to take rapid control of the situation to ensure a minimum disruption 
to customers’ heat service, such as step-in rights and recovery provisions in the relevant contract with the Supplier which 
can be triggered automatically, as well as some form of insurance or guarantee that can be drawn upon to fund any 
immediate financial costs which may be incurred. 

A related, but different situation is the situation which arises at the end of a Concession Contract period.  The contract 
would make provision for reversion of assets and of supplier responsibilities to the Employer, who would be expected to 
have made arrangements for the orderly incorporation or procurement of a new supplier prior to the end of the Contract.   

The role of supplier of last resort should include:  

 Monitoring system performance and Supplier viability to maintain an accurate risk judgement of the SoLR’s 
responsibilities being triggered. 

 Taking over operator and retailer responsibilities where required (including in some cases the purchasing of assets) 

 Arranging for replacement of operator or retailer roles, 

 Potentially raising finance to continue / repair the existing system.

The main CSFs for the SoLR role are

 Adequate step-in rights and contingency arrangements for when an event which triggers the need for the supplier. 

 Access to resources and capabilities to fulfil the supplier role or to arrange for its provision by another party.

Page 38



Transmittal
Technical Note

 

AECOM
5

Annualised Value

Based on the roles assigned to the SPV, as detailed above, the following annualised costs have been developed;

Activity Role SPV Resource

(days per month)

£21,500 of budget is 
allocated to cover these 
activities in the Financial 

Model

External Resource

Budget is specifically 
allocated for these 

activities in the Financial 
Model

Supporting new connections Promotion 1

Contract Performance Governance 4

Annual Accounts Governance 0.5 External Audit - £5.392

Minor Asset Replacement Ownership 2

Major Asset Replacement Ownership 0

Insurances Ownership 0 Insurances - £6,779

Supporting gaps in contract Supplier of Last Resort 0

Undertaking emergency operation Supplier of Last Resort 0

TOTAL 7.5 £12,171

A total budget of £33,740 per year (indexing annually) has been included within the financial model to cover the activities 
identified in the table above.

Based on a blended whole time equivalent employment cost of £45,000, the day cost of for the time identified in the SPV 
Resource column is £200 accounting for leave and public holidays. The above assessment identifies a need of 7.5 days 
per month, equating to an annual cost of £18,000.  The budget included in the Financial Model for these activities is 
£21,569 which leaves a contingency of approximately £3,500 per year.  This equates to an additional 17.5 days across 
the year or 1.5 days per month. 

The blended cost of employment recognises that the activities are a mixture of administrative and management activities.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2020

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

COSY CORNER TOURISM ATTRACTOR DESTINATION FUNDING

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the progress of securing funding 
through the Tourism Attractor Destination Programme to take forward a project on 
Cosy Corner, Porthcawl and to seek authority to commence the process of 
appointing architects to further develop the project detail. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

2.1 In October 2020 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) were informed that Credu 
Charity Ltd had filed notice of intention to appoint administrators and had been 
informed by Welsh Government of the withdrawal of funding for what was known as 
The Maritime Centre project, funded through the Visit Wales Tourism Attractor 
Destination Programme (TAD).  As a result of this BCBC terminated the agreement 
for the lease relating to the Maritime Centre at the Cosy Corner site. 

2.2 Following discussion with Welsh Government, officers undertook an outline appraisal 
of the short to medium term options available to BCBC to seek to access possible 
funds through the TAD programme for Cosy Corner.

2.3 In December 2020 the following were proposed to and agreed by Cabinet as a set of 
guiding principles for the way forward, based on the current understanding of the 
situation:

Page 41

Agenda Item 6



 Desire to ensure funding allocated for Cosy Corner is retained for Cosy Corner. There 
is potentially funding still available through the TAD programme for Cosy Corner

 Adopting a partnership approach with key stakeholders 
 Taking action in a suitable timeframe 
 Minimising the period of time that Cosy Corner remains in its current condition
 Minimising the on-going maintenance requirements and costs for BCBC
 Enhancing the tourism offer of Porthcawl

2.4 Should funding be available through the TAD programme the following were 
proposed as potential outcomes, depending on resources available:

 Improvements for use by community organisations, in particular the Sea Cadets
 Improvements to the local economy and tourism offer, in particular small retail / start 

up spaces
 Improvements for Marina users, in particular storage and changing facilities
 Improvements for use by the wider community, in particular a Changing Places 

facility, children's free play area, public seating, public realm/landscaping and an 
outdoor event space 

These options were based on information known at the time and are therefore subject 
to change and are by no means definitive.  

3. Current situation/proposal

3.1 In December 2020 Cabinet authorised the Corporate Director, Communities, to 
develop and submit a proposal to access possible resources for improvements to 
Cosy Corner through the TAD programme.  
 

3.2 Cabinet also agreed to receive a further report relating to the detail of any funding 
offer if successful and, should it be required, recommend to Council an update to the 
Capital programme.

3.3 An agreed proposal was submitted to Visit Wales and the Welsh European Funding 
Office (WEFO) in January 2021 based on the principles outlined in section 3.3 and 
the potential outcomes outlined in section 3.4.  

3.4 In February 2021 BCBC received confirmation from Welsh Government that WEFO 
had completed the assessment of six of the nine criteria for assessment of operations 
/projects and requested that further information be supplied in order to complete the 
remaining assessment stages, which are cross cutting themes, delivery and financial 
and compliance. 

3.5 In addition WEFO and Welsh Government have requested confirmation of match 
funding and confirmation of State Aid cover.  

3.6 Three criteria remain to be assessed by WEFO because BCBC has not yet 
undertaken the procurement/tender exercise for architects to reach the required RIBA 
stage that would deliver the information needed.  This work has not been progressed 
to date due to a desire to avoid incurring any costs for the process without first 
seeking a level of assurance from WEFO that, subject to value for money 
considerations being assessed, the project will be supported via the European Union 
structural funds.

Page 42



3.7 Therefore, based on the assessment undertaken to date, and in order to provide the 
final information required, it is now proposed to undertake a procurement exercise to 
appoint architects and required consultancy support to progress the scheme from the 
outline options appraisal to RIBA stage 3.  Doing so will provide greater cost certainty, 
confirmation of the level of match funding required, confirm deliverables for which 
State Aid cover would need to be considered and a forecast delivery profile.  

3.8 If agreed it is proposed that a further report be provided to Cabinet once WEFO and 
Welsh Government have completed their assessment of all nine criteria stages and 
a potential funding offered is secured.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial assessment has identified that there are no equality issues related to this 
report.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template has 
been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is below:

 Long-term: By seeking to secure funds for future improvement of Cosy Corner, BCBC 
is seeking to improve the area beyond its current condition for use and access in the 
long-term.  

 Prevention: Seeking resources to undertake improvements to Cosy Corner will 
ensure that the condition of the site does not deteriorate further. 

 Integration: The proposal will achieve this way of working by recognising the 
approaches that are proposed for support are those that have been identified by 
internal and external stakeholders and the proposal itself will integrate with other 
existing activity in the area.    

 Collaboration: Future action on Cosy Corner as outlined above will take place in 
collaboration with partners through the Harbour Operational Group and the Harbour 
Board.    

 Involvement: Proposals relating to the future of Cosy Corner will be developed and 
delivered in close partnership with key stakeholders.  Discussions and development 
with key BCBC officers will be undertaken.   

8. Financial implications

8.1 A proposal was submitted to WEFO and Welsh Government based on a total project 
value of £1,538,461.  This was made up of a £1m grant request and a proposed 
match funding contribution from BCBC of £538,461.  The match funding was 

Page 43



proposed to combine £153,846 land value match and £384,615 direct match funding.  
Cabinet agreed that the £384,615 would be provided via the Communities Directorate 
public realm budget although officers would continue to seek alternative sources of 
funding.  The costings for this proposal were based on an outline options appraisal 
and as further detailed proposals are developed these costs may change. 

8.2 To proceed as outlined in section 4.7 would require an agreement to utlise the direct 
match funding contribution from the public realm budget to deliver the final 
information required by WEFO and Welsh Government for consideration and  a 
potential final award letter.  This expenditure may be considered as ‘at risk’ however 
it is necessary in order to provide the detail required.  Without that detail the potential 
£1m grant cannot be secured.  

8.3 Incurring expenditure in this way will be considered ‘at risk’ until such a time as all 
assessment stages outlined in section 4.4 have been completed.  Any preliminary 
costs incurred in providing the requested documentation or any retrospective 
expenditure will be tested against the WEFO Eligibility rules and conditions for 
support from the European Structural Funds 2014-2020. Any cost deemed to be an 
eligible cost for support will be eligible for reimbursement by WEFO. However, such 
costs cannot be paid until a formal letter to proceed has been issued by WEFO. 

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to:-

Authorise the Corporate Director Communities to proceed at risk with the 
development of the remaining information required by WEFO and Welsh Government 
presented in section 4.4 and to utilise the currently agreed direct match funding of 
£384,615 to do so in order to secure a potential £1m grant; and,

To receive a further report once WEFO and Welsh Government have completed 
assessment of all nine criteria stages for accessing potential funding before 
progressing further.

Janine Nightingale 
Corporate Director, Communities
9 February 2021

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager:  Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability

Telephone: (01656) 815333

E-mail: Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

Page 44



Cosy Corner, Cabinet report, 15 December 2020 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND FAMILY 
SUPPORT

APPOINTMENT OF LOCAL AUTHORITY GOVERNORS

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from Cabinet for the appointment 
of local authority governors to the school governing bodies listed at paragraphs 
4.1 and 4.2.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

3. Background

3.1 In accordance with the Council’s ‘Guidance on the appointment of local 
education authority governors’ approved by Cabinet on 14 October 2008, 
officers have considered applications received for current and forthcoming 
vacancies for local authority governor positions on school governing bodies 
(see paragraphs 4.1, 4.2 and Appendix A).

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 For the eight schools in the table below, all eight applicants met the approved 
criteria for appointment as local authority governors and there was no 
competition for any of the vacancies.  Therefore, the recommended 
appointments are:  

Name School
Mr William Anthony Esmond Litchard Primary School
Mr Stephen Sloan Llangewydd Junior School
Miss Amy Jones Mynydd Cynffig Primary School
Mr Steven Clarke Pencoed Comprehensive School
Mr William Anthony Esmond Penybont Primary School
Mrs Sarah Louise Hunt St Mary's Catholic Primary School
Mrs Karen Evans Tondu Primary School
Mr Corey Gwilym Edwards Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr 

Page 47

Agenda Item 7



4.2 There was competition for one vacancy at one school and the applicants are 
detailed in the table below:
   
Name of applicants School
Mr Graham Clifford
Mr Stephen Sloan Bryntirion Comprehensive School

The officer panel scrutinised the applications and noted that Mr Stephen Sloan 
has brief previous experience as a governor and is not currently serving on a 
governing body, whereas Mr Graham Clifford has several years experience as 
a governor and is currently serving on a governing body. The recommended 
appointment is therefore Mr Graham Clifford, reflecting the Council’s following 
selection criteria: 

 currently holding office as a school governor;
 attendance record at governing body meetings in the previous two years;
 attendance record at governor training events; and
 the relevance of the phase of education.

4.3 Subject to the above appointments being approved, there are still 25 vacancies 
that need to be filled in 18 schools (see Appendix A).

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An assessment of the appointment of local authority governors identifies that 
there are no equality issues related to this report. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 A Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 
completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is as follows:

Long term

While it is desirable for local authority governors to have previous or relevant 
experience of the role, in the short term, the local authority may support any 
person for such an appointment who is interested in supporting schools, is not 
disqualified from being a school governor and is willing and able to dedicate 
the necessary time to the role.  

Prevention

Page 48



The local authority assesses the suitability of applicants for the local authority 
governor vacancy/vacancies applied for. The local authority, in conjunction 
with the Central South Consortium, supports governors with a comprehensive 
programme of both mandatory and voluntary training and access to 
resources, to enable them to develop and maintain their knowledge and skills, 
and be successful in fulfilling the role.   

Integration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in running schools and ensuring 
that all pupils are supported to learn and achieve so that they can access 
opportunities for further learning and employment, know how to maintain their 
wellbeing, can play active roles in their communities and can contribute 
positively to society as a whole. 

Collaboration

School governing bodies have a strategic role in ensuring that schools 
safeguard the health and well-being of pupils and staff. The local authority, in 
conjunction with the Central South Consortium, provides training to governors 
to enable them to develop and maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and 
effectiveness in this respect.  

Involvement

The local authority treats all applications for local authority governor vacancies 
fairly, to ensure equality of opportunity. School governing bodies have a 
strategic role in ensuring that schools safeguard the health and well-being of 
pupils and staff. The local authority, in conjunction with the Central South 
Consortium, provides training to governors to enable them to develop and 
maintain their relevant knowledge, skills and effectiveness in this respect.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.

9. Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to approve the appointments identified at paragraphs 
4.1 and 4.2.

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support

Contact officer: Mandy Jones
Learner Support Officer

Telephone: (01656) 642629

Email: Amanda.Jones@bridgend.gov.uk

Page 49



Postal address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None

Appendix A

Local authority governor vacancies: current and forthcoming 
(up to the end of May 2021)

Name of school
Number of current and forthcoming 
vacancies

Abercerdin Primary School 2
Brynmenyn Primary School 1 (ending March 2021)
Cefn Cribwr Primary School 1
Croesty Primary School 1
Ffaldau Primary School 1
Llangewydd Junior School 1 
Llangynwyd Primary School 2
Nantymoel Primary School 3 (1 ending March 2021)
Newton Primary School 1 (ending March 2021)
Nottage Primary School 2 (ending March 2021)
Ogmore Vale Primary School 1 
Oldcastle Primary School 1 
Pencoed Primary School 1 (ending May 2021)
St Robert’s Roman Catholic Primary School 2
Tondu Primary School 1
Tynyrheol Primary School 1
Ysgol Gynradd Gymraeg Calon Y Cymoedd 2 (1 ending February 2021)
Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen 1 
TOTAL VACANCIES 25

Page 50



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT BY THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - EDUCATION AND 
FAMILY SUPPORT

SCHOOL ADMISSIONS POLICY 2022-2023

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval of the School Admissions 
Policy 2022-2023. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

Supporting a successful economy – taking steps to make the county borough a 
great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to ensure 
that our schools are focused on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all 
people in the county borough. 

3. Background

3.1      Welsh Government’s School Admissions Code 2013 (the Code) requires admission 
authorities to act in accordance with the Code. The Code includes practical 
guidance and imposes requirements on local authorities and admission authorities, 
regarding the discharge of duties in respect of school admissions. The Council must 
act in accordance with the Code, as determined by the School Standards and 
Framework Act 1998.

3.2.     The local authority has a statutory duty to consult with the governing bodies of
           schools who have delegated admission powers, all neighbouring local authorities,    
           the admission authorities for all other maintained schools in the county borough and   
           the governing bodies of all other schools (ie community and voluntary controlled    
           schools that do not have delegated admission powers) in Bridgend County Borough.

3.3.    The local authority is required to annually publish an admission policy and guidance 
on the admission arrangements for its schools. 

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1      The Bridgend Admissions Forum agreed a draft School Admissions Policy for 2022-
2023, as per the requirements under the Code. 

4.2     The consultation period for the 2022-2023 policy was 19 January 2021 to 19 
February 2021. 

Page 51

Agenda Item 8



4.3.    The table below details the representations received as part of the consultation and     
          the actions taken in response.

Consultation proposal Representations received Actions taken

To maintain the content of 
section 3, relating to 
catchment areas, 
unchanged from that within 
the 2021-2022 policy.

To maintain the content of 
section 6, relating to Welsh-
medium education 
provision, unchanged from 
that within the 2021-2022 
policy.

The Welsh Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP) 
should be referenced in the 
policy and the actions being 
taken by the local authority 
to implement the WESP 
should be detailed in the 
policy. 

The position regarding 
catchment areas for Welsh-
medium schools is unclear.

The policy should state that  
transport is offered to  
Welsh-medium schools so 
that parents do not see this 
as a barrier for choice.

The statement that the 
provision for every child to  
have the opportunity to learn 
and use the Welsh language 
includes the teaching of 
Welsh as a second 
language in English-medium 
schools, should be removed.

As there are no catchment 
areas for Welsh-medium 
schools, parents/carers 
cannot be expected to know 
the transport implications of 
applications for Welsh-
medium schools.  

No change to the draft 
policy for approval has 
been made, on the basis 
that the School Admissions 
Policy is not a strategy 
document and is not 
developmental. 

The policy section relating 
to catchment areas in the 
draft policy for approval has 
been extended with a 
statement that there are no 
catchment areas for the 
Welsh-medium schools in 
Bridgend. In light of this 
addition, the same 
clarification has been stated 
for faith schools in 
Bridgend. 

Section 6 of the draft policy 
for approval has been 
amended and extended to 
clarify the position as 
regards eligibility for home-
to-school transport to 
Welsh-medium schools in 
the county.  

The statement is 
considered to be 
appropriate for this section 
and has not been removed 
from the draft policy for 
approval.  

Section 6 of the draft policy 
for approval has been 
amended and extended to 
clarify the position as 
regards eligibility for home-
to-school transport to 

Page 52



To maintain the content of 
section 7, relating to 
arrangements with other 
local authorities,  
unchanged from that within 
the 2021-2022 policy.

To maintain the content of 
section 11, relating to 
equalities, unchanged from 
that within the 2021-2022 
policy.

-

The information states that 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council (RCTCBC) 
will cover the cost of 
transporting children who 
reside in RCT but wish to 
attend Pencoed 
Comprehensive School, but 
does not state whether 
RCTCBC will cover the cost 
of transporting children who 
reside in RCT but wish to 
attend Ysgol Gyfun 
Gymraeg Llangynwyd

There should be no 
reference to the Welsh 
Language Act 1993 (WLA 
1993) as this has been 
replaced by the Welsh 
Language (Wales) Measure 
2011 (WLWM 2011).

The local authority is not 
adhering to equality for the 
Welsh language as there 
are no defined catchment 
areas for Welsh-medium 
schools in the county, as 
there are for English-
medium schools. 

Welsh-medium schools in 
the county.  

As the information 
communicates the 
arrangements that 
RCTCBC has determined, 
no change has been made 
to section 7 of the draft 
policy for approval.  

The WLWM 2011 makes 
provision for the 
development of standards 
of conduct relating to the 
Welsh language, which are 
intended to gradually 
replace the existing system 
of Welsh language 
schemes provided for by 
WLA 1993, but Part II of the 
WLA 1993 remains in force. 
Accordingly, the WLWM 
2011 has been referenced 
in section 11 of the draft 
policy for approval, in 
addition to the WLA 1993.  

There is no legal 
requirement for school 
catchment areas to be 
designated.  If applications 
for any Welsh-medium 
school in the county should 
exceed the number of 
available places, 
applications are prioritised 
for acceptance on the basis 
of distance from the child’s 
residence to the school in 
pace of any catchment 
criteria. Therefore, the 
absence of defined 

Page 53



-
Oversubscription criteria 
reference schools’ defined 
catchment areas but there 
are no catchment areas for 
the Welsh-medium schools. 

catchment areas for Welsh-
medium schools does not 
represent a disadvantage 
for parents/carers who wish 
to choose Welsh-medium 
education for their child/ren. 
Accordingly, no change has 
been made to the draft 
policy for approval. 

All sections in the draft 
policy for approval relating 
to oversubscription criteria 
have been amended to 
make it clear that 
catchment areas are only 
applicable in respect of 
applications for English-
medium, non-faith schools 
and that proximity to the 
school is applicable in 
respect of applications for 
Welsh-medium and faith 
schools. It is referenced in 
the policy that the local 
authority is the admission 
authority for only one faith 
school (ie Pen y Fai Church 
in Wales Primary School).

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 It is a statutory duty that admission authorities are mindful of their duties with 
regards to equalities legislation. The School Admissions Policy 2022-2023 and the 
amendments to the draft policy for approval referenced at paragraph 4.3 of this 
report adhere to these requirements.  

 
7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 assessment has been 
completed.  A summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the five 
ways of working is as follows:

Long term

The school admissions policy sets out how the local authority will balance the 
discharge of its statutory duty in relation to parental preference, the need to 

Page 54



safeguard the delivery of effective education and the safety of pupils, and the need 
to support pupils in particular circumstances (for example, learners with specific 
vulnerabilities), in circumstances where the applications for places at a school 
exceed the number of available places.

Prevention

Consultation on the school admissions policy allows stakeholders to raise issues or 
make comments on proposals, for consideration of appropriate actions.

Integration

The school admissions policy supports the provision of education in the 
communities in which pupils live.

Collaboration

Each year, the local authority works in conjunction with key stakeholders to develop
proposed school admission arrangements, for those schools for which it is the
admissions authority.

Involvement

In accordance with the specified requirements of the Education (Determination of
Admission Arrangements) (Wales) Regulations 2006 and the School Admissions
Code 2013, the local authority consults each year on the proposed admission
arrangements for those schools for which it is the admissions authority. 

Consultation for the academic year to which the admission policy applies, takes 
place two years in advance of that policy coming into effect. 
  

8. Financial implications

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report.

9.        Recommendation

9.1      Cabinet is recommended to:

 approve the School Admissions Policy 2022-2023.  

Mr Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support

Contact Officer: Dawn Davies
Principal Officer – Business, Strategy and Performance

Telephone: (01656) 642694

E-mail: Dawn.Davies@bridgend.gov.uk 

Page 55



Postal Address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Attachments

Appendix A: School Admissions Policy 2022-2023

Background documents

None

 

Page 56



Page 1 of 45

APPENDIX A
Mae’r ddogfen hon ar gael yn Gymraeg/This document is available in Welsh

School Admissions 
Policy 

2022-2023
(1 September 2022 – 31 August 2023)

Page 57



Page 2 of 45

Table of Contents

1. The admission authority .......................................................................................4
1.1          Admission to voluntary controlled schools......................................................4
1.2          Admission to voluntary aided schools ............................................................4
1.3          Admissions to sixth forms...............................................................................5
1.4          Admissions to special schools........................................................................5
2. Parental preference..............................................................................................5
3. School catchment areas.......................................................................................7
4. School capacity and published admission number ..............................................7
5. Infant class size limit ............................................................................................8
6. Welsh-medium education.....................................................................................8
7. Arrangements with other local authorities ............................................................9
8. Ensuring fair access .............................................................................................9
8.1          Children from overseas and UK children living abroad ..................................9
8.2          Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a   
               local authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP)......................10
8.3          Children with additional learning needs (but without a statement of SEN or a       
               local authority-maintained IDP) ....................................................................10
8.4          Children with disabilities ...............................................................................10
8.5          Children with challenging behaviours ...........................................................10
8.6          Looked after and previously looked after children ........................................10
8.7          Gypsy and Traveller children........................................................................11
8.8          Children of serving UK service personnel and other serving Crown Servants  
               (including diplomats).....................................................................................12
8.9          All vulnerable or hard-to-place children ........................................................12
8.10        School ‘managed moves’ .............................................................................12
9. Requests for admission outside of the normal age group ..................................13
10. Information or circumstances that the local authority does not consider when  
         making admission decisions...............................................................................13
11. Equalities............................................................................................................14
12. Data protection and information sharing ............................................................14
13. Admissions rounds .............................................................................................15
13.1        Submission of applications ...........................................................................15
13.2        Nursery class admissions rounds.................................................................17
13.3        Primary/infant school admission round (reception year) ..............................24
13.4        Junior school admission round (Year 3) .......................................................26
13.5        Secondary school admission round (Year 7)................................................28
14. Explanations of oversubscription criteria............................................................31
14.1        Looked after and previously looked after children ........................................31
14.2        Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a  
               local authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP)......................31
14.3        Children for whom a placement is essential for medical, psychological, or  
               compelling social reasons ............................................................................31
14.4        Child’s address / place of ordinary residence...............................................32
14.5        Siblings .........................................................................................................33
14.6       Multiple birth children.....................................................................................34
14.7        Proximity to school .......................................................................................35
15. The offer process for admissions rounds ...........................................................35
15.1        Offer dates....................................................................................................35
15.2        Communication of the outcome....................................................................35
15.3        Waiting lists ..................................................................................................36
16. In-year admissions / transfers ............................................................................36

Page 58



Page 3 of 45

16.1        Circumstances in which an in-year admission/transfer application is required
.....................................................................................................................................36
16.2        School transfers............................................................................................36
16.3        ‘Advance’ requests .......................................................................................37
16.4        Availability of places .....................................................................................37
16.5        Consideration of applications .......................................................................37
16.6        Communication of the outcome....................................................................38
16.7        Offer of a place at an alternative school .......................................................38
16.7        Waiting lists ..................................................................................................38
17. Admission appeals .............................................................................................39
17.1        General .........................................................................................................39
17.2        Registering an appeal...................................................................................39
17.3        Arrangements for the appeal hearing ...........................................................40
17.4        Repeat appeals ............................................................................................41
18. The Bridgend Admission Forum.........................................................................42
19. Additional information.........................................................................................42
20. Queries...............................................................................................................42

Page 59



Page 4 of 45

1. The admission authority 

The entry of children to schools is controlled and administered by an ‘admission authority’. 
In the case of community schools in Bridgend, the admission authority is Bridgend County 
Borough Council (also referred to in this document as ‘the local authority’).  

In accordance with the Education (Relevant Areas for Consultation on Admission 
Arrangements) Regulations 1999, the relevant area for the admission authority is the 
geographical area of the County Borough of Bridgend.  

Where the local authority is the admission authority, the school’s governing body is under a 
duty to implement the local authority’s decisions on applications, and to act in accordance 
with the local authority’s admission arrangements.

The local authority continuously reviews and reserves the right to amend its 
admissions procedures for statutory and non-statutory education.

The local authority has no arrangements for the provision of education at schools not 
maintained by the local authority.

1.1     Admission to voluntary controlled schools

The one voluntary controlled school in the Bridgend County Borough is Pen y Fai Church in 
Wales Primary School, which is financed by the local authority. The admissions criteria are 
consistent with that of the local authority, as detailed in this policy, and with the Trust Deed 
of the school. Appeal arrangements are managed by the local authority and are consistent 
with the provision of the Trust Deed.

1.2     Admission to voluntary aided schools

There are five voluntary aided schools in the Bridgend County Borough, which are financed 
largely by the local authority. These are: 

1. St Mary’s Catholic Primary School

2. St Mary’s and St Patrick’s Catholic Primary School 

3. St Robert’s Roman Catholic Primary School

4. Archdeacon John Lewis Church in Wales Primary School

5. Archbishop McGrath Catholic High School

The governing body of each voluntary aided school is the admission authority with 
responsibility for all admission arrangements. Parents/carers who wish to seek admission/s 
to these schools will need to contact the school/s directly for further information.

Page 60



Page 5 of 45

1.3     Admissions to sixth forms

The local authority is the admitting authority for post-16 admissions to sixth forms in the 
community schools within the Bridgend County Borough. However, the individual schools 
administer the admission arrangements on behalf of the local authority. Therefore, 
applications in this category should be made directly to the school. 

While the local authority has a policy of open access to schools’ sixth forms, the individual 
schools are responsible for determining and issuing entry criteria on sixth-form admissions.

Admission arrangements for other post-16 further education institutions are determined by 
those institutions and applications should be made directly to the institution/s concerned. 

1.4     Admissions to special schools

The two special schools in the Bridgend County Borough are regional centres with pupils 
admitted from neighbouring local authorities. Admissions to these schools are not included 
within, or subject to the provisions of this policy. 

2. Parental preference

2.1   The duty to comply with parental preference

In relation to admissions to primary schools (excluding nursery classes), junior schools and 
secondary schools (including sixth-forms), the local authority has a statutory duty to have 
regard to the general principle that pupils are to be educated in accordance with the wishes 
of their parents/carers, so far as that would be compatible with the provision of efficient 
education and the avoidance of unreasonable public expenditure (S.9 Education Act 1996).  

The local authority applies the same principle of parental preference to applications for non-
statutory, nursery education in a local authority-maintained school. 

The duty of the local authority to comply with parental preference does not apply where:

1. To admit would be incompatible with the statutory duty to meet infant class size 
regulations.

2. To admit the child would prejudice the provision of efficient education or efficient use 
of resources.

3. Where arrangements for entry to a school’s sixth form are based wholly on selection 
by reference to ability or aptitude and compliance with the preference would be 
incompatible with selection under those arrangements.

Page 61



Page 6 of 45

4. The child has been permanently excluded from two or more schools.  Where this is 
the case, the local authority is not required to comply with parental preference for a 
school place for a period of two years from the first school day of the second 
exclusion.  

This disapplication from the requirement to comply with parental preference does not 
apply to:

 pupils who were below compulsory school age when they were excluded; 

 pupils who were reinstated after permanent exclusion or pupils who would have 
been reinstated following a permanent exclusion had it been practicable to do so; 

 pupils with statements of special educational need; or

 pupils who are looked after (the application for admission must be made by the 
corporate parent), or previously looked after children (the application for 
admission must be accompanied by evidence of the previously looked after 
status).  

2.2   Compliance with parental preference

Within the Bridgend County Borough, each school has an area it serves (its catchment); 
however, the local authority must allow all parents/carers the opportunity to express a 
positive preference for the school they wish their child to attend. While most parents/carers 
are happy to choose their catchment school, it is necessary for that school to be selected 
by parents/carers on a school admission or in-year school admission/transfer application.  
The application allows parents/carers to list more than one school in order of preference. 
The local authority will offer a place at the highest available preferred school.   

The local authority is committed to the principle of providing local schools for local children 
and will make every effort to ensure that parents/carers are able to secure a place for their 
child/ren at the catchment school, where parents/carers have expressed a positive 
preference for that school.  However, parents/carers must not automatically assume that a 
place will be available for their child at their catchment school, or any particular school. 

The local authority will meet the preferences for admission expressed by parents/carers 
ahead of those who have expressed no preference. Consequently, for the admissions 
rounds, parents/carers must ensure they record their preference/s on the school admission 
application and that the application is submitted to the local authority by the stated deadline. 

2.3   Changes to an expressed parental preference

For admission rounds, if the parent/carer wishes to make a change to the school 
preference/s after the application has been submitted to the local authority: 

1. The change must be notified to the local authority in writing (email or letter). 

Page 62



Page 7 of 45

2. If the change is notified to the local authority before the published closing date for the 
admission round, the change will be taken into consideration in the application of 
oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places. 

3. If the change is notified to the local authority after the closing date for the admission 
round, the school preference/s recorded on the application will be used in the 
application of oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places. The parent/carer  
will have the option to complete and submit a late application if the allocated place is 
at a school that is no longer the preferred school, which would be subject to the 
provisions relevant to late applications (see section 13.1). However, in these 
circumstances, the local authority will offer the applicant the option to, instead, 
maintain the original application and school preference/s.  

If a parent/carer expresses a preference for only one school and a place is not offered at 
that preferred school, the local authority will take no further action in respect of the 
application. The parent/carer will be required to complete and submit a new application for 
any alternative school, which will be processed as a late application in accordance with the 
provisions of section 13.1.  

3. School catchment areas

3.1 Welsh-medium and faith schools

There are no catchment areas for the Welsh-medium schools and faith schools within 
Bridgend.

3.2  All other schools

School catchment area maps are published on the local authority’s website:
www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions

Catchment areas are subject to change, with any changes being subject to consultation prior 
to implementation. 

There is no right to, or guarantee of, an offer of a place at a child’s catchment area 
school.

4. School capacity and published admission number

The capacity of a school is the number of pupil places it contains.

Welsh Government has published a capacity calculation methodology for all schools.  This 
aims to provide a robust and consistent method of assessing the pupil capacity of all 
community, voluntary aided, voluntary controlled and foundation schools in Wales. 

Page 63

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions


Page 8 of 45

A school’s calculated capacity is based on existing accommodation at a school and its 
usage. For statutory-age year groups (reception to Year 11) the calculated capacity informs 
the published admissions number for a school.  

For a normal year of entry (ie reception and Year 7), the local authority must admit pupils up 
to the published admission number (with the exception of twice-excluded pupils – see 
section 2).  

For all other years, it is not a statutory requirement that the local authority admits pupils up 
to the published admission number, although the local authority will generally do so. 
However, in the case of infant classes (reception, Year 1 and Year 2), infant class size 
legislation is relevant (see section 5). The local authority is entitled to refuse admission for 
places in any year other than the normal year of entry (ie reception), if offering a place would 
result in class size prejudice (eg necessitating that the school employs an additional teacher 
or creates another classroom). This means that the local authority may refuse admission to 
Year 1 and Year 2 if offering a place would result in class size prejudice, even if the 
admission number has not been reached in relation to these year groups.

As the published admission number reflects the school’s ability to accommodate pupils, the 
local authority will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional 
circumstances.

5. Infant class size limit

In order to improve educational standards in schools, The School Admission (Infant Class 
Size) (Wales) Regulations 2013 limit the number of children in reception, Year 1 and Year 
2 classes to 30 when a single qualified teacher is present.  

The local authority will refuse admission to classes in these year groups if an admission 
would result in the infant class size limit being breached (ie it would result in infant class size 
prejudice), unless the situation is such that an exception to the infant class size limit is 
permitted by the legislation, eg the admission of children who are looked after or previously 
looked after. 

In relation to the reception year, infant class size prejudice does not arise if the number of 
pupils in the reception year has not reached the school’s published admission number.  

Decisions on the structure of classes at a school is reserved to the headteacher. If a 
headteacher decides to operate a mixed-age class where some of the pupils in the class 
are reception, Year 1 or Year pupils, the infant class size limit will only apply if the majority 
of the pupils in the class are reception, Year 1 or Year 2 pupils. 

6. Welsh-medium education

Page 64



Page 9 of 45

In accordance with statutory requirements, the local authority policy is that every child should 
have the opportunity to learn and use the Welsh language.  

With regard to school admissions, provision is made for this in the following ways:

1. The teaching of Welsh as a second language in English-medium schools.

2. Welsh-medium education at four Welsh-medium primary schools and one Welsh-
medium secondary school located within the Bridgend County Borough.  

Admission to the Welsh-medium schools in the Bridgend County Borough is controlled by 
the provisions and criteria specified within this policy. 

There are no catchment areas for the Welsh-medium schools in Bridgend. 

A parent/carer can make an application for a place for their child at any Welsh-medium 
school within the county. However, if a parent/carer chooses to apply for place at a Welsh-
medium school that is not the nearest Welsh-medium school to the child’s place of 
ordinary residence, and that application is successful, there is no entitlement to free home-
to-school transport to that requested school.   

Eligibility for school transport only applies where the child’s place of ordinary residence is 
more than two miles from the nearest Welsh-medium primary school or three miles from 
the nearest Welsh-medium secondary school. 

7. Arrangements with other local authorities

The local authority has made the following arrangements with Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, where surplus admission places are available:

1. Pupils from Abercerdin Primary School may attend Tonyrefail Comprehensive School 
with Bridgend County Borough Council being responsible for transport costs.

2. Pupils from Dolau Primary School, Brynnau Primary School and Llanharan Primary 
School may attend Pencoed Comprehensive School with Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council being responsible for transport costs.

8. Ensuring fair access 

Particular considerations apply in respect of specific groups of children, as detailed below.  

8.1     Children from overseas and UK children living abroad 

Page 65



Page 10 of 45

The local authority will treat applications for such children on an individual basis and in 
accordance with all applicable Welsh Government legislation/requirements, UK legislation 
and Home Office rules. Also, any European Union law that may be applicable to the UK. 

It should be expected that the local authority will seek information on a range of relevant 
factors, including but not necessarily limited to:

 when the child is expected to be resident in the UK; or

 whether the parents/carers’ application for leave to enter the UK has been or will be 
successful, or if it has been, on what terms entry has been granted. 

8.2    Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a local 
authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP) 

Where a mainstream place in a community school is the named placement in a final 
statement of SEN or a local authority maintained IDP, the local authority will admit the child 
to that school. 

8.3     Children with additional learning needs (but without a statement of SEN or a 
local authority-maintained IDP)

Applications in respect of such children will be considered in the same way as all applications 
on the basis of the procedures and admission criteria set out in this policy.  

If a child is currently being assessed under the statutory process for a statement of SEN or 
a local authority-maintained IDP, and at a later date, the local authority concludes that the 
child should have a statement of SEN or a local authority-maintained IDP, the appropriate 
school placement will be addressed as part of that statutory process. 

8.4     Children with disabilities

The local authority will comply with the reasonable adjustments duty owed to disabled pupils, 
as defined in the Equality Act 2010. 

8.5     Children with challenging behaviours

The local authority will not refuse to admit a child on the basis of his/her behaviour. Such 
children will include those who are considered to be potentially disruptive, exhibiting 
challenging behaviours or those who may be considered as requiring assessment for special 
educational needs. 

After admission, a school may consider such disciplinary action as appropriate, in response 
to challenging behaviour. However, children exhibiting challenging behaviours may be 

Page 66



Page 11 of 45

disabled as defined by the Equality Act 2010 and require reasonable adjustments to be 
made for them in school. 

8.6     Looked after and previously looked after children

In respect of looked after children, the following provisions apply even if the corporate parent 
is Bridgend County Borough Council.

Admissions rounds

Applications in respect of looked after and previously looked after children are prioritised 
under the applicable oversubscription criteria, subject to: 

1. The application for a looked after child is completed and submitted by the corporate 
parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for looking after the child) and 
supporting evidence is provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).  

2. The application for a previously looked after children is accompanied by supporting 
evidence from the former corporate parent.   

In-year admissions/transfers

In accordance with the statutory School Admissions Code 2013, where in-year 
admission/transfer of a looked after child is being sought, the corporate parent must consult 
with the local authority before making the application. This is to ensure the appropriateness 
of the preferred school in light of the child’s background and circumstances. This 
consultation and completion of an application is also required in respect of looked after 
children who have been permanently excluded from two or more schools.

Additionally, in the case of a looked after child who has been permanently excluded from 
two or more schools, the corporate parent must also consult with the governing body of the 
identified school. 

In both instances, the consultation need not be onerous.

For applications for in-year admission/transfers in respect of looked after children, a place 
will be offered at the agreed school and an exception to the infant class size limit (if relevant) 
will be applied, subject to the application having been completed and submitted by the 
corporate parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for the child) and supporting 
evidence having been provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).  

For applications for in-year admission/transfers in respect of previously looked after children, 
a place will be offered at the preferred school and an exception to the infant class size limit 
(if relevant) will be applied, subject to the application being accompanied by supporting 
evidence from the former corporate parent.   

The relevant supporting evidence referred to above must be submitted with the application. 

Page 67



Page 12 of 45

8.7     Gypsy, Roma and Traveller children

When considering admission applications relating to Gypsy, Roma and Traveller children, 
the local authority will take account of Welsh Government Circular No: 003/2008 (Moving 
Forward – Gypsy Traveller Education) and sections 3.25 and 3.26 of the statutory School 
Admissions Code for Wales, 2013.

8.8     Children of serving UK service personnel and other serving Crown Servants 
(including diplomats)

‘UK service personnel’ refers to persons serving in the military forces. ‘Crown Servants’ are 
officers of the UK government, including diplomats.  

There is no automatic right to a place at a preferred school for children of serving UK service 
personnel and other serving Crown Servants. 

The local authority will accept a ‘unit’ postal address for applications from serving service 
personnel in the absence of a new home postal address.

For normal admissions rounds, the local authority will treat children of serving UK service 
personnel and serving Crown Servants as if they are already resident at a future address 
provided that the application is accompanied by an official Ministry of Defence (MOD) or 
Foreign and Commonwealth Office (FCO) letter declaring a return date and confirmation of 
the new home. The local authority will allocate a school place in accordance with the 
applicable criteria for the relevant admission round. 

In respect of in-year admission/transfer applications for children of serving UK service 
personnel and serving Crown Servants:

  such children will be given ‘excepted status’ for infant class size limit purposes (if 
relevant), if admitted to a preferred school; 

  if the application is unsuccessful and a place at the preferred school is refused, the 
parents/carers may appeal against the decision and any appeal hearing would be 
heard as a normal prejudice appeal.    

Applications for children of former UK service personnel or former Crown Servants will be 
treated as all other applications. 

8.9     All vulnerable or hard-to-place children  

The provisions of this policy will apply.  However, in accordance with the requirements of 
the statutory School Admissions Code 2013, the local authority is additionally required to 

Page 68



Page 13 of 45

maintain fair access protocols for such children. The local authority has a panel whose role 
is to recommend placements that can meet the needs of these children.

8.10     School ‘managed moves’

The local authority has a separate policy for the managed moves (transfers) of pupils 
between schools. 

Managed moves of pupils are treated differently to regular admissions. The pupil will remain 
on roll at the current school during the managed move period. At the end of the managed 
move period, if the managed move is deemed successful, the pupil will be placed on roll at 
the receiving school. If the managed move is deemed to have been unsuccessful, the pupil 
will return to the school at which they are on roll.    

The Managed Move Policy does not apply in any instances where the parent/carer 
completes a school admission application; the School Admissions Policy applies in all such 
cases. 

9. Requests for admission outside of the normal age group

Occasionally, a parent/carer or school may seek a place outside of the chronological age 
group for a child who they consider to be gifted/talented or experiencing problems, or who 
has missed part of a school year, for example, due to ill health. 

The local authority will consider each request carefully and make decisions on the basis of 
the circumstances of each case. The local authority will consider what is most beneficial for 
the child and, in every case, will consider information from the parents/carers, the school,   
an educational psychologist and any other appropriate parties, to inform its decision. 

If the local authority decides that an out-of-year group application is appropriate, but that 
application is refused due to no places being available in the requested year group at the 
school, the parents/carers have a statutory right of appeal. However, there is no right of 
appeal if the local authority has offered a place but not in the requested year group (ie where 
the place offered is in the correct year group for the child’s chronological age).

If the local authority decides that an out-of-year group application is appropriate and the 
application is for a part-time nursery place in the following January or April, or a full-time 
nursery, reception, junior school Year 3 or secondary school Year 7 place from the following 
September, the application will be subject to, and considered in accordance with, the 
conditions and criteria applicable to those admissions rounds.  

10. Information or circumstances that the local authority does not 
consider when making admission decisions

Page 69



Page 14 of 45

The following is not an exhaustive list, but details the principle information and 
circumstances that have no bearing on admission decisions:

 Any school that the child has previously attended. 

 Any particular school that the child might attend in the future. 

 A parent/carer communicating to any school that there is an intention to apply for a 
place at the school. 

 An invitation to, or attendance by a child, at a ‘taster’/transition day at any school. 

 Allowance by any school of a visit by the parents/carers and/or child.

 Any indication either explicitly given, or assumed by a parent/carer to have been 
given, by a school that there are places available at the school in any year group, 
with the exception of sixth form places. This would include any instance when a 
parent/carer believes that they have ‘registered’ their child’s name for a place at the 
school.   

11. Equalities

The local authority’s admissions policy and arrangements seek to achieve full compliance 
with all relevant legislation and guidance, with regard to equal opportunities and human 
rights (Equality Act 2010, the Human Rights Act 1998, the Welsh Language Act 1993 and 
the Welsh Language (Wales) Measure 2011). 
 
The local authority wants its services to be accessible to the whole community and will 
challenge discrimination in our communities, whether it is based on a person’s transgender 
status, race, sex, disability, age, sexual orientation, religion or belief, pregnancy and 
maternity marriage or civil partnership.

The local authority’s Corporate Equality Scheme sets out how the local authority will comply 
with its Public Sector Equality Duty in the exercise of its functions, having due regard to the 
need to:

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited under the legislation;

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; and

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not.  

12. Data protection and information sharing 

The local authority complies with the General Data Protection Regulation (GDPR) and the 
Data Protection Act 2018. The full Data Protection guidance and principles of the local 
authority may be viewed on the website www.bridgend.gov.uk

Page 70

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


Page 15 of 45

Any information recorded by an applicant in a school admission application will be held 
electronically and used by the local authority for the purpose of processing the application. 

The local authority will share the information provided in a school admission application 
with the relevant school/s in accordance with the Fair Processing Statement – Education 
and Family Support, which is available at https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-
council/freedom-of-information/data-protection/           

13. Admissions rounds

13.1     Submission of applications 

The requirement to apply for a school place 

For both admissions rounds and in-year admissions/transfers, a school admission 
application must be completed by a parent/carer. 

A separate application is required for each child.

A child will not be permitted to start at a school until an application has been received and 
processed by the local authority, and a school place has been offered by the local authority.

The applicant

In respect of applications for nursery children and children of statutory school-age, the 
application must be made by a ‘parent’ of the child, as defined by Section 576 of the 
Education Act 1996.  This states that a ‘parent’, in relation to a child or young person, 
includes any person who is not a biological parent but who has parental responsibility, or 
who has care of the child.

Therefore, for the purposes of education law, a ‘parent’ is deemed to include:

 all biological parents, whether they are married or not;

 any person who, although not a biological parent, has parental responsibility for a 
child or young person - this could be an adoptive parent, a step-parent, guardian or 
other relative;

 any person who has care of a child or young person but is not a biological parent 
and does not have parental responsibility.  

A person typically has care of a child or young person if they are the person with whom the 
child lives, either full or part-time and who looks after the child, irrespective of what their 
biological or legal relationship is with the child.

The local authority uses the term ‘parent/carer’ throughout this policy to reflect the legal 
definition of ‘parent’, as detailed above. 

Page 71

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/freedom-of-information/data-protection/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/my-council/freedom-of-information/data-protection/


Page 16 of 45

The local authority will only accept an application from a person who is not a parent/carer if 
it is accompanied by an appropriate written authorisation from a parent/carer. 

An applicant will be required to make a declaration of the relationship to the child and provide 
such information as the local authority requires, including documentation, evidencing that 
relationship, at the time the admission application is submitted. 

The local authority expects that the parents/carers of a child reach agreement about the 
preferred school/s and who will submit the application, before a school admission application 
is submitted.  The local authority will not intervene in disputes between parents/carers over 
school applications and will expect that these are resolved privately.  If parents/carers 
cannot agree and a Court order stating who should be making the application and what the 
school preference/s should be has not been obtained, the local authority will proceed to 
accept the application from the parent/carer in receipt of Child Benefit for the child.

Applications in respect of post-16 admissions/transfers can be submitted by a parent/carer 
or the learner.

How to apply

Applications can be completed online through sign up to ‘My Account’ on the Bridgend 
County Borough Council website. 

Any parents/carers who do not have access to their own computer/laptop or smart phone, 
may use the computers available within the libraries in the county borough to sign up to My 
Account and complete a school admission application.  A parent/carer who remains unable 
to create a My Account and access the relevant online school admission application, may 
contact the local authority and request a hardcopy school admission application. 

If parents/carers permit completion and submission of a school admission application for 
their child through the My Account of a third party, the My Account holder will be deemed to 
be submitting the application on behalf of, and with the full authority of, the parents/carers 
of the child. In these circumstances, the parents/carers will be considered as accepting 
responsibility for the consequence of any errors or deficiencies in the completion of the 
application and/or the submission of the application. 

The local authority accepts no responsibility for the non-receipt of an application that 
is not submitted through the online facility. 

If the local authority’s arrangements for submission of admission applications should change 
before or during the effective dates of this policy, details will be published on the local 
authority’s website www.bridgend.gov.uk

Late applications

Page 72

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


Page 17 of 45

All applications should be submitted in time for receipt by the local authority by the relevant 
published closing dates.   

The local authority will accept late applications that are received after the relevant published 
closing date provided that the application is received before the local authority has 
undertaken its allocation of places in preparation for the admissions offer (this date will be 
determined by the local authority at the time but will be at least one month before the 
published offer date for places) and the local authority is satisfied as to the parents/carers’ 
reasons for the late application. 

All other late applications will not be accepted for inclusion in the allocation of places that 
will be notified to applicants on the relevant published offer dates.  Such applications will be 
processed by the local authority after the relevant published offer date and in order of date 
received. Oversubscription criteria will not apply; if a place is available in the preferred 
school at the time the application is processed, it will be offered. Therefore, late applicants 
may find that their preferred school is already full, even if the school is their catchment 
school.

No applications for admissions rounds that are received by the local authority after 31 
August 2022 will be processed.  After this date, an in-year admission/transfer application is 
required and all considerations applicable to in-year admission/transfer applications will be 
relevant. The local authority does not accept in-year admission/transfer applications made 
more than one half term in advance of the start date. Consequently, all applications for a 
part-time nursery class in April 2023 that are received after 31 August 2022 will not be 
processed until the spring term 2023.  

Applications in respect of looked after children and previously looked after children, or 
children with a statement of SEN or an IDP that names a specific school, will not be treated 
as late applications regardless of when the application is received. 
 

13.2     Nursery class admissions rounds

Nursery education is non-statutory; however, in Wales, children are entitled to a free, part-
time, early-years education place from the start of the term following their third birthday. The 
place can either be at a local authority-maintained school (‘LA-maintained’), or within the 
non-maintained sector with a registered early year’s provider. This policy applies only to 
admissions to nursery classes in LA-maintained schools. 

The local authority is the admissions authority for nursery classes in LA-maintained schools 
in Bridgend County Borough. Parents/carers who wish to apply for a nursery place at a 
voluntary aided school must approach that school directly.

Places at LA-maintained schools are part-time for three-year-olds (Nursery Year 1) and full-
time for four-year-olds (Nursery Year 2). Although nursery education is non-statutory, the 
local authority expects all children who are offered a part-time place to attend for five half 
days per school week and all children who are offered a full-time place to attend for five full 
days per school week.   

Page 73



Page 18 of 45

A school admission (nursery) application must be completed by the parents/carers of 
eligible children for admissions to nursery classes in LA-maintained schools. 

A child will only be permitted to attend a nursery class at a LA-maintained school if the 
relevant application has been submitted and the local authority has formally offered a place 
at that school. 
 
Children who are admitted to a part-time nursery class of a LA-maintained school do not 
have an automatic right to a full-time nursery place at the same school.  All 
parents/carers of children attending a part-time nursery class, whether residing within or 
outside the defined catchment area, must complete a school admission application for a full-
time nursery year place, at the appropriate time, indicating their school preference/s.   

Children who are admitted to a full-time nursery class of a LA-maintained school do not 
have an automatic right to a reception year place at the same school.  All parents/carers 
of children attending a full-time nursery class, whether residing within or outside the defined 
catchment area, must complete a school admission application for a reception year place, 
at the appropriate time, indicating their school preference/s.   

As nursery education is non-statutory, parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of 
decisions on nursery class admissions. 

Timetable for nursery admissions 2022-2023

The timetable for nursery admissions is not governed by the School Admissions Code 2013. 
The local authority’s expected timetable for processing applications for nursery admissions 
for 2022-2023 is as follows:

Full-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 September 2018 and 31 
August 2019, starting in a full-time nursery class in September 2022:

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am  
Monday, 10 January 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority

4pm 
Friday, 25 March 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places 
(the ‘offer date’) Monday, 16 May 2022

Part-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 September 2019 and 31 
December 2019, starting in a part-time nursery class in January 2023:

Page 74



Page 19 of 45

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am 
Monday 10 January 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority 

4pm 
Friday 27 August 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places By 31 October 2022

Part-time nursery class admissions - pupils born between 1 January 2020 and 31 
March 2020, starting in a part-time nursery class in April 2023:

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am 
Monday 10 January 2022

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority 

4pm 
Friday 27 August 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places By 31 October 2022

Allocation of full-time nursery class places in English-medium, non-faith schools

The local authority will normally only admit up to the equivalent of the school’s published 
admission number when allocating full-time nursery places.  

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons

3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment 
area.  

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criterion, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

Page 75



Page 20 of 45

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area 
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date 
for submission of the relevant school admission applications that the child will be 
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the commencement of the 
school term to which the application relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criterion, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023.  

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.  

5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any 
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate.  

Allocation of full-time nursery class places in Welsh-medium and faith schools

The local authority will normally only admit up to the equivalent of the school’s published 
admission number when allocating full-time nursery places.  

Page 76



Page 21 of 45

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons

3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023.  

4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority 
will also admit the other sibling/s.

Allocation of part-time nursery class places in English-medium, non-faith schools

In determining the number of part-time nursery places available for allocation in any school, 
the local authority will take into account the capacity of the accommodation used for nursery 
pupils, the published admission number and the number of full-time nursery pupils already 
on roll at the school.  

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age 
of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery place from January 2023 or April 2023) who are looked after or previously 
looked after and children for whom the school is the named placement in the 
statement of SEN or local authority-maintained IDP. 

 

2. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a 
part-time nursery place from January 2023 or April 2023) for whom the local 
authority has received and accepted written evidence from a relevant professional/s 
that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or compelling social 
reasons.

Page 77



Page 22 of 45

3. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 December 2019 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-
time nursery place from January 2023) and whose place of ordinary residence is 
within the school’s defined catchment area.  

Where a school is over-subscribed the local authority will allocate the places in the 
following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

4. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 December 2019 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-
time nursery place from January 2023) who are not currently ordinarily resident within 
the school’s defined catchment area but whose parents/carers have satisfied the local 
authority, by the published closing date for submission of the relevant school 
admission applications, that the child will be ordinarily resident within the defined 
catchment area by the commencement of the school term to which the application 
relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

5. Children born between 1 September 2019 and December 2019 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-
time nursery pace from January 2023) whose place of ordinary residence is outside 
the school’s defined catchment area. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

Page 78



Page 23 of 45

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

6. Children born between 1 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age of 
three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery place from April 2023) whose place of ordinary residence is within the 
school’s defined catchment area.  

Where a school is over-subscribed the local authority will allocate the places in the 
following order of priority:

c) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

d) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

7. Children born between 1 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age of 
three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery place from April 2023) who are not currently ordinarily resident within the 
school’s defined catchment area but whose parents/carers have satisfied the local 
authority, by the published closing date for submission of the relevant school 
admission applications, that the child will be ordinarily resident within the defined 
catchment area by the commencement of the school term to which the application 
relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

c) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

d) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

Page 79



Page 24 of 45

8. Children born between 1 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age of 
three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery pace from April 2023) whose place of ordinary residence is outside the 
school’s defined catchment area.  

Where a school is over-subscribed the local authority will allocate the places in the 
following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from the reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

Allocation of part-time nursery class places in Welsh-medium and faith schools

In determining the number of part-time nursery places available for allocation in any school, 
the local authority will take into account the capacity of the accommodation used for nursery 
pupils, the published admission number and the number of full-time nursery pupils already 
on roll at the school.  

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age 
of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery place from January 2023 or April 2023) who are looked after or previously 
looked after and children for whom the school is the named placement in the 
statement of SEN or local authority-maintained IDP. 

 

2. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a 
part-time nursery place from January 2023 or April 2023) for whom the local 
authority has received and accepted written evidence from a relevant professional/s 
that the placement is essential for medical, psychological, or compelling social 
reasons.

3. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 December 2019 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-

Page 80



Page 25 of 45

time nursery place from January 2023) who will have a sibling at the school in any 
age group from the reception year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

4. Children born between 1 September 2019 and 31 December 2019 who will attain the 
age of three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-
time nursery place from January 2023) on the basis of proximity to school, as 
measured by the shortest available walking route from the place of ordinary residence 
to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

5. Children born between 1 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age of 
three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery place from April 2023) who will have a sibling at the school in any age group 
from the reception year to Year 6 in the academic year 2022-2023. 

6. Children born between 1 January 2020 and 31 March 2020 who will attain the age of 
three in the academic year 2022-2023 (these children will be eligible for a part-time 
nursery pace from April 2023) on the basis of proximity to school, as measured by 
the shortest available walking route from the place of ordinary residence to the 
nearest openly accessible school gate. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority 
will also admit the other sibling/s.

13.3     Primary/infant school admission round (reception year)

The relevant age group for the reception year is 4-5 years. 

Every child is required by law to receive full-time education from the beginning of the school 
term after his/her fifth birthday.  In the Bridgend County Borough, children are normally 
admitted to the reception year in the September following their fourth birthday. However, 
parents/carers have the option of deferring their child’s entry to the reception year until later 
in the same school year. The deferment cannot continue beyond the beginning of the term 
after the child’s fifth birthday, nor beyond the school year for which the original admission 
application was accepted by the local authority. Where the parent/carer wishes to defer the 
child’s entry to the reception year as detailed, the local authority will hold a place for the 
child.

An application for a reception year place must be submitted. There is no automatic 
admission to the reception year at any primary or infant school, regardless of the 
school at which the child may be attending a nursery class.    

Timetable for reception year admissions for September 2022

Page 81



Page 26 of 45

The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2017 and 31 August 2018, 
entering a reception class in September 2022 is as follows:

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am
Monday 22 November 2021

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority

4pm 
Friday 11 February 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places 
(the ‘offer date’) Tuesday 19 April 2022

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal 4pm
Tuesday 17 May 2022

Allocation of reception year places for September 2022 in English-medium, non-faith 
schools

The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and 
will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons

 

3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment 
area.  

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to 
Year 6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infants 
schools, attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

Page 82



Page 27 of 45

      When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area 
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing 
date for submission of the relevant school admission applications that the child will 
be ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the commencement of 
the school term to which the application relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to 
Year 6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infants 
schools, attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from 
the place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for 
any remaining places in the order of priority set out below:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to 
Year 6 in respect of primary schools, or Year 1 and Year 2 in respect of infants 
schools, attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from 
the place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

Allocation of reception year places for September 2022 in Welsh-medium and faith schools

The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and 
will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.

Page 83



Page 28 of 45

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons

 

3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 1 to Year 6 
attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

  When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority 
will also admit the other sibling/s.

13.4     Junior school admission round (Year 3)

In primary schools, the infant and junior sections are simply departments of the same school 
and children progress through the school from the infants to juniors without having to transfer 
elsewhere. Parents/carers are therefore not required to complete a school admission 
application, since the children are already regarded as registered pupils in the primary 
school.

Children attending Year 2 in an infant school do not automatically transfer to Year 3 at junior 
school. An application for a Year 3 place at junior school must be submitted.  There is no 
automatic admission to a junior school or any primary school regardless of the infant 
school or primary school that a child currently attends.   

Children normally enter Year 3 in junior school at the beginning of the academic year 
following their seventh birthday. 

In Bridgend, there is one junior school ie Llangewydd Junior School, which is an English-
medium school.

If parents/carers do not wish their child to attend Year 3 at junior school and instead wish 
for their child to attend Year 3 at a standard primary school, an in-year admission/transfer 
application must be submitted.  Parents/carers should note that places in Year 3 in a 

Page 84



Page 29 of 45

standard primary school may be very limited or unavailable. Also, that the local authority will 
not make admission decisions in respect of in-year admission/transfer applications for a 
September 2022 start date until Easter 2022.  

Timetable for Year 3 junior school admissions for September 2022

The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2014 and 31 August 2015, 
moving from infants school (Year 2) to junior school (Year 3) in September 2022 is as 
follows:

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am
Monday 22 November 2021

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority

4pm 
Friday 11 February 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places 
(the ‘offer date’) Tuesday 19 April 2022

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal 4pm 
Tuesday 17 May 2022

Allocation of Year 3 junior school places for September 2022

The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and 
will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons

3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment 
area.  

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

Page 85



Page 30 of 45

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to Year 
6 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

      When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area 
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date 
for submission of the relevant school admission applications that the child will be 
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the commencement of the 
school term to which the application relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to 
Year 6 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any 
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:

b) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 4 to Year 
6 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local 
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

c) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

13.5     Secondary school admission round (Year 7)

Children normally enter Year 7 in secondary school at the beginning of the academic year 
following their eleventh birthday. 

Page 86



Page 31 of 45

An application for a Year 7 place must be submitted. There is no automatic admission to 
any secondary school, regardless of the primary or junior school that a child currently 
attends.   

In Bridgend, there is one Welsh-medium secondary school (ie Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg 
Llangynwyd). There is one faith secondary school (ie Archbishop McGrath Catholic High 
School), for which the local authority is not the admission authority.  All other secondary 
schools are English-medium.

Timetable for Year 7 secondary school admissions for September 2022

The expected timetable for children born between 1 September 2010 and 31 August 2011, 
transferring from junior/primary school (Year 6) to secondary school (Year 7) in September 
2022 is as follows:  

Action Date

Opening date for submission of applications 10am 
Monday 18 October 2021

Closing date for receipt of applications by the local 
authority

4pm 
Friday 21 January 2022

Notification to applicants of offer or refusal of places
(the ‘offer date’) Tuesday 1 March 2022

Closing date for parents/carers to submit an appeal 4pm 
Tuesday 29 March 2022

Allocation of Year 7 secondary school places for September 2022 for English-medium 
schools

The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and 
will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

 
2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 

from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons.

Page 87



Page 32 of 45

3. Children whose place of ordinary residence is within the school’s defined catchment 
area.  

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year 
11 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

      When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the 
local authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

4. Children not currently ordinarily resident within the school’s defined catchment area 
whose parents/carers have satisfied the local authority, by the published closing date 
for submission of the relevant school admission applications that the child will be 
ordinarily resident within the defined catchment area by the commencement of the 
school term to which the application relates. 

Where a school is oversubscribed under this criteria, the local authority will allocate 
the places in the following order of priority:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year 
11 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local 
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

5. Children living outside the school’s defined catchment area will be considered for any 
remaining places in the order of priority set out below:

a) Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year 
11 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local 
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

b) Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

Page 88



Page 33 of 45

Allocation of Year 7 secondary school places for September 2022 for the Welsh-medium 
school, Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd.

The local authority will admit children up to the school’s published admission number and 
will only exceed the published admission number in exceptional circumstances.

Where the number of applications exceeds the number of places available, the local 
authority will apply the following oversubscription criteria, in order of priority, to allocate 
the places available:

1. Children who are looked after or previously looked after and children for whom the 
school is the named placement in the statement of SEN or local authority-maintained 
IDP. 

 

2. Children for whom the local authority has received and accepted written evidence 
from a relevant professional/s that the placement is essential for medical, 
psychological, or compelling social reasons.

3. Children who will have a sibling at the school in any age group from Year 8 to Year 
11 attending the school in the academic year 2022-2023. 
    

4. Proximity to school, as measured by the shortest available walking route from the 
place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly accessible school gate. 

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local 
authority will also admit the other sibling/s.

14. Explanations of oversubscription criteria

14.1     Looked after and previously looked after children

The local authority is under a duty to give looked after and previously looked after children 
the highest priority in the oversubscription criteria. 

In the case of a looked after child, the school admission application must be completed and 
submitted by the corporate parent (ie the local authority with responsibility for the child) and 
supporting evidence must be provided (a Care Order or Interim Care Order).  

In the case of previously looked after children, the school admission application must be 
accompanied by supporting evidence from the former corporate parent.   

The relevant supporting evidence must be submitted with the application. 

Page 89



Page 34 of 45

14.2    Children in receipt of a statement of special educational needs (SEN) or a local 
authority-maintained individual development plan (IDP) 

To satisfy this criterion, the child must have a statement of SEN or a local authority 
maintained IDP and the application is in respect of a mainstream place at a preferred 
community school. 

14.3   Children for whom a placement is essential for medical, psychological, or 
compelling social reasons

To satisfy this criterion:

1. applicants must provide supporting written evidence from a relevant professional/s, 
ie a registered health professional and/or a social worker, that states the reasons why 
the preferred school is the most suitable school and what difficulties would arise if the 
child had to attend another school. The evidence must be dated no more than three 
months prior to the application submission date; and 

2. that written evidence is accepted by the local authority as sufficient to determine that 
placement at the preferred school is essential for the child. 

Evidence that purely confirms a child’s diagnosis or circumstances does not satisfy this 
criterion. 

Applications in respect of young carers will be considered under this criterion subject to 
provision of the necessary evidence, as set out above. 

The local authority expects the applicant to provide the required written evidence at the time 
the application is submitted. If this is not possible, the local authority must be advised of 
and satisfied as to the reasons and the required written evidence must then be provided 
prior to the closing date of the admission round.  If the required written evidence is not 
provided to the local authority before the closing of the admission round, the application will 
not be prioritised under this criterion.

14.4     Child’s address / place of ordinary residence

Applicants must record the current address at which the child is ordinarily resident on a 
school admission application. 

When considering whether a child lives in a school’s catchment area (English-medium, non-
faith schools) or the proximity to the school (Welsh-medium and faith schools), it is the child’s 
place of ordinary residence that the local authority considers to be the home address and 
satisfying the relevant admissions criteria. 

Page 90



Page 35 of 45

Where the child’s parents/carers are not living together but have shared responsibility for 
the child, and the child lives with each parent/carer for part of the periods during which the 
child receives education, the child will be considered as being ordinarily resident at the 
places where each of the parents/carers is ordinarily resident. Accordingly, the local 
authority will accept the address of either parent/carer as being the child’s place of ordinary 
residence. 

Changes to the child’s address / place of ordinary residence

If the child’s place of ordinary residence changes after the school admission application has 
been submitted:

1. The local authority must be notified immediately in writing (email or letter). 

2. If the change is notified to the local authority before the closing date for the admission 
round, the change will be taken into consideration in the application of 
oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places. 

3. If the change is notified to the local authority after the closing date for the admission 
round, the place of ordinary residence recorded on the application will be used in the 
application of oversubscription criteria and the allocation of places. The applicant will 
have the option to complete and submit a late application if the allocated place is at 
a school that is no longer the preferred school, which would be subject to the 
provisions relevant to late applications (see section 13.1). 

4. If the applicant does not inform the local authority of a change of ordinary residence 
prior to the child date on which the child would start school, the local authority will 
take the action detailed below under ‘provision of false or misleading information’. 

Applications made on the basis of a future change in the place of ordinary residence

Where the applicant is in the process of a house move at the time that the application is 
submitted and is expressing a preference for a school that is the catchment school for the 
future address (English-medium, non-faith schools) or the most proximate school for the 
future address (Welsh-medium and faith schools), the applicant must record this on the 
application form and must provide the following evidence to the local authority:

 written evidence from a solicitor that the house sale has been completed, contracts 
have been exchanged and that a moving date has been agreed such that the child 
will be resident at the new address by the commencement of the school term to which 
the application relates; or   

 a written tenancy agreement evidencing that the child will be resident at the new 
address by the commencement of the school term to which the application relates.   

All required evidence must be received by the local authority prior to the closing date for the 
admission round and it is the responsibility of the applicant to provide the required evidence 
to the local authority by that date closing date. If the required evidence is not received prior 
to the closing date, the application will be treated as an out of catchment application for the 

Page 91



Page 36 of 45

preferred school/s (English-medium, non-faith schools) or the proximity to the preferred 
school (Welsh-medium and faith schools) will be calculated using the current address. 

If the evidence does not confirm that the child will be resident at the new address by the 
commencement of the school term to which the application relates, the application will be 
treated as an out of catchment application for the preferred school/s. 

Provision of false or misleading information 

Where a parent/carer provides fraudulent or intentionally misleading information relating to 
the child’s place of ordinary residence (this includes the failure to notify the local authority of 
changes to the place of ordinary residence) in order to obtain the advantage of a particular 
school placement to which the child would otherwise not be entitled, the local authority 
reserves the right to withdraw the offer of a place. 

Where a place is withdrawn, the application will be considered afresh based on the accurate 
place of ordinary residence, and a right of appeal will be offered if a place at the preferred 
school/s is refused. 

Where there is doubt about the child’s place of ordinary residence, the local authority 
reserves the right to seek further verification from the applicant in the form of documentary 
evidence, which may include, but not necessarily be limited to, a utility bill or council tax 
statement. If the local authority is not satisfied by the evidence provided and a place has 
already been offered, the local authority reserves the right to withdraw the offer. 

14.5     Siblings

A sibling is classified as a half or full brother/sister, a step-brother/sister, an adopted 
brother/sister, or a child living in the same household. 

An application will be considered under the sibling criterion if the following conditions are 
met:

1. the full sibling details are recorded on the application; and

2. the sibling and the child who is the subject of the application will be attending the 
same school at the same time and the sibling is of statutory school-age. 

This means that for reception year applications, the sibling must be Year 1 to Year 6 
in the academic year for which the application is being made. For Year 3 junior school 
applications, the sibling must be in Year 4 to Year 6 in the academic year for which 
the application is being made. For Year 7 secondary school applications, the sibling 
must be in Year 8 to Year 11 in the academic year for which the application is being 
made. 

For full-time nursery and part-time nursery applications, the sibling must be reception 
year to Year 6 in the academic year for which the application is being made.  As there 
is significant similarity in the timetables for the reception, full-time nursery and part-
time nursery admissions rounds, a parent/carer may not have been notified of the 
outcome of a reception application for a child when completing a full-time or part-time 

Page 92



Page 37 of 45

nursery application for another child. The parent/carer will be able to record the details 
of the child for whom a reception application has been submitted but the sibling 
criterion will not be met if the local authority does not subsequently offer a reception 
place at the relevant school to the sibling. 

Provision of false or misleading information 

Where a parent/carer provides fraudulent or intentionally misleading information relating to 
the sibling criterion in order to obtain the advantage of a particular school placement to which 
the child would otherwise not be entitled, the local authority reserves the right to withdraw 
the offer of a place. 

Where a place is withdrawn, the application will be considered afresh based on the accurate 
information, and a right of appeal will be offered if a place at the preferred school/s is refused. 

 
14.6    Multiple birth children

A multiple birth is defined as the birth of more than one baby from a single pregnancy (eg 
the birth of twins or triplets).

When allocating places, if the last place is offered to a multiple birth child, the local authority 
will also admit the other sibling/s.

14.7     Proximity to school

The measurement will be from the child’s place of ordinary residence to the nearest openly 
accessible school gate through which pupils may enter the school grounds.

It will be for the local authority to determine whether any entrance at any school does or 
does not constitute an openly accessible school gate. 

In respect of residences that are within blocks of flats, the distance will be calculated from 
the front entrance of each flat. 

The distances will be calculated to four decimal places.

The local authority uses software to measure all distances within the Bridgend County 
Borough that takes into account the assessed, available walking routes to the school/s.  The 
local authority will not take into account any other walking routes to a school that a 
parent/carer may choose to use.   

For applications where the child’s place of ordinary residence is outside the Bridgend County 
Borough, the distance will be measured using publicly-available web-based services. 

Page 93



Page 38 of 45

15. The offer process for admissions rounds

15.1     Offer dates

The School Admissions Code 2013 sets out how admission authorities in Wales must 
identify the offer date for primary school (reception), junior school and secondary school 
admissions rounds. The relevant offer dates for all admissions rounds for 2022-2023 are 
detailed in section 13.

15.2     Communication of the outcome

Parents/carers who submit an application by the published closing date of an admission 
round, or parents/carers whose late application has been accepted by the local authority for 
inclusion in the allocation of places, will be notified in writing of the outcome of their school 
admission or in-year school admission/transfer application.   

Parents/carers may not expect that the outcome of their application will be communicated 
verbally.

If the application is refused, the notification will set out the reasons for the decision and will 
advise parents/carers on the appeal process. As nursery education is non-statutory, 
parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of unsuccessful nursery class 
applications.   

15.3     Waiting lists

The local authority maintains waiting lists for oversubscribed schools. If a place at the 
preferred school is not offered, the child will be automatically included in the waiting list for 
the school unless the parent/carer expressly advises the local authority that this action is 
not required. 

For the admissions rounds, children will remain on the waiting list, for any school at which 
they have been refused a place, until 30 September 2022. Children will automatically be 
removed from the waiting list/s after this date. 

If additional places become available at a school, they will be allocated to children on the 
waiting list on the basis of the published oversubscription criteria (see sections 15 and 16) 
and not the length of time a child has been on the waiting list.

16. In-year admissions / transfers

16.1     Circumstances in which an in-year admission/transfer application is required

An in-year admission/transfer application must be completed in any of the following 
circumstances: 

Page 94



Page 39 of 45

1. If a child moves into Bridgend County Borough during the course of an academic year 
and the parents/carers wish the child to attend a school for which the local authority 
is the admission authority. 

2. If the parents/carers wish their child/ren to move to a different school within the 
Bridgend County Borough during the course of an academic year and the 
parents/carers wish the child to move to a school for which the local authority is the 
admission authority. 

3. If an application for an admission round has not been completed and submitted to the 
local authority by 31 August 2022 (ie an application is being submitted on or after the 
official start date of the 2022-2023 academic year).  

 
16.2     School transfers

Parents/carers who wish to apply for a place at a different school for reasons other than a 
change of ordinary residence are advised to carefully consider the information available on 
www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions. 

Parents/carers should talk to the headteacher of the pupil’s current school about the reasons 
for a change of school being considered. There is a significant amount of research 
evidencing that changing schools is disruptive and can have a negative impact on a pupil’s 
attainment. There are many reasons for this. It is particularly important that careful 
consideration is given to the impacts of moving pupils in Year 10 and Year 11, who would 
have already begun to study for their chosen GCSE subjects, as those GCSE subjects may 
not be available at a different school.

16.3     ‘Advance’ requests

It is not fair and equitable for the local authority to hold places open for children for undue 
periods of time. Accordingly, the local authority will only accept ‘advance’ in-year school 
admission/transfer applications, ie for a future admission date, where that requested 
admission date is in the period up to the end of the following half term and the local authority 
is satisfied as to the reasons for the advance request. 

16.4     Availability of places 

Section 4 provides information regarding school capacities and published admission 
numbers, which the local authority uses to determine whether places are available.  

As the number of pupils on roll in any school can change on a frequent basis, the local 
authority will not provide information on the availability of places in any year group at any 
school in advance of an in-year school admission/transfer application being submitted. 

16.5     Consideration of applications 

Page 95

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions


Page 40 of 45

In-year school admission/transfer applications are considered by the local authority in strict 
order of date received. 

For in-year admissions/transfers, whether the child lives in or out of the catchment area of 
the requested school (English-medium, non-faith schools) or the proximity to the school 
(Welsh-medium and faith schools), is of no relevance to the local authority’s decision on 
whether a place at the requested school can be offered. (However, it is of relevance to the 
determination of whether there is eligibility or not for the provision of free home-to-school 
transport.)  

If there is no place available in the relevant year group at the requested school, the local 
authority child will refuse admission to that school unless the circumstances are such that 
the local authority considers an exception should be made. 

Where there is a place in the relevant year group at the requested school but the in-year 
school admission/transfer application is not made in consequence of a change in the child’s 
ordinary residence, or the circumstances are such that the local authority determines there 
is no need for an immediate move of school, the local authority will automatically defer 
the admission to the start of the following school term. This is to minimise disruption to 
the education of both the child and the other children at the school. However, if both the 
current and the preferred school jointly advise the local authority that they are able to support 
the child’s immediate admission, the local authority will admit the child accordingly. 

16.6     Communication of the outcome

Applicants will be notified in writing of the outcome of their in-year school admission/transfer 
application within 15 school days or 28 calendar days of the date of the application being 
received, whichever is the sooner.   

Parents/carers may not expect that the outcome of their application will be communicated 
verbally.

If the application is refused, the notification will set out the reasons for the decision and will 
advise parents/carers on the appeal process. As nursery education is non-statutory, 
parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of unsuccessful nursery class 
applications.   

16.7  Offer of a place at an alternative school

If a place at the preferred school is refused, the local authority will either offer a place at the 
nearest alternative school that has an available place in the relevant year or explain why 
such an offer cannot be made (eg where the nearest alternative school is the child’s current 
school). The offer of a place at the nearest alternative school will be open for 10 days from 
the date of the local authority’s letter and will automatically expire if not accepted within that 
period. 

Page 96



Page 41 of 45

If the offer of a place at the nearest alternative school is not accepted, or is expressly 
refused, the parent/carer must submit a new application if seeking a place at any other 
preferred school. 
  

16.8     Waiting lists

The local authority maintains waiting lists for oversubscribed schools. If a place at the 
preferred school is not offered, the child will be automatically included in the waiting list for 
the school unless the parent/carer expressly advises the local authority that this action is 
not required. 

For all in-year admission/transfer applications, children will remain on the waiting list for any 
school at which they have been refused for a period of three months from the date of the 
refusal letter. Children will automatically be removed from the waiting list/s after these 
periods have elapsed. 

Submission of a new in-year admission/transfer application for the same school does not 
renew a child’s place on a waiting list. If a new in-year admission/transfer application is 
submitted and is refused, the child will be recorded as a new entry to the waiting list from 
the date of the refusal letter.

Registration of an admission appeal does not extend a child’s time on the waiting list, 
irrespective of the date for the admission appeal hearing.

If additional places become available at a school, they will be allocated to children on the 
waiting list on the basis of the published oversubscription criteria (see sections 15 and 16) 
and not the length of time a child has been on the waiting list. 

A place cannot be allocated to a child who is not on the waiting list.

17. Admission appeals

17.1     General

School admission appeals are conducted in accordance with Welsh Government’s School 
Admission Appeals Code 2013. 

Any person who is considering an appeal is strongly recommended to read this School 
Admissions Policy 2021-2022, the School Admissions Code 2013 and the School Admission 
Appeals Code 2013 in full. 

In the vast majority of cases, children are offered places in line with the expressed 
preference for a specific school.  If, however, a child is unable to gain admission to the 
preferred school, parents/carers or post-16 learners may choose to appeal to an 
independent appeal panel.  

Page 97



Page 42 of 45

Parents/carers/ or post-16 learners may accept a place offered at an alternative school while 
pursuing a place at the preferred school.  The independent appeal panel will consider the 
grounds put forward by appellant/s and determine whether the merits of the case outweigh 
the case presented by the local authority.  

As nursery education is non-statutory, parents/carers have no right of appeal in respect of 
decisions on nursery class admissions. 

17.2     Registering an appeal

Persons who may register an appeal

In respect of appeal registrations for children of statutory school-age, the appeal must be 
registered by the parent/carer, as defined in section 13.

The local authority will only accept an appeal registration from a person who is not a 
parent/carer if it is accompanied by an appropriate written authorisation from a parent/carer. 

The person registering the appeal will be required to make a declaration of the relationship 
to the child and provide such information as the local authority requires, including 
documentation, evidencing that relationship, at the time the appeal registration is submitted. 
The person registering the appeal will not be required to submit such if it has already been 
submitted in support of the admission application.   

Appeals in respect of post-16 admissions/transfers can be registered by either a 
parent/carer or the learner.

Timescale for registering an appeal

In the case of appeals relating to the refusal of places in an admissions round, the appeal 
must be registered with the local authority by the closing date as detailed in section 13.

In the case of appeals relating to the refusal of a place following submission of an in-year 
admission/transfer application, the appeal must be registered with the local authority within 
10 working days of the date of the written notification of the refusal. 

How to register an appeal

An appeal must be registered in writing. 

Persons registering an appeal are able to complete a school admission appeal registration 
online by signing up to My Account on the Bridgend County Borough Council website. 
Guidance on completing the registration is available on: 
www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions

Page 98

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions


Page 43 of 45

Any person who does not have access to a computer/laptop or smart phone, may use the 
computers available within the libraries in the Bridgend County Borough to sign up to My 
Account and complete an online registration. A person who remains unable to access the 
online registration may contact Bridgend County Borough Council on telephone number 
01656 643643 to request a hardcopy registration.

The local authority accepts no responsibility for the non-receipt of an appeal 
registration that is not submitted through the online facility. 

17.3     Arrangements for the appeal hearing

The local authority will refer the appeal to an independent appeal panel.  The clerk to the 
panel will arrange a time and place for the hearing.  

Appellants will have the opportunity of attending the panel hearing and making their 
representations (oral and/or written).

Appellants are advised that:

1. They may elect not to attend the appeal meeting and, instead, allow the appeal to be 
considered on a written statement.

2. The appeal will be decided on the information available if parents/carers have 
indicated an intention to attend the appeal but do not do so, and fail to provide a 
reasonable explanation. 

3. If appellants cannot attend on the scheduled date and it is not reasonably practicable 
to offer an adjourned hearing, the appeal will be decided on the information available. 

4. Appellants will be given at least 14 days (10 working days) written notice of the 
meeting of the appeal panel, unless they agree to a shorter period.  The appellant 
should confirm this in writing to the clerk to the panel.

Appellants may be accompanied at a panel hearing by a friend or adviser or an interpreter, 
however, local authority councillors are not permitted to attend.  Appellants are requested 
to inform the clerk to the independent appeal panel of any representation at least seven 
days before the hearing.  

Organisations such as ACE (The Advisory Centre for Education) may be able to provide 
assistance to parents/carers in relation to school admission appeals. Information is available 
from the organisation’s website www.ace-ed.org.uk

17.4     Repeat appeals

Parents/carers and post-16 learners do not have a right to a second appeal in respect of the 
same school and the same academic year except where:

Page 99

http://www.ace-ed.org.uk/


Page 44 of 45

 there were faults in the first appeal process and there is a significant possibility that 
the outcome might have been affected by the faults (this may be on the 
recommendation of the Public Services Ombudsman for Wales); or

 a fresh application is accepted because there has been a significant and material 
change in the circumstances of the parent/carer or child and that application has also 
been refused. Common examples of where a fresh application is considered are 
where a family has moved address or there are new medical reasons pertaining to 
the choice of school.

Parents/carers and post-16 learners who appeal unsuccessfully may re-apply for a place at 
the same school in respect of a later academic year (but subject to the timescales set out in 
section 13). Parents/carers and post-16 learners will have a right to appeal if that application 
is refused. 

Any information provided by an appellant a school admission appeal registration will be held 
electronically and used by local authority for the purpose of processing the admission appeal 
request. 

18. The Bridgend Admission Forum

The local authority is under a statutory duty to establish an admission forum. 

The Bridgend Admission Forum is constituted in accordance with Annex D of the statutory 
School Admissions Code 2013. 

The role of the forum is to help ensure that the school admissions system in Bridgend is fair, 
straightforward and easy for parents/carers to understand. The forum is responsible for 
monitoring the local authority’s compliance with the statutory School Admissions Code 2013 
and may advise the local authority on ways in which admission arrangements could be 
improved. 

The terms of reference, meeting agendas, meeting minutes and annual reports of the 
Bridgend Admission Forum are published on the local authority’s website at: 
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/schools-and-education/school-admissions/school-
admissions-forum/

19. Additional information

In addition to the sources of information already detailed, the local authority’s Starting School 
Prospectus for 2021-2022 provides further and additional information on matters associated 
with school admissions and starting school. 

20. Queries

Page 100

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/schools-and-education/school-admissions/school-admissions-forum/
https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/residents/schools-and-education/school-admissions/school-admissions-forum/


Page 45 of 45

Queries in relation to this policy and the admissions or appeal registration processes may 
be directed to the Learner Support Team as follows:  

E-mail: pupilservices@bridgend.gov.uk

Tel No: 01656 642622

Address: Learner Support 
Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

This policy is published on the Bridgend County Borough Council website:
www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions

Page 101

mailto:pupilservices@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/schooladmissions


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

CARE HOME SERVICES – FUNDING AND CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMNTS

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is:

1.1.1 to provide Cabinet with the feedback received from care home providers in respect 
of the viability of establishing an openly procured flexible framework of care home 
providers, as approved by Cabinet in March 2020. 

1.1.2 to seek approval to continue the waiver under Contract Procedure Rule 3.2.3, from 
the requirement to competitively tender the provision of residential and nursing care 
home services, based on this feedback received and the risks set out in the report.

1.1.3 to seek approval to enter into new contracts with existing residential and nursing care 
providers, and enter into contracts with any new providers identified by the Local 
Authority, for a contract period of up to six years.

1.1.4 to set out the fee-setting approach undertaken for the care home sector in 2021/22.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background 

3.1 Part 9 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014 (“the Act”) requires 
local authorities to make arrangements to promote co-operation with their relevant 

Page 103

Agenda Item 9



partners and others, in relation to adults with needs for care and support, carers and 
children. 

3.2 Section 144B of the Act requires local authorities to prepare and publish market 
stability reports, including an assessment of the sufficiency of care and support and 
of the stability of the market for regulated services within the local authority area.

3.3 Previously in February 2014, and subsequently in September 2016, Cabinet have 
approved waivers under Contract Procedure Rule (CPR) 3.2.3, from the requirement 
to competitively tender the provision of residential and nursing care home services. 

3.4 The waivers were approved on the basis that the existing providers were the only 
tenderers who could technically provide such a service, due to statutory restrictions 
in respect of the Council’s obligation to set appropriate fees, which means that there 
is no competitive market place available for these services. It remains to be the case 
that the Council sets fee levels and as a result there is no competitive market place 
available for these services.

3.5 The decisions made above were in keeping with the Care and Support (Choice of 
Accommodation) (Wales) Regulations 2015, which state that: Where - 

(a) a local authority is going to meet needs under sections 35 to 38 of the Act by 
providing or arranging for the provision of care home accommodation in the United 
Kingdom;

(b) the person for whom the accommodation is to be provided expresses a preference 
for a particular care home; and

(c) the conditions in regulation 3 are met

The local authority must provide or arrange for the provision of the preferred 
accommodation in accordance with these Regulations. In essence, this means it is 
an individual’s choice in respect of their where to live, and this is not (and cannot) be 
determined by the local authority so long as the conditions set out in regulation 3 are 
met. Regulation 3 provides that the preferred accommodation must meet the 
individuals assessed care and support needs, a place in the accommodation must be 
available and the provider of the accommodation must agree to provide the 
accommodation to the person on the local authority's terms. 

3.6 In March 2020, a report was presented to Cabinet, where it was approved to:

 Give approval to continue the waiver under Contract Procedure Rule 3.2.3, from the 
requirement to competitively tender the provision of residential and nursing care 
home services for a further one year period.

 Note that, during that one year period, officers will monitor the effectiveness of the 
new regional contractual terms and conditions, and liaise with our existing accredited 
service providers and consider the viability of establishing an openly procured flexible 
framework of care home providers based on the terms and conditions of the regional 
contract and specification for a longer term duration.

4. Current situation/proposal

Care home contracts

Page 104



4.1 BCBC currently has contracting arrangements with 19 older persons’ residential and 
nursing care providers in the borough – with capacity in the region of 780 beds – and 
BCBC commissioning just under 50% of placements made within homes.

4.2 Contracting arrangements in place with residential and nursing care home providers 
are in the form of:

 Pre-placement Agreements – which is the overarching contract in place with the 
care home provider setting out contractual and service requirements and 
expectations

 Individual Care Contracts (ICC’s) – which are the individual spot-purchasing 
contracts when specific placements are made at a care home

4.3 Spot-purchasing is a process which allows the Local Authority to place an individual 
based on their level of need as and when they are required, rather than committing 
to block purchasing arrangements, which can tie the Local Authority to a certain 
number of placements at a fixed cost.

4.4 This practice is in keeping with all other Local Authority’s social care arrangements 
for care homes across Wales, and has enabled the directorate to provide timely and 
flexible responses to a range of needs, as and when they are required.

4.5 There are also mechanisms in place to ensure the services that are commissioned 
meet the Local Authority’s quality requirements (in the form of a well-established 
quality framework), and there are also strong contracting, monitoring and 
safeguarding procedures in place, in order to ensure that good quality care is 
provided and people are safeguarded.

4.6 The Welsh Government (WG) has recently published a White Paper consultation, 
entitled ‘Rebalancing care and support; a consultation on improving social care 
arrangements and strengthening partnership working to better support people’s well-
being’. The consultation runs until April 2021, and it seeks views on proposals to 
introduce new legislation to improve arrangements for care and support and 
strengthen partnership working to achieve the vision set out in the Social Services 
and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. Proposals include setting out a clear national 
framework to support services to be planned regionally and delivered locally, and for 
the strengthening of partnership arrangements. As such, there are still a range of 
unknowns about how we are to work with and commission the care home sector. 

4.7 As approved by Cabinet in March 2020, officers have made contact with the 19 care 
home providers operating across BCBC in order to “consider the viability of 
establishing an openly procured flexible framework of care home providers” from a 
provider perspective. 

4.8 A summary of the findings and feedback is shown below:

 13 of the 19 care home providers responded to the request
 5 care home providers advised they might consider it – depending on how it 

worked
 2 care home providers advised they would go with the majority of opinion
 6 care home providers (amounting to 203 beds which is over 25% of total 

capacity) raised significant concerns at the suggestion of this approach

Page 105



4.9 Feedback received from care home providers stated that they were extremely 
concerned at the timing and subject of the request, and significant concerns were 
also raised about following such a process.

4.10 There are a number of risks/issues associated with attempting to establish an openly 
procured flexible framework, which need to be considered against the risks of not 
carrying out a procurement exercise, which can be viewed in the risk assessment 
below:

Risk Risk scores Risk score comment

Likelihood 5

Impact 4

A risk of home and bed 
capacity being lost from 
the care home sector, 
that had less than 5% 
voids pre Covid, if do not 
tender

TOTAL 20

Feedback suggests at least 6 homes 
(accounting for over 25% of the market) may not 
tender, which would have a catastrophic and 
destabilizing impact on an already stretched 
and pressured sector – and would be a failure 
in our duty of maintaining a stable market

Likelihood 5

Impact 4/

Safeguarding risks for 
individuals/ residents if a 
home was not to 
tender/get on the 
framework TOTAL 20

Where residents have had to move to other care 
homes, this has resulted in a negative impact on 
an individual’s physical and emotional wellbeing 
and in severe cases, can result in a death 
occurring earlier than would be expected

Likelihood 4

Impact 3

Reputational risks 
associated with not 
listening to feedback from 
our care home providers, 
if BCBC do go to tender TOTAL 12

Feedback from providers has been clear, and 
there are further risks as this is a process which 
goes against contracting practices across the 
whole of Wales, at a time when there is a 
commitment to work more effectively in 
partnership with our care sector providers

Likelihood 1

Impact 3

Risk of challenge from 
other care home 
providers who are not on 
the framework, if not 
tendered

TOTAL 3

The likelihood of challenge is minimal as no 
provider is excluded from entering the care 
home market, as long as the relevant 
accreditation checks are passed and quality 
criteria met. i.e. there is an open market where 
new capacity is encouraged/welcomed

Likelihood 1

Impact 3

Risk of compliance 
issues from regulators 
and/or audit agencies, if 
not tendered TOTAL 3

The practice of not procuring care home 
services is common across all 22 Welsh LAs. 
There is also robust regulation of care homes 
and audits of care home services, none of which 
have identified any issues or concerns with 
contracting arrangements

Note: Likelihood Score maximum 6, Impact Score maximum 4, Total Score maximum 24

4.11 As mentioned in paragraph 4.6, WG has recently published a White Paper 
consultation which could have a significant bearing on how we work with our 
providers and commission services. The proposal is in keeping with the vision of the 
National Commissioning Board, which is to have a far greater focus on partnership 
working and quality, as per the extract below from the consultation document:

Page 106



We intend to develop a national framework for commissioning social care that will 
rebalance care and support. It will reduce complexity and ensure that quality is the 
key determinant of success in the social care market.

4.12 Pending any new framework established following the White Paper consultation, the 
commissioning guidance currently in place continues to be WG’s Guidance and Good 
Practice Commissioning Framework “Fulfilled Lives, Supportive Communities”. The 
extract below is taken from Standard 7 of this WG Commissioning Framework:

Social care commissioners will need to make judgements, based on their analysis of 
the existing market, about the most appropriate approaches to market development 
and procurement in their local area, including different contract forms, grants or in-
house provision. Local authorities will need to ensure that council-wide financial 
regulations do not unnecessarily limit the capacity of social care commissioners to 
effect change in the local market due to overly bureaucratic or burdensome tendering 
processes.

4.13 The care home sector is a heavily regulated area, where there have been significant 
pre-qualifying and quality requirements undertaken in order to register services with 
Care Inspectorate Wales under the Regulation and Inspection of Social Care (Wales) 
Act 2016. This is further demonstrated by annual inspections and of services and 
audits, which sit alongside BCBC’s own quality framework monitoring arrangements.

4.14 Due to the balance of risks identified above which has the potential to have a major 
impact on market stability, we are seeking approval to waive the requirement to 
tender for these services on the same basis as the previously approved waivers and 
to enter into new contracts with existing care home providers for a period of 3 years 
(with the option to extend by a further 3 years).

4.15 Whilst the feedback above indicates the market should not be openly procured, there 
would be considerable risks to both the Council and the residents if the Council does 
not enter into new contracts with the current care home providers. Therefore, it is 
imperative that the Council has a contract in place with each provider, to enable the 
authority to continue to place residents in these homes, and ensure necessary quality 
and safeguarding requirements are met.

4.16 It is recognised that the needs of individuals are continually changing, and it is also 
recognised that the shape of the care home market can change at very short-notice. 
The service are working across the region on a Care Home action plan that will have 
a focus on developing the market to meet the needs of the population.  Even though 
officers feel there is already a robust and responsive market in place across the 
county borough, officers would also wish to seek approval to enter into new contracts 
with any new residential and nursing care providers that may be required during this 
(up to) 6 year period, to be able to continue to have a robust market that meets need 
and demand.

Care Home Price Schedule – 2021/22 

4.17 Alongside the review of the contract and specification undertaken in readiness for 
2020/21, BCBC officers took the opportunity to review the care home price schedule 
– which details the rates paid to care homes for BCBC commissioned placements.

Page 107



4.18 The review was timely as BCBC had seen an increase in the amount of Third Party 
Top-Up (additional costs) charges being levied by care homes, and there were also 
specific pressures and challenges in the nursing care home market, in particular for 
nursing EMI placements.

4.19 There is a considerable interest in respect of the cost of care and rates paid to care 
home providers, which has been reported in a document published by Care Forum 
Wales during 2020/21, entitled the “cheapskate awards story”. The document 
included a ‘league of shame’ table, as below, with BCBC’s rates highlighted in yellow 
showing how we compare to national averages and rates paid across Wales:

Region LA Res Res EMI Nursing Nursing EMI LA avg
C&V Cardiff 737.89 793.48 730.08 786.99 762.11
Gwent Torfaen 659.94 724.58 690.75 723.31 699.65
W Wales Pembrokeshire 652.00 709.00 665.00 721.00 686.75
Gwent Blaenau 612.00 702.00 674.00 716.00 676.00
Gwent Monmouthshire 632.00 704.00 668.00 692.00 674.00
C&V Vale of Glam 634.60 702.04 634.60 702.04 668.32
CTM Rhondda CT 638.00 676.00 645.00 682.00 660.25
CTM Merthyr 585.00 650.00 649.73 696.73 645.37
N Wales Conwy 586.00 636.00 661.00 698.00 645.25
Gwent Caerphilly 615.00 671.00 612.00 675.00 643.25
CTM Bridgend 612.00 653.00 632.00 673.00 642.50
N Wales Gwynedd 566.30 629.33 653.52 689.80 634.74
W Wales Ceredigion 605.00 645.00 617.00 657.00 631.00
N Wales Wrexham 585.72 609.91 634.10 670.38 625.03
N Wales Anglesey 576.00 609.91 634.10 670.38 622.60
N Wales Denbighshire 566.31 609.01 634.10 670.38 619.95
N Wales Flintshire 583.44 607.53 624.37 660.53 618.97
W Wales Carmarthenshire 594.39 626.52 575.56 663.40 614.97
Swansea Bay Swansea 564.00 564.00 640.00 664.00 608.00
Swansea Bay Neath PT 593.26 600.50 593.26 600.50 596.88
Powys Powys 539.00 559.00 544.00 580.00 555.50
Wales avg 606.56 651.51 638.67 680.59 644.34

4.20 In keeping with the fee-setting methodology agreed with care home providers 
operating in BCBC, cost pressures analysis has been undertaken in January 2021 in 
order to determine an uplift amount that existing rates will be increased by, which 
considers financial pressures for care homes linked to legislative changes (such as 
National Living Wages (NLW) increases) and other inflationary factors. These 
calculations have determined a 1.62% increase linked to this cost pressures analysis.

4.21 In addition to the 1.62% increase identified above – which will be funded through 
agreed budget pressures and inflation provisions approved as part of the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) – the Social Services and Wellbeing directorate will 
also be using £250k of WG Workforce grant funding to supplement this increase 
during 2021/22, which will increase the uplift offer to 2.5% (rounded to 1d.p). It will be 

Page 108



made clear to providers that the extra £250k (equating to 0.86% of the uplift offer) is 
non-recurring, and must be used for staff/ workforce cost pressures.

4.22 This discretionary increase will enable care home providers to improve the terms and 
conditions of their frontline workforce.  Further work will be undertaken in the next 
year to review the fee setting methodology for social care providers.

5. Effects on the policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 Approval is being sought to waiver under the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, 
from the requirement to competitively tender for the provision of future residential 
care homes contracts under CPR 3.2.3.

6. Equalities Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no equalities implications arising from this report, therefore an Equalities 
Impact Assessment is not required.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 Entering into contractual arrangements with care home providers for the duration of 
time requested (up to 6 years) supports the five ways of working under the Well-being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, as follows:

 Long Term – entering into contractual arrangements with current (and 
potentially new) care home providers for a period of up to 6 years will provide 
assurances for care home providers, which in turn will have the benefit of a 
more stable and sustainable care home market

 Prevention – the vision within the directorate is to help and support people to 
continue to live as independently as possible within their environment, but care 
home services continue to be critical in order to meet the needs of citizens.

 Integration – service providers will continue to work with individuals and 
health colleagues (for nursing placements) to ensure quality of services 
provided, in accordance with the requirements of the residential quality 
framework.

 Collaboration – working collaboratively and in close partnership with key 
stakeholders is a key requirement of the care home contracts.

 Involvement – care home providers have been engaged with and their 
feedback has been used to help determine the proposal as set out in the 
recommendations. 

8. Financial Implications

8.1 In order to implement the new contract and the revised Price Schedule from 2021/22, 
there is a financial implication forecast to be in the region of £723k per annum. 

8.2 The table below provides a breakdown of these additional costs, and also shows 
where it is intended for the additional cost to be met from.

Cost implication £ Amount Met by

Page 109



Cost pressure linked to NLW increase £429k BCBC NLW budget pressure 
agreed in MTFS

Cost pressure linked to other inflationary costs £44k BCBC price inflation funding

One-off discretionary increase to move towards 
Real Living Wage £250k

WG Social Care Workforce & 
Sustainability Pressures Grant 
2021/22

TOTAL £723k

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is asked to:

 note the feedback received from care home providers in respect of the viability of 
establishing an openly procured flexible framework of care home providers;

 give approval to continue the waiver under Contract Procedure Rule 3.2.3, from the 
requirement to competitively tender the provision of residential and nursing care 
home services; 

 give approval to enter into new contracts with existing residential and nursing care 
providers, and enter into contracts with any new providers identified by the Local 
Authority, for a contract period of up to six years with an initial term of 3 years and 
option to extend for a further 3 years;

 note the fee-setting approach undertaken for the care home sector in 2021/22.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing
February 2021

Contact Officer: Jackie Davies – Head of Adult Social Care
Telephone: (01656) 642121
E-mail: jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk  
Postal Address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 110

mailto:jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

NATIONAL ADOPTION SERVICE PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Cabinet approval to sign the revised National  
Adoption Service In Wales partnership agreement.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The National Adoption Service for Wales (NAS) was established in 2014 in 
response to service user and Government recommendations for improving services. 
The original role and operational format of NAS was based on a Functional Model 
led by Association of Directors of Social Services Cymru (ADSS-C), agreed by the 
Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) and approved by the then Deputy 
Minister for Social Services. Subsequent legislation underpinned it. Complex 
governance arrangements emerged to facilitate local government senior officer and 
political oversight of this local government collaborative service which exists within 
a wider collaborative partnership with a range of stakeholders particularly the 
Voluntary Adoption Agencies in Wales (VAA’s).  A Partnership Agreement has been 
in place since the formation of NAS and the Regional Collaborations.

3.2 In 2018 the Governance Board and Advisory Group for NAS determined that 
coherence and ability to improve needed to be strengthened in order to enhance 
the achievement of strategic objectives and priorities for adoption services across 
Wales.   The WLGA and ADSS-C commissioned The Institute of Public Care at 
Oxford Brookes University (IPC) to undertake a review of the existing 
arrangements.  IPC engaged in various ways with a wide range of NAS 
organisations and stakeholders including Advisory Group and Governance Board 

Page 111

Agenda Item 10



workshops, the Welsh Government and the National Assembly for Wales Children, 
Young People and Education Committee which concluded with three potential ways 
forward.  In November 2018 the Governance Board decided that it wanted to create 
a hybrid of two of these to facilitate the below; it also considered NAS’ role in 
respect of the National Fostering Framework national functions. The focus was 
primarily on NAS operating differently and more consistently rather than significant 
changes to structure. There were three key strands to this as follows:

o Combining the Former Governance Board and Advisory Group to undertake 
both functions. The new Combined Governance Board (CGB) started in July 
2019. 

o Creation of a ‘Commissioning Fund’ to support the central team to 
commission more strategically. Changing the management of regional 
resources was felt to be unrealistic at the time but that any future investment 
/ 'new' resources should be used in a different way to achieve this. The 
award of £2.3m investment by Welsh Government in 2019 provided this 
opportunity which, from 2020, is to be routed through the central team. 

o Setting out ‘how’ NAS will function in the future, in a document to replace the 
original functional model. This is the new Partnership Agreement.

3.3 IPC engaged further with a range of NAS stakeholders, including some regions and   
Directors of Social Services to test out and gain commitment to a different way of 
working. It was also discussed with the All Wales Heads of Children’s Services 
Group (AWHOCS) and ADSS-C. The new Partnership Agreement that was 
produced is rooted in the NAS Directions 1. In many respects it describes NAS as it 
currently operates but also contains differences, which, in addition to the CGB and 
Commissioning Fund, will facilitate NAS operating differently.

 3.4 The ambition is for:
 

 NAS to operate consistently to an agreed optimal model of excellence and as a 
single service.

 Increased ownership and accountability throughout the service for improvement 
against nationally agreed objectives, policies and priorities. 

 Streamlined links between national and regional governance as well as service 
delivery and strategy.

 More working together across regions and centrally to share best practice, 
improvement and where appropriate resources

4. Current situation/proposal

The new Partnership Agreement 

4.1 In summary key elements of the Revised Agreement are: 

 Consistency in regional management board and delivery arrangements over which 
the NAS Governance Board has increased oversight.

 Implementation of agreed optimal models and their resourcing which is actively 
overseen by the Governance Board.

Page 112



 Changes to political engagement regionally, different approaches to service 
financing, shared commissioning of some external services, access to shared 
regional and central resources to deliver on priorities through an internal strategic 
commissioning arrangement, protocols on partner engagement etc. 

 Strengthened links between regional management boards and the NAS CGB / 
central team to improve focus and commitment to nationally agreed priorities.

 Continuing to mature the relationship between the VAAs and the NAS with 
additional opportunities for developing and commissioning VAA services through 
national strategic commissioning and the fund.

 Strengthened relationships with the wider regional children’s services agenda to 
better predict and respond to changing demand and better link to external 
opportunities for planning and funding services.

 Strengthening arrangements for joined up input from adopters and adoptees to 
planning, performance review as well as feedback at regional / VAA level and 
nationally. 

4.2     One of the key changes for Western Bay Adoption Service referred to within the new   
          Partnership Agreement is the development of Regional Joint Committees. These are
          made up of lead Cabinet Members across a region who meet twice a year to agree 

plans and resource recommendations via the Regional Management Board (RMB). 
This should include the member that sits on the NAS Governance Board.  The 
committee will support Members to be kept fully informed and involved in the 
strategy, delivery and resourcing of NAS both at regional and national levels. In the 
event of a situation where a regional Joint Committee cannot be established, an 
equally robust arrangement to bring the Cabinet Members with portfolio 
responsibility for children’s social care together across the region, should be put in 
place to focus on the regional adoption service. Any such arrangement should be 
agreed with the Co-Chairs of the Combined Governance Board and the Director of 
NAS. 

4.3 A briefing Paper will be presented to the next Management Board in April 2021 to 
consider how the region will address this particular element of the agreement.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 Existing policy and procedures will need to be reviewed and revised to incorporate 
the impact of the new agreement. This is predominately in relation to any issues 
raised from the further consideration of the Regional Joint Committee.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social Services and 
Wellbeing Act (Wales) (SSWBA) 2014, in turn, supports the promotion of two of the 
seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 within the 
County Borough of Bridgend.  By promoting an environment that maximises people’s 
physical and mental well-being and by supporting children, young people, adults and 
their carers and families to fulfil their potential no matter what their circumstances, 
the wellbeing goals of a Healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported.

Page 113



7.2 The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for people.  The following is a 
summary to show how the relevant well-being goals have been considered in this 
report:

 Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the SSWBA focusses on 
sustainable well-being outcomes for the future. There is a requirement to meet 
the needs of people in the longer term and, because of rising demographics 
and increasing complexity, the transformation of services continues to be a 
priority.  

 Integration – the implementation of the SSWBA and the Adoption and 
Children Act 2002 (Joint Adoption Arrangements) (Wales) Directions 2015 
requires local authorities to work with partners, particularly the NHS and 
Education, to ensure care and support for people and support for carers is 
provided.  The report evidences work with partners to enable children to be 
placed in permanent arrangements.

 Collaboration – The collaborative approaches described in the report, are 
managed and monitored through the regional collaborative management 
board and the National Adoption Service Advisory Group and Governance 
Board where there is local authority and sector stakeholder representation. 

 Involvement – the key stakeholders are the people who use social care. There 
is considerable engagement including surveys, stakeholder meetings, 
feedback forms and the complaints process. The provision of accessible 
information and advice helps to ensure that the voice of adults, children and 
young people is heard.

8. Financial implications

8.1 The reviewed Partnership agreement does not have any financial implications for the   
Authority.

9. Recommendations

9.1 That Cabinet:

 Notes the contents of this report;
 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing to 

agree the terms and exercute the Partnership Agreement in consultation with the 
Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services. 

Claire Marchant
CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING
February 2021

Contact officer: Laura Kinsey
Head of Childrens Social Care

Telephone: (01656) 642314

Page 114



Email: laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents:

 Final Partnership Agreement-Bridgend
 NAS Partnership Letter to Directors for Signature 12/11/20

Page 115



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENT FOR DEMENTIA TRAINING

1. Purpose of report

1.1 To seek approval to enter into a partnership agreement with Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
University Health Board with the objective of collaboration to support the health and 
social care workforce through joint learning and development activity in order to improve 
the lives of people affected by dementia, which will require a suspension of the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules (CPRs).

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) entered into a funding relationship with 
Abertawe Bro Morgannwg University Health Board (ABMUHB) Region over 10 years 
ago to support the development and delivery of dementia care training and support to 
the social care sector. The core budget for this service originally funded two full time 
equivalent posts, based in ABMUHB’s Dementia Care Training Team. However due to 
a reduction in the annual budget for this service BCBC now contribute £23,500 per 
annum to fund half a post in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 
(CTMUHB) Dementia Care Training Team, with 1.5 full-time equivalent posts funded by 
CTMUHB.

3.2 During the transition period of re-alignment from ABMUHB to CTMUHB in 2019-20, 
BCBC entered into a temporary contractual agreement with CTMUHB agreed via the 
Scheme of Delegation. The purpose of securing a previously informal arrangement was 
to ensure business continuity and continuity of support to dementia care service 

Page 117

Agenda Item 11



providers to allow for a period of review of dementia care training and support 
requirements.  The pandemic and its impact on the service has delayed progress to 
date.

3.3 The review concluded that the current relationship arrangement provides value for 
money training, through the provision of additional aspects, in assessment teams and 
direct care services, ongoing support to care providers beyond training, monitoring the 
quality of care involving the BCBCs Contract Monitoring team, and developing and 
extending that support to include future joint training opportunities and support to 
informal carers. Such a range of benefits, in their entirety, would not to be able to be 
secured by formal tendering for a commissioned training provider. Neither would it be 
possible to secure even the training element at the same level of service at a 
comparative cost when compared to other dementia training providers’ costs.

3.4 A formal partnership arrangement will support effective collaboration for solutions to 
support health and social care challenges faced by priority groups for integration under 
Part 9 of the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014. Converting the informal 
arrangement to a formal partnership will secure the quality of care delivered, cost 
benefits, added value, and maintain consistency in delivering skills based training to 
health and social care staff in the Bridgend area. There is therefore a strategic approach 
to supporting workforce development activity and training in order to guide and inform 
local delivery of care and support to people living with dementia and their carers, 
whether supported at home, in a care home, or in hospital.

3.5 The proposed partnership is underpinned by the following:

The Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014

The Council has the statutory duty to make arrangements to promote co-operation with 
the health board in the exercise of its functions relating to adults with needs for care and 
support under section 162 of the Social Services and Well-being (Wales) Act 2014. For 
those purposes the Council and health board may provide staff, goods, services, 
accommodation or other resources to one another, establish and maintain a pooled fund 
and share information with each other.

The principles of the Good Work Framework 

“This framework is intended to support what matters most to the people of Wales as well 
as the spirit and requirements of Welsh policy, legislation and guidance regarding the 
care, support and empowerment of people with dementia, carers and the health and 
social care workforce”. Good Work.  A Dementia Learning and Development Framework 
for Wales 2016

 
The Framework is intended to support the learning needs of anyone coming into contact 
with people living with dementia, including the public in communities, informal carers, 
health and social care direct care staff, ancillary staff, and managers of care services. 

Dementia Action Plan for Wales 2018-20

The Action Plan set out a clear strategy for Wales to become a dementia-friendly nation 
that recognises the rights of people with dementia to feel valued and live as 
independently as possible in their communities.  The Welsh Government’s expectation 
is that the Action Plan is delivered by regional partnerships.  

Page 118



Bridgend County Borough Council joined the Cwm Taf Morgannwg Dementia Workforce 
Development Sub Group in 2019, reporting to the Regional Dementia Board.

The key objective from the Action Plan for the sub-group is that ‘Staff in Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg have the skills to help them identify people with dementia and to feel 
confident and competent in supporting individuals’ needs post-diagnosis.  While this 
Regional initiative has not progressed further since the pandemic impacted in March 
2020, this proposed partnership arrangement would continue to develop the dementia 
care workforce locally in line with this objective.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The proposed arrangement will ensure that collaborative working arrangements are 
effective, co-ordinated and comprehensive to encourage closer cooperation, liaison and 
information exchange between the parties with a shared aim of providing high quality 
local authority and independent care and support service provision through ensuring the 
workforce is better trained and better informed which will ensure consistent service 
delivery to people with dementia in the borough.

4.2 The proposed arrangement will be delivered on a not for profit basis and will provide a 
cost effective, sustainable collaboration that will ensure a joint approach to developing 
the workforce to deliver dementia care and ensure that BCBC and CTMUHB have 
access to wider opportunities for a consistent approach to dementia delivery to the 
residents of BCBC and CTMUHB.

4.3 The Dementia Care Training Team staff are qualified and experienced dementia care 
practitioners, experienced trainers, and whose knowledge and expertise is informed by 
research.

4.4 As part of the partnership agreement with CTMUHB, the health board will be providing 
training and development to support and develop the dementia care workforce in 
Bridgend to ensure the approach to supporting people with dementia in Bridgend is 
consistent with CTMUHB.  That aspect of the collaboration would ordinarily be subject 
to the requirements of our CPRs but the preferred approach being recommended to 
Cabinet is that this be dealt with through the collaboration with CTMUHB and as such 
the requirements of the CPRs would need to be suspended. Cabinet should be aware, 
that in entering into this partnership agreement the Council is exposed to the risk of 
potential challenge from other providers of such services, as the Council is entering into 
a contract without any competition, which breaches the requirements of procurement 
legislation. Legislative provisions exist that allow local authorities to collaborate to 
provide services but they do not overrule the procurement obligations. They may 
however reduce the overall potential for a challenge, as collaboration is a commonly 
used tool for the provision of services between public bodies.

4.5 Subject to the Cabinet’s approval, it is intended that the Council enter into a partnership 
agreement with Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board for the provision of 
dementia training from 1st April 2021 for a term of 3 years with the option to extend up 
to a further 6 months.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

Page 119



5.1 This report is requesting a suspension of the Council’s CPRs.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken. It was found that a full 
EIA is not required as there would be no changes to the level of service received by 
individuals supported should the Council enter into a partnership agreement with Cwm 
Taf Morgannwg University Health Board.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 Approval to enter into a partnership arrangement for dementia training supports the five 
ways of working under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, as 
follows:

Long Term – will enable continuity of the service to provide consistent skills based 
support to care staff who will be supporting an increasing number of people living with 
dementia.
Prevention – the service supports and encourages staff to deliver care that enables 
people to continue to live as independently as possible within their environment.
Integration – service providers will continue to work with individuals to enable 
continuation of support in their environment.
Collaboration – the service will continue to support and encourage staff to collaborate 
with individuals whom they support.
Involvement – the service supports and encourages staff to work with individuals to be 
involved in decisions about the delivery of their care and support.

8. Financial implications

8.1 The anticipated cost of the contract estimated to the end of the contract term, including 
the potential extension period should Cabinet decide to utilise this option is £82,250. 
The annual contribution is line with the current core budget available for this service.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approves entering into the partnership agreement with CTMUHB in order to bring about 
the positive benefits for those living with dementia as set out in the report, and suspends 
the relevant parts of the Council’s CPRs in respect of the requirements relating to the 
procurement of the dementia training and development provision which CTMUHB shall 
fulfil;

 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing, to 
approve the final terms of the partnership agreement with CTMUHB on behalf of the 
Council and to arrange execution of the agreement on behalf of the Council, subject to 
such delegated authority being exercised in consultation with the Chief Officer - Legal, 
HR and Regulatory Services and Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and 
Change.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing
February 2021

Page 120



Contact Officer Jacqueline Davies
Head of Adult Social Care – Social Services and Wellbeing

Tel: (01656) 642121

E. Mail: Jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents
None

Page 121

mailto:Jacqueline.davies@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL
 

REPORT TO CABINET 

9 MARCH 2021
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING 

REGIONAL FRONT DOOR FOR FOSTERING RECRUITMENT - CHILDREN'S 
SOCIAL CARE

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to:

 Request approval to align fostering recruitment across Bridgend, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil through the creation of a Cwm Taf Morgannwg 
(CTM) Regional ‘front door’ to potential foster carers. The ‘front door’ will 
effectively support all: fostering recruitment enquiries, processing 
applications, co-ordinating the marketing function and supporting potential 
foster carers through the process of becoming a foster carer.

 Seek authorisation to delegate authority to the Head of Children’s Social Care 
to represent Bridgend County Borough Council on the Regional Strategic 
Group, which will provide governance for, and make decisions in relation to, 
the implementation of the regional fostering service functions set out in this 
report.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:- 

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to 
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to 
live, work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused 
on raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the 
county borough.

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and 
resilient - taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming 
vulnerable or dependent on the Council and its services. 
Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as 
effectively and efficiently as possible and support the creation of 

Page 123

Agenda Item 12



resources throughout the community that can help to deliver the 
Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Supporting people to become foster carers is critical to the provision of the 
right substitute family care for children who are looked after. The challenges 
facing fostering services nationally, and the case for change, have been well 
documented through the National Fostering Framework (NFF) ‘First 
Thoughts’ paper and phase one and two reports. These challenges can be 
summarised as:

 ‘growing concerns about the overall effectiveness and sustainability of 
fostering services in Wales;

 pressures in the care system and challenges in matching needs and through 
sufficiency and range of foster care options; and

 difficulties in recruiting foster carers and in providing them with the range of 
skills and support needed for the complex and challenging work they 
undertake.’ (National Fostering Framework, 2016, p.3)

3.2 The NFF phase 3 report sets out the principles for regional working within its 8 
work-streams. The streams this report focused on are: 

 Work-stream 2: Development of regional work programmes based on 
priorities aligned with the national performance framework.

 Work-stream 4: Create an all Wales brand for local authority fostering and 
establish a marketing strategy at regional and central level for the brand.

 Work-stream 5: Increase capacity within the regions to respond to additional 
enquiries following the marketing activity.

3.3 All three Cwm Taf Morgannwg Local Authorities have experienced difficulties 
in the recruitment of foster carers. Each year there is attrition due to retirement, 
sickness, change of career, transfer to Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) 
and other life events. It is necessary to ensure sufficient numbers and a range 
of skills and experience in the foster carer population in order to provide the 
right homes to meet current and future needs of children looked after.  

3.4  Insufficient numbers of Local Authority foster carers can lead to an increased 
use of Independent Fostering Agency (IFA) carers at additional costs to the 
Council. The homes offered by the independent agencies are also more likely 
to be out of county which creates additional pressures and can mean poorer 
outcomes for children and young people as they can lose connections with local 
schools and wider family and community. 

3.5    The learning from IFAs on successful foster carer recruitment demonstrates the 
importance of a responsive customer focused approach. Evidence suggests 
that prospective foster carers are more likely to choose to apply to an agency if 
they receive a prompt and timely response; hence the need for a dedicated 
recruitment resource and a comprehensive customer focused culture at a front 
door which specialises in foster carer recruitment. The learning from these 

Page 124



organisations also suggests that a dedicated marketing specialist is essential 
to provide expertise in promoting foster care opportunities to the widest ranges 
of potential foster families.

3.6   At present advertising, marketing and enquiries are managed in the following 
ways:

Rhondda Cynon Taf (RCTCBC) and Merthyr Tydfil (MTCBC) 

From 1st April 2019, RCTCBC and MTCBC have been working in collaboration 
to operate a Regional Front Door for fostering recruitment. The team consists 
of a Regional Development Manager, Regional Recruitment Officer and 
Regional Communications and Marketing Officer. The recruitment team 
facilitates all enquiries, recruitment visits, marketing activity and initial visits up 
to the point of assessment. At the point of assessment the applicant is 
transferred over to the fostering team manager in the individual local authority. 
The enquirer will contact the service via phone, email, web enquiry or online 
chat. If required, a return phone call is completed within 24 hours and an initial 
visit (pre-assessment screening) takes place within 5 working days of initial 
enquiry. Following a positive initial visit, assessments need to be allocated 
within 10 working days.

The following timescales are in place for responses to enquiries:

- Initial enquiry – follow up call within 24 hours
- Initial Visit - within 5 working Days of the initial enquiry or at a time 

convenient to the applicant
- Preparation Training – runs every 1-2 months on a regional basis 

(keeping in touch processes and early assessment work plans are in 
place whilst this is arranged)

- Assessment – Completion 4 to 6 months from commencing 
assessment.  

The Regional Recruitment Officer coordinates all recruitment activity including 
maintaining databases and systems, making recruitment calls, completion of 
initial visits and processing application forms. They also coordinate the regional 
skills to foster pre-approval training.

The Regional Marketing Officer coordinates all marketing activity in relation to 
fostering, including the development of a comprehensive marketing strategy for 
each local authority, the development of materials, content and case studies, 
maintaining and facilitating each local authority’s fostering Facebook pages, 
maintenance and updating of the regional fostering website and linking in with 
national priorities. 

Bridgend (BCBC)

BCBC currently have a vacant post for a full-time development officer with 
responsibility for some recruitment and marketing activity, including the 
development of a recruitment strategy.

Page 125



In addition, the service has a shared marketing resource in the form of a staff 
member within the corporate communications department. However, this post 
is not dedicated to fostering and facilitates a portfolio of marketing activity for 
several departments within the local authority. 

The service handles enquiries through the following means:

Initial enquiry received via email

The Development officer will contact the applicant and complete initial contact 
form (Screening). If the contact is positive and the applicant wants to proceed 
this is forwarded to a social worker to complete the initial visit.

Initial enquiry by phone/ in person  

Whoever receives the contact within the team will complete the initial contact 
form, if they are a social worker, they will also arrange the initial visit during 
this call.

Where possible, assessments are allocated to in house social workers for 
completion

3.7      Bridgend Recruitment Data

Year
Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 

Allocated
Number % of 

enquiries
Number % of 

enquiries
2018-19 91 30 33.3% 14 15.5%
2019-20 142 49 34.5% 14 9.8%
2020/21
(to 31/01/21 
only)

88 35 39.8% 22 25%

3.8      Merthyr Tydfil Recruitment Data 

Year
Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 

Allocated
Number % of 

enquiries
Number % of 

enquiries
2018-19 21 15 75% 4 20%
2019-20 23 15 65.2% 8 34.8%
2020/21
(to 31/01/21 
only)

19 13 68.4% 7 46.8%

Page 126



3.9 RCT Recruitment Data

Year
Enquiries Initial Visits Assessments 

Allocated
Number % of 

enquiries
Number % of 

enquiries
2018-19 146 24 16.4% 17 11.6%
2019-20 143 40 30% 25 17.5%
2020/21
(to 31/01/21 
only)

113 46 40.7% 20 17.7%

3.10 Timescales for current Cwm Taf Regional Front Door provision

3.11 Improved performance is evidenced in the Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr 
Tydfil regional front door. This can be attributed to both a dedicated resource 
at the front door handling enquiries in a prompt and professional manner and 
the specific content, developed by the Regional Marketing Officer, allowing 
people to have all the information available prior to taking the first step of 
enquiring to become a foster carer.  

3.12 The table in 3.10 shows the impact that having a dedicated resource at the front 
door has on reducing timescales between enquiry and allocation of 
assessment, therefore reducing the risk of applicants going to other agencies. 
By providing a dedicated, responsive service we can ensure that all applicants 
have the opportunity to progress into assessment as quickly as possible, whilst 
still gathering all the information needed to make informed decisions on whether 
or not applicants are suitable for fostering.  

3.13 By further investing in the area of marketing and recruitment and bringing these 
front door functions together, on a collaborative basis (and providing dedicated 
staff to the role of recruitment and marketing), this will replicate good practice 
in independent agencies, improve the responsiveness towards enquiries, 
completing initial visit pre assessment screening within an appropriate time and 
the number of applicants reaching assessment. It is anticipated this will result 
in an increase in the number of approved foster carers. This will lead to a 
greater availability of local authority foster families, better matching and less 
reliance on expensive IFA carers and therefore better outcomes for children 
and young people.  Shared resources and ideas will represent better value for 

Follow up 
Call

Initial Visit Allocated 
Assessment

2018/19 4.8 days 35 days 66.2 days

2019/20 1 day 11.9 days 55.1 days

2020/21 1 day 4.9 days 30.1 days

Page 127



money, an opportunity for regional recruitment campaigns and provide a much-
improved service.   

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 A range of options have been considered by the regional strategic group. 
These can be outlined as follows:  

 Option 1- Regional Phone line

Regional front door to 
screen enquiries and 

pass on details

Merthyr / RCT 
recruitment call

Merthyr/ RCT IV

Merthyr Assessment RCT Assessment

Bridgend Recruitment 
Call

Bridgend IV

Bridgend Assessment

Strengths:

 Allows for central point of contact for all 3 Local Authorities (LAs), 
would allow for regional marketing campaigns (same recruitment 
number/ email address to contact).

 Would add resilience to handle initial phone calls and emails for BCBC.
 Promotes shared agreement for those living in each LA and enquiring. 

Ensures they go forward for their own LA.
 Can be facilitated within existing resources.

Weaknesses:

 Does not solve capacity issues for processing enquiries and 
completing recruitment calls/initial visits.

 Does not allow for marketing expertise within BCBC fostering.
 Response may be delayed for BCBC applicants if waiting on a call 

back due to time allowed for information to be passed on.
 Does not align recruitment processes in all 3 LAs.
 Local marketing strategies may remain independent from each other.  

Page 128



 Option 2 – Regional Recruitment Calls

Regional front door to 
screen enquiries and 

complete recruitment call

Front door to pass on 
details and outcome.

Merthyr/ RCT IV

Merthyr Assessment RCT Assessment

Bridgend IV

Bridgend Assessment

Strengths

 Allows for central point of contact for all 3 LAs, would allow for regional 
marketing campaigns.

 Would add resilience to handle initial phone calls and emails for BCBC.
 Promotes shared agreement for those living in each LA and enquiring. 

Ensures they go forward for their own LA.
 Can be facilitated within existing resources.

Weaknesses

 Lack of consistency for applicant in terms of point of contact. 
 Does not solve capacity issues for processing enquiries and 

completing IVs.
 Does not allow for marketing expertise within BCBC fostering. 
 Response may be delayed for BCBC applicants from recruitment call to 

IV due to time taken for information to be passed on.
 Does not align recruitment processes in all 3 LAs.
 Local marketing strategies may remain independent from each other.  

Page 129



 Option 3 – Regional Pre Assessment process

Regional front door to 
screen enquiries and 

complete recruitment call

Front door to complete IV 
form and pass on to 

relevant LA

Merthyr Assessment RCT Assessment Bridgend Assessment

                Strengths:

 Allows for central point of contact for all 3 LAs, would allow for regional 
marketing campaigns.

 Would add resilience to handle initial phone calls and emails for BCBC.
 Promotes shared agreement for those living in each LA and enquiring. 

Ensures they go forward for their own LA.
 Can be facilitated within existing resources.
 Aligns recruitment processes in all 3 LAs.
 Consistency of point of contact up to the point of assessment.
 Allows for strict monitoring of timescales between enquiry and IV. 
 Frees up capacity for Supervising Social Workers to concentrate on 

Assessments and Support.

               Weaknesses:

 Does not allow for marketing expertise within BCBC fostering.
 Local marketing strategies may remain independent from each other.  
 Does not include central point of contact for Foster Wales on a regional 

level to link in with national picture. 
 Adoption of recruitment posts would need to be considered as to which 

LAs they were based in and processes for line management of staff, 
ICT equipment etc established.

 Recruitment processes are currently different within Bridgend and all 
LAs processes may need to be adapted/ changed to ensure 
consistency across the service.

 If enquiries increase will need additional capacity for recruitment at the 
front door to avoid delay ( minimum 0.5 FTE post)

Cwm 
Taf 
foster 
carer 
training

Page 130



 Option 4 – Regional Front Door for Fostering recruitment

Regional Marketing Function to 
generate enquiries and promote 

fostering across each LA

Front door to screen enquiries, 
complete recruitment call, 

complete IV form and pass on to 
relevant LA

Merthyr Assessment RCT Assessment Bridgend Assessment

Strengths

 Enables marketing expertise and marketing resource dedicated to 
fostering in all 3 LAs at fostering service level.

 Would enable a speedy, consistent and robust response to enquiries 
across the region.

 Responsiveness of current service has been effective so far in Merthyr 
and RCT (similar model).

 Alignment of recruitment processes across the region.
 Cost saving from current practice for each LA based on 2020/21 budgets 

(more for less).
 Avoids duplication of work across the region.
 Would lay the ground for Foster Wales and provide a coordinated link with 

national priorities across the region.
 Would enable regional marketing campaigns to take place, pooling 

resources to have a stronger impact across the local area.
 Campaigns that have not been viable locally due to finance could take 

place regionally.
 Regional website would reflect new regional footprint and contain details 

and case studies from all 3 LAs.
 Future funding may be available through NFF/ Foster Wales to adopt this 

approach, CTM would be a step ahead.
 Sustain links and sharing of good practice between all 3 LAs.
 Common aim and shared agreement between all 3 LAs means 

consistency and strengthens LA voice over IFAs.
 Local marketing strategies can be aligned, whist maintaining individuality.

Page 131



 Fully in line with Foster Wales ethos of shared marketing resource across 
whole of region.

Weaknesses
 

 Adoption of recruitment posts would need to be considered as to which 
LAs they were based in and processes for line management of staff, ICT 
equipment etc established.

 Recruitment processes are currently different within Bridgend and all LAs 
processes may need to be adapted/ changed to ensure consistency 
across the service.

 Requires financial contribution from all 3 LAs.
 New digital marketing tools will need to be established (Bridgend 

Facebook page).
 Timescale to implement may have impact on current recruitment service.
 Robust and regular regional meetings between LA’s need to be re-

established to ensure the project is a success and a partnership approach 
is adopted 

4.2 The decision reached by the regional strategic board was that option 4 was the 
preferred model which is in line with the direction of travel set out within the 
National Fostering Framework.  Progressing this option will benefit Bridgend 
Fostering with social workers able to dedicate more time to support foster 
carers to contribute to family stability and help to deliver improved outcomes for 
children and young people.

4.3 Implementation of a Regional Fostering Recruitment Service:

Subject to approval from Cabinet, a dedicated implementation plan has been 
drafted which will be followed to achieve the regional front door launch in April 
2021 and the arrangements for the collaboration as follows:  

 RCTCBC will remain the employer of the Regional Marketing Officer, who 
will have the responsibility for marketing fostering for all three LAs, including 
the development of a recruitment and marketing strategy, implementing 
local and regional recruitment campaigns, developing content for the 
websites and social media channels and leading on national recruitment and 
marketing priorities. Each individual local authority will continue to support 
marketing, including posting content on the Council’s main social media 
channels and website and website development.  There will be no HR 
implications for Bridgend County Borough Council as we will not be directly 
employing any members of staff within this service and no current BCBC 
employees will be at detriment.

 MTCBC will remain the employer of the Regional Recruitment Officer who 
will have the responsibility for fostering recruitment across all three LAs, 
including organising recruitment events, handling initial enquiries, 

Page 132



completion of initial visits and recommendations, processing of application 
forms and being the point of contact up to the point of assessment. 

 The team will be managed by the Regional Development Manager for 
Fostering Services, who is employed by and based in RCTCBC. 

 Any phone calls will be directed through a dedicated phone line in the RCT 
Contact Centre and web enquiries sent directly to the recruitment team 
through RCT’s CRM system.

 Funding for the project has been identified through existing budgets and an 
apportioned cost has been agreed between the Authorities. 

 An allocation protocol has been agreed so that Bridgend residents would be 
referred to Bridgend fostering services. This agreement also considers 
those living outside Bridgend and carers personal choice.

 Each local authority would retain its own brand identity so that we can 
ensure a local fostering identity remains. The recruitment officer would visit 
either on behalf of BCBC or on behalf of RCTCBC or on behalf of MTCBC 
and not as Cwm Taf Morgannwg, however some regional collaboration on 
marketing activity would be of benefit to all 3 LAs. 

 The LAs shall enter into a collaboration agreement for this arrangement and 
one is currently being developed between the parties, setting out the 
responsibilities of each LA and the pooling of resources. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect on the Policy Framework and Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment screening has been undertaken and 
there are no direct equality implications as a consequence of this report.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The implementation of the duties and responsibilities under the Social 
Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 (SSWBA) in turn, supports the 
promotion of two of the seven goals of the Well-Being of Future Generations 
(Wales) Act 2015 within the County Borough of Bridgend. By increasing the 
pool of local authority foster carers we are helping to give children stable and 
loving homes within their own communities we are therefore promoting an 
environment that maximises people’s physical and mental well-being and by 
supporting children, young people, adults and their carers and families to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their circumstances, the well-being goals of a 
Healthier and more equal Bridgend and Wales are supported.

7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for 
driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to 
guide how the Authority should work to deliver well-being outcomes for 
people. The following is a summary to show how the five ways of working to 
achieve the well-being goals have been considered in this report:

Page 133



 Long Term – Social Services is demand led and the SSWBA focuses 
on sustainable prevention and well-being outcomes for the future. 
There is a requirement to meet the needs of people in the longer term 
and, because of rising demographics and increasing complexity, the 
remodeling and transformation of services continues to be a priority. 
The Fostering Service promotes secure attachment as a means of 
helping children and young people and their carers maintain 
placements (living and educational) so that they can feel safe enough 
to develop supportive attachments/relationships, and opportunities for 
positive growth and resilience in the future.

 Prevention – Availability of local, well prepared foster carers will help 
to prevent placement breakdown and keep children within their own 
communities, preventing issues that arise from out of county moves 
escalating further. In addition we are seeking to address the decline 
in fostering households across the region and nationally to prevent a 
shortfall in fostering placements in the future. 

 Integration – the implementation of the SSWBA requires local 
authorities to work with partners, the regional approach to fostering 
recruitment is the starting point for future collaborative work to further 
improve Local Authority foster care across the region. 

 Collaboration –The regional front door for fostering recruitment has 
been developed and agreed at a regional level in order to increase 
the pool of local authority foster carers available. Collaborating will 
help inform and support the region`s vision to provide the best 
possible opportunity for recruiting more foster carers in order to find 
stable, loving homes for children looked after. Collaborating will allow 
the sharing of good practice and the sharing of resource in order to 
achieve this common goal.

 Involvement – the key stakeholders are the people who use social 
care. There is considerable engagement including surveys, 
consultation events, feedback forms and the complaints process. The 
provision of accessible information and advice helps to ensure that 
the voice of adults, children and young people is heard.

8. Financial implications

8.1 This proposal sets out to deliver improvements by implementing this 
collaborative project within current budgets. At this stage, no additional funding 
will be required over and above existing fostering budgets with BCBC re-
aligning money from its in-house fostering budget to a pooled fund to pay for 
the implementation.      

8.2 The estimated direct staff cost of the proposed new team is approximately 
£73,536, of    which BCBC will provide £28,073.  RCT CBC will provide £29,214 
and MTCBC will provide £16,249. This will be reviewed on a regular basis and 
at least annually. 

8.3   The costs for the resource requirements relating to the running of the Service 
shall be apportioned between the Authorities as laid out in the table below: -

Page 134



Resource (and annual 
financial contribution 
apportionment basis)

2020/2021 
Total Cost

2020/2021 Annual Cost 
Apportionment

RCT  
CBC 

MTCBC BCBC

1 X Gr5 Recruitment 
officer
(apportioned based on No. of 
fostering enquires 2019 / 2020)                           

£ 32,178 £15,091 £3,057 £14,030

1 X Gr9 Marketing 
Officer
(apportioned equally between 
the Authorities)

£38, 858 £12,953 £12,952 £12,953

Contact Centre (Call 
Handling) 
(apportioned based on No. of 
fostering enquires 2019 / 2020)                           

£2,500 £1,170 £240 £1,090

Total contribution (see 
section 2)

£73,536 £29,214 £16,249 £28,073

8.4  It is proposed that any direct costs associated with recruitment, retention and 
marketing activity on a local level (i.e. relating to local authorities own 
schemes) will be funded by each respective Local Authority individually, 
through retaining their existing recruitment and marketing budgets.

8.5  A collaboration agreement is being developed between the three local 
authorities to formalise arrangements, including financial implications and 
governance of the project.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

  Approves entering into a regional collaboration with RCTCBC and MTCBC 
for the creation of a Cwm Taf Morgannwg Regional Front Door for Fostering 
Recruitment which will align fostering recruitment across Bridgend, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil. 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing in 
consultation with the Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and 
Change, and Chief Officer- Legal, HR and Regulatory Services, to agree and 
approve the terms of the regional collaboration agreement and pooled fund 
agreement and to arrange execution of the regional collaboration agreement 
and pooled fund agreement on behalf of the Council.

  Delegate authority to the Head of Children’s Social Care to represent and 
make decisions for Bridgend County Borough Council on the Strategic Board 

Page 135



  Delegate authority to the Group Manager, Placements and Provider Services 
and Team Manager, Bridgend Fostering to represent and make decisions for 
Bridgend County Borough Council on the Operational Board

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director, Social Services and Wellbeing
February 2021

Contact Officer: Laura Kinsey
Head of Children’s Social Care

E Mail: Laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk 
Telephone: 01656 642314
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend

Background documents:
Business case for a Cwm Taf Morgannwg Collaborative project: Developing a 
regional service to meet the recruitment, marketing, response to enquiries and 
assessment of foster carers functions of the Local Authority Fostering Services.

Page 136

mailto:Laura.kinsey@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

CARE AND SUPPORT AT HM PRISON & YOUTH OFFENDERS’ INSTITUTION PARC

1. Purpose of report

1.1 To seek authority to waive the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPRS) in 
accordance with CPR 3.2.3 in respect of the provision of a Care and Support Service 
at HM Prison and Youth Offenders’ Institution Parc (HMP & YOI Parc).

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

 Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In July 2016 a report to Cabinet informed that due to Part 11 of the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act coming into effect in April 2016, the Council’s 
responsibilities for people in prison had changed. From April 2016 local authorities 
have been responsible for addressing and meeting the care and support needs of all 
adults and young people in the secure estate not just upon discharge but while they 
are in custody. This was a significant change and additional responsibility for the  
Council as the Act applies equally to those in the secure estate as for those individuals 
in the community and therefore the Council is responsible for meeting the care and 
support needs of individuals with eligible needs. Since April 2016, social care 
assessment, care and support costs and equipment has been the responsibility of the 
Council.

3.2 The July 2016 Cabinet report sought approval to enter into a pilot arrangement with 
G4S Health Services (UK) Limited, and sought authorisation to waive the Council’s 
Contract Procedure Rules under 3.2.3 from the requirement to seek competitive 
tenders for the provision of care and support within HMP & YOI Parc on the basis that 

Page 137

Agenda Item 13



there was technically only one potential provider of the care and support services for 
the reasons set out in that report.  This was approved and a pilot arrangement/contract 
was entered into with G4S Health Services (UK) Limited for the provision of a care and 
support service from 1st April 2016. HMP & YOI Parc is operated by G4S Care and 
Justice Services (UK) Limited and provide the care and support service through G4S 
Health Services (UK) Limited, who are registered with the Care Inspectorate Wales, to 
provide a domiciliary support service at HMP & YOI Parc.

3.3 The Council’s Secure Estate Social Work Team, created as a result of the Council’s 
responsibilities to HMP & YOI Parc, provides assessment to individuals referred to the 
team and, where the individual is eligible, the Social Worker will arrange care and 
support to be provided in accordance with their developed care and support plan.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The pilot arrangement entered into has been successful, but contract entered into from 
1st April 2016 with G4S Health Services (UK) Ltd has now ended with no further 
extension provision. Therefore, officers are seeking approval to enter a new contract 
with G4S Health Services (UK) Ltd from 1st April 2021 for a period of 2 years with the 
option to extend up to 2 years,

4.2 The Council’s Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) 3.2.3 provides that a waiver from 
obtaining quotations or tendering in respect of any new contract can apply where:

“The works/goods/services can be provided only by a particular Tenderer. Singe tender 
procedure shall only be permitted when a single firm or Contractor or a proprietary item 
or service of a special character is required and justified and is due to the needs of the 
service.”

4.2 It is considered that G4S Health Services (UK) Limited is the only potential provider as 
it is considered competition is absent for technical reasons as there is no reasonable 
alternative for the provision of the care and support service at HMP & YOI Parc.

4.3 In relation to the delivery of care and support within HMP & YOI Parc, there is a 
requirement for any provider to deliver a reliable, sustainable and continuous service 
at all times in line with the individual needs of the person. The provider must be able 
to respond to all personal care and support calls and meet all needs within the 
individual’s care and support plan and the provider’s personal plan for the individual. 
G4S currently provide such care and support within the prison. It would be extremely 
difficult for an outside agency to provide a care and support service, for the following 
reasons:

(i) Due to the nature of the prison being an environment of a locked secure premises, 
outside agencies would need to go through enhanced security clearance 
processes in order to attend to individuals requiring social care and support. G4S 
have advised that the application process for security clearance may take up to 
sixteen weeks to complete for any external social care worker.  In addition, 
external workers are required, by G4S, to complete four days of non-operational 
training that includes security, personal protection and safeguarding in the prison 
environment.

Page 138



(ii) As social and personal care will need to be provided twenty four hours a day, 
seven days a week, more than one social care worker would be required to 
deliver a service and therefore a number of social care workers would need to 
go through security clearance processes in order to provide care and support in 
the prison. The time taken to clear outside workers would present a risk in terms 
of continuity planning if a social care worker left the organisation or had 
unplanned absence as any replacement worker would need to go through the 
security clearance process. This would present a risk to individuals within the 
prison if there were not enough social care workers with clearance.

(iii) In addition to the above security approval, visits to gain access to the prison, from 
external agency workers, would take approximately 50 minutes from the prison 
car park to delivering care and support, as an access security check, that includes 
identification and physical checks are undertaken, and also on exiting the prison 
the same timeframe, and checks, apply. This process would significantly impair 
the ability of a provider to deliver a timely and flexible response to individuals 
within the prison, and could present significant risks to those requiring time 
sensitive calls. It would also present a significant risk to an outside agency of not 
being able to meet its requirements in regards to ‘missed calls’ as there would be 
a number of outside influences that could prevent an agency from attending to a 
service user on time, as missed calls by domiciliary care agencies have to be 
notified to the Council, and where a missed call has caused significant harm to 
an individual, the provider must notify the Care Inspectorate Wales and the 
Council’s Safeguarding Team. There is a requirement for social care workers to 
deliver personal care and support to individuals in a flexible and timely manner, 
in line with their assessed needs. Some tasks, such as medication management 
or toileting are extremely time sensitive.

(iv) Certain situations, within the environment, require the prison to ‘lock down’. When 
this occurs visitors are not able to enter or leave the prison, which would further 
increase the risk that an external provider agency would miss a call and be unable 
to deliver planned care in line with the individual’s personal plan. It would also 
present a risk of missed calls to any other individuals that that social care worker 
would be scheduled to support outside the prison if they were unable to leave.

4.4 It is therefore proposed that the Council waives the requirement to obtain quotations 
or tender under Contract Procedure Rule 3.2.3, and enter into a contract with G4S 
Health Services Limited for the provision of care and support at HMP & YOI Parc.

4.5 Subject to Cabinet approval, it is intended that the Council enter into an agreement 
with G4S Health Services Ltd for the provision of a Care and Support Service at HMP 
& YOI Parc from 1st April 2021 for a period of 2 years with the option to extend up to 2 
years, at an approximate cost of £420k over a 4 year period based on a projection of 
provision to date, during the current financial year.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report is requesting a waiver of the Council’s CPRs. There is no impact on the 
policy framework and procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

Page 139



6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has been undertaken. It was found that a full 
EIA is not required as there would be no changes to the level of service received by 
individuals supported should the waiver of CPRs with authority to enter into a contract 
with G4S Health Services (UK) Ltd be approved.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 Approval to enter into a contract with G4S Health Services (UK) Ltd supports the five 
ways of working under the Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015, as 
follows:

Long Term – will enable the continuity of the service and staff to individuals in receipt 
of the service.
Prevention – the service supports people to continue to live as independently within the 
environment as they are able to and maintain their relationships with staff who currently 
deliver the service.
Integration – the service provider will continue to work with individuals to enable 
continuation of support in their environment.
Collaboration – the service will continue to collaborate with individuals.
Involvement – the service supports individuals to be involved in the delivery of their 
care and support.

8. Financial implications

8.1 The anticipated cost of the contract over a 4 year period is estimated to be £420k for the 
proposed contract term of two years with an option to extend for a further period of up 
to 2 years. This sum is projected based on provision during the current financial year of 
the number of individuals receiving a service and the hours provided. There is a current 
core budget available for this service.

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approves a waiver of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules under Rule 3.2.3 from the 
relevant parts of the Contract Procedure Rules for the procurement of the  provision of 
care and support within HMP and YOI Parc on the basis that there is technically only 
one organisation which can deliver this service.

 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing, to approve 
the final terms of the contract with G4S Health Services (UK) Ltd on behalf of the Council 
and to arrange execution of the contract on behalf of the Council, subject to such 
delegated authority being exercised in consultation with the Chief Officer - Legal, HR 
and Regulatory Services and Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change.

Claire Marchant
Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing
February 2021

Contact officer: Carmel Donovan 
Integrated Community Services Manager (Bridgend)

Page 140



Telephone: (01656) 642236

Email: Carmel.Donovan@bridgend.gov.uk 

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 141

mailto:Carmel.Donovan@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER- FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

NON DOMESTIC RATES: DISCRETIONARY RELIEF: ENHANCED 
HOSPITALITY AND LEISURE RATES RELIEF SCHEME 2020-21. 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of the report is for Cabinet to adopt the Welsh Government’s 
Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates Relief Scheme for 2020-21.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities 

2.1      This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 
the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough.

 The scheme aims to help businesses to reduce their business rates 
charges for the period 01/04/21 – 31/03/22 in order to support continued 
occupation of High Street and retail premises.  

3. Background

3.1   The Welsh Government recently announced on 24 February 2021 that an 
Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates Relief Scheme will be available for 
the current financial year, 2020-21, to support eligible occupied businesses 
within the hospitality and leisure sector in Wales with a rateable value over 
£500,000. The Scheme sets out the various categories of hospitality and 
leisure premises that will benefit from relief. These are detailed in Appendix 
A of the report, but broadly the premises included are those that have a 
rateable value of over £500,000, are occupied, and are hotels, holiday parks 
and stadia across Wales.

3.2    The Scheme will be administered by the Council as a ‘reimbursing local 
authority’ that uses discretionary relief powers (under section 47 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988).  It will be for individual local billing 
authorities to decide to grant relief under section 47 but Welsh Government 
will reimburse local authorities for the relief that is provided.  

Page 143

Agenda Item 14



3.3   The Welsh Government will provide 100% rates relief for eligible properties 
for the year 2020-21. 

3.4     It is estimated that there is only one eligible property in the borough that could 
potentially benefit from reduced rates bills under this Scheme which will now 
benefit from having any actual rates paid for 2020-21 reimbursed to them. 

4.        Current situation/proposal

4.1    The Council can elect to adopt the Scheme but does not have discretion over 
any elements of the Scheme. It is proposed that the Council adopts the 
Scheme for 2020-21 by making the appropriate determination and decision, 
as required by Sections 47(1) (a) and 47(3) respectively of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1988.  

4.2     Full details of the Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates Relief Scheme for 
2020-21 and the guidance on the application of the Scheme have been 
received from Welsh Government. If the Scheme is adopted, the eligible 
business will be written to and upon receipt of the information requested by 
Welsh Government, the decision to award relief be made by the Revenues 
Manager providing all terms of the Scheme are met.  

4.3 The Chief Executive has delegated power to award relief to all qualifying 
businesses in accordance with the Non-domestic Rates Relief Scheme that 
may be eligible following receipt of the information requested by Welsh 
Government.

5        Effect upon policy framework and procedures rules

5.1    There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure 
rules.

           
6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial assessment has identified that there are no equality implications 
arising from this report.  

6.2 Once adopted, the Council is obliged to comply with the Welsh 
Government’s rules in applying the Scheme. These are detailed in Appendix 
A.

7.         Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation 
of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of 
this report. 

8. Financial implications

Page 144



8.1 There are no direct financial implications to the Council in adopting the 
scheme. The full value of the Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates Relief 
awarded will be reimbursed by the Welsh Government.

9.   Recommendation

It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1 Adopt the Non Domestic Rates Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates 
Relief Scheme for 2020-21 as detailed within Appendix A;

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and Section 151 
Officer
1 March 2021

Contact Officer: Helen Rodgers 
                                Revenues Manager                                 
                    
Telephone: 01656 643194

Email:                     Helen.Rodgers@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address:    Ravens Court
                               Brewery Lane
                               Bridgend 
                               CF31 4AP 

Background documents: 

Non-domestic Rates Enhanced Hospitality and Leisure Rates Relief Scheme for 
2020-2021 in Wales Guidance

Page 145

mailto:Helen.Rodgers@bridgend.gov.uk


APPENDIX A

Resolution

(a) The Council determines that, unless hereditaments are excepted under (b) below, 
Section 47(1)(a) (discretionary relief) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 will apply as 
regards the hereditaments described in ‘The Scheme’ in accordance with the rules described 
in relation to those hereditaments.

It is reasonable for the Council to make this decision having regard to the interests of persons 
liable to pay business rates set by the Council.

(b)  Relief is not available under this resolution in respect of any hereditament which is 
occupied by -
- the Welsh Ministers, a Minister of the Crown or government department,
- any public authority (including any local authority),
- the holder of any public office, or
- the Crown

(c) The Council decides, under Section 47(3) of the Local Government Finance Act 1988, 
that during the billing year 2020-21 ‘The Scheme’ shall apply to the hereditaments 
described.. 

The Scheme to be Adopted

Introduction

This support is aimed at businesses in Wales in the hospitality, leisure and tourism sectors 
operating from properties with a rateable value over £500,000. 

The Welsh Government will provide grant funding to the relevant local authorities in Wales to 
provide the support to eligible ratepayers for 2020-21. The scheme aims to provide support 
for eligible occupied properties by offering a grant equal to a discount of 100% on the non-
domestic rates bill for a property, subject to conditions. The scheme will apply to all eligible 
ratepayers with a rateable value of more than £500,000. 

Properties that will benefit from this support will be occupied hospitality, leisure and tourism 
properties that have a rateable value of over £500,000 – such as hotels, holiday parks and 
stadia across Wales 
 
Grant support should be provided to each eligible business as a reduction to its rates bill 
based on occupation between 1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021. 

For the avoidance of doubt, hereditaments which closed temporarily due to the government’s 
advice on Covid-19 should be treated as occupied for the purposes of this support.

As the support is discretionary, local authorities may choose not to provide the support if they 
consider it appropriate, for example where providing the support would go against the local 
authority’s wider objectives for the local area.

Page 146



 
The list set out above is not intended to be exhaustive as it would be impossible to list all the 
many and varied high street retail uses that exist. There will also be mixed uses. However, it 
is intended to be a guide as to the types of uses that the Welsh Government considers 
should qualify for the High Street Rate Relief Scheme. Determinations will be required as to 
whether particular properties not listed are broadly similar in nature to those above and, if so, 
to consider them eligible for the relief. Conversely, properties that are not broadly similar in 
nature to those listed above should not be eligible for the relief. 

As the grant of the relief is discretionary, local authorities may choose not to grant the relief if 
they consider that to be appropriate, however it is highly unlikely that the Council would not 
wish an eligible business to benefit from the reduction in rates that the scheme affords.

The total amount of government funded support available for each property will be 100% of 
the non-domestic rates liability for the 2020-21 financial year subject to two criteria being met.

 Ratepayers can demonstrate that there has been a material negative impact on their 
business between 1 April 2020 and 31 December 2020.

 The level of support, equal to 100% of the non-domestic rates liability, should not 
exceed operating costs over the same period (1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020). If the level 
of support exceeds operating costs the amount of support will be equal to the value of the 
operating costs.

To ascertain whether the criteria have been met, applicants should provide the following 
information to local authorities: 

 Annual turnover information. This should include income from sales as well as revenue 
from public sources (eg Grants, Economic Resilience Fund, or special rental 
arrangements). The application should also include a declaration that turnover has been 
negatively impacted by 40% or more as a result of coronavirus restrictions. 

 Operating costs (minus staff) between 1 April 2020 and 31 December 2021. 
 Details of their business’ current headcount and also planned headcount at October 2021. 

This should be based on the number of full-time equivalent (FTE) staff. 
 Declarations confirming whether the applicant has received other funding from the Welsh 

Government, and where appropriate can be checked against any Economic Resilience 
Fund application in terms of existing job safeguard conditions already in place. 

 A declaration stating whether the applicant has an Economic Contract in place with the 
Welsh Government. For those that do not, the Welsh Government will work with them to 
put one in place within a 4 week period of relief being awarded. 

State Aid 

Following the end of the transition period for the United Kingdom leaving the European Union 
on 31 December 2020, EU State Aid regulations only apply in limited circumstances. As the 
grant support is not funded by EU residual funds, EU State Aid regulations no longer apply for 
this scheme. As of 1 January 2021, the UK Subsidy Regime came into force, the scheme has 
been viewed to be outside the scope of any international trade agreements as measures are 
focused locally within Wales. 

Page 147



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET 

9 MARCH 2021

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER – LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES 

LOCAL LAND CHARGES NATIONAL PROGRAMME

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to apprise Cabinet of the Local Land Charges National 
Programme and to seek authority to enter into a Collaborative Agreement with HM Land 
Registry.  

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objective under 
the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-

Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, ecological, 
human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support 
the creation of resources throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s 
well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 Every local authority is required to hold a local land charges register that records 
obligations affecting properties within their administrative area. 

3.2 In 2015, HM Land Registry (HMLR) was given the authority under the Infrastructure Act 
2015 to create a single, national, digital register of Local Land Charges (LLC) across 
England and Wales.  It is the Government’s ambition that the national register becomes a 
trusted and guaranteed source of LLC information, containing all local authority records in 
England and Wales by 2025.  This is a historic step forward in the ambition to make the 
home-buying process simpler, faster and cheaper.  HMLR is working in partnership with 
local authorities to standardise and migrate local land charges register information to one 
accessible place.  

3.3 Anyone will be able to access the national register 24/7.  Each search result will provide 
details of entries on the local land charges register relating to the land or property 
concerned.  Local authorities will continue to provide replies to CON29 enquiries, such as 
nearby road schemes or outstanding notices, which may affect a purchaser’s decision on 
whether or not to proceed.  Once the Authority’s local land charges data has been migrated 
to HMLR members of the public will no longer be able to get a local land charges search 
from the Authority.  

3.4 The benefits of the register will be as follows:

 Guaranteed search results that provide the highest level of due diligence
 The full spatial extent of every charge appears on the search result
 Standard £15 fee for each search
 Consistent quality of data which provides clear and accurate search results
 Instant online search results with 24/7 access to the data, reducing delays in receiving 

search results

Page 149

Agenda Item 15



 Unlimited repeat searches for six months to check for any new charges before completing a 
transaction

 Search history dashboard giving access to previous searches at any time.  

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) has been scheduled to migrate its LLC records 
in 2022/23.  A delivery plan is being implemented by HMLR in order to ensure a smooth 
transition and certainty about timelines for the Authority and local residents.  By entering 
into a Collaborative Agreement and formalising the delivery plan now HMLR can finalise 
preparatory work that reflects the Authority’s needs, capability and readiness to migrate. 
The Authority will also be given a support package selected according to its needs.   

4.2 The geospatial data set eventually created by HMLR will bring the following benefits to the 
Authority: 

  
 data that can be shared across different departments to help deliver services more 

effectively and transparently;  
 spatial data which can be overlaid with other mapping systems to provide a holistic picture 

of the Authority’s assets, locally maintained areas and features; and    
 free access to spatial data which will allow staff to self-serve when answering queries, 

reducing the number of requests for information between departments.  

4.3 HMLR will offer 4 different models to the Authority as part of the pre-migration.  As the 
Authority does not have internal capacity to deliver HMLR needs it is proposed that the 
Authority proceed with either the HMLR Supplier or HMLR Delivered model to ensure that it 
has full support to undertake the migration.  

HMLR Supplier
 A single end to end supplier works closely with LA to compile digital dataset

 The supplier manages the migration with HMLR support and supervision
 Moderate HMLR Delivery Manager resource required

HMLR Delivered
  HMLR works closely with LA to compile digital dataset
  HMLR managed migration
  Full HMLR Delivery Manager resource required

LA Delivered
 LA self-manages delivery and compiles digital dataset
  HMLR provides support and tools
  LA has dedicated LA Advocate/Mentor 
 Minimal HMLR Delivery Manager resource required
  

LA Self-Serve 
  LA self-manages delivery and compiles digital dataset

HMLR provides support, tools and suppliers as required 
  Occasional HMLR Delivery Manager resource required

4.4 A working group will now be established within the Authority comprising of officers from 
Land Charges, Legal, Finance, ICT and Planning to lead the migration and ensure that the 
Authority fulfils its responsibilities to agreed timescales and feeds back to all stakeholders 
including HMLR.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework.  

Page 150



6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 The report does not give rise to concerns on equality grounds and does not impact sections 
of society differentially.  

6.2 An assisted digital process will be available for anyone who cannot access the HMLR 
GOV.UK Service.  Essentially customers will contact their LLC Processing Team and they 
will undertake the search on their behalf.  As the Authority moves towards Go-Live, all 
relevant customers will be informed of the change.  At this point targeted solutions will be 
implemented for any customers who might be digitally excluded.  

7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this report.  
It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals /objectives as a result of this report.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 The cost of migrating to the central register is fully funded by HMLR and resources are free 
to all local authorities throughout the migration. Additional financial incumbrance is also fully 
funded with a new LLC burden issued within 3 months of the migration taking place.  

9. Recommendation

It is recommended that Cabinet:

9.1 Delegate authority to the Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services to agree the 
terms of the Collaborative Agreement with HMLR and any ancillary agreements and to 
arrange execution of such agreements on behalf of the Council;

9.2 Note that further reports will be presented to Cabinet on the LLC National Programme.  

Kelly Watson, Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services 
March 2021

Contact Officer: Laura Griffiths, 
Group Manager Legal and Democratic Services 

Telephone: (01656) 643135

E-mail: laura.griffiths@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 151



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 153

Agenda Item 18
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Rhaglen Effeithlonrwydd Ynni Domestig, Ward Caerau 2012 a 2013
	5 Cam 1 Prosiect Rhwydwaith Gwres Tref Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr
	12a Appendix 1 SPV Annual Costs

	6 Cyllid Cyrchfan Deniadol Twristiaeth Cornel Clyd
	7 Penodi Llywodraethwyr yr Awdurdod Lleol
	8 Polisi Derbyn Ysgolion 2022-2023
	Cabinet Appendix A - School Admissions Policy 2022-2023 090321 v1.0

	9 Gwasanaethau Cartrefi Gofal - Cyllid a Threfniadau Cytundebol
	10 Cytundeb Partneriaeth Gwasanaeth Mabwysiadu Cenedlaethol
	11 Trefniant Partneriaeth ar gyfer Hyfforddiant Dementia
	12 Drws Blaen Rhanbarthol ar gyfer Maethu Recriwtio - Gofal Cymdeithasol Plant
	13 Gofal a Chefnogaeth ym Mharc Sefydliad Troseddwyr Carchar a Phobl Ifanc EM
	14 Cyfraddau Annomestig: Rhyddhad Dewisol: Cynllun Lleddfu Ardrethi Lletygarwch a Hamdden Gwell 2020-21
	15 Rhaglen Genedlaethol Taliadau Tir Lleol
	18 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion wedi’u Eithrio

